Neath Port Talbot AGENDA

S==— (astell-nedd Port Talbot

County Borough Council Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol

REGENERATION AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT CABINET
BOARD

IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING CABINET SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
FRIDAY 6 SEPTEMBER, 2019

COMMITTEE ROOMS A/B - NEATH CIVIC CENTRE

PART 1

1.  Appointment of Chairperson

2. Declarations of Interest

3. Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 3 - 6)

4.  Forward Work Programme 2019/2020 (Pages 7 - 8)

5.  Key Performance Indicators 2019/2020 - Quarter 1 (1st April 2019 -
30th June 2019) (Pages 9 - 20)
Joint Report of the Head of Planning and Public Protection,
The Head of Property and Regeneration and The Head of Adult
Services

6. Countryside and Rights of Way (CROW) Act 2000 — Consideration
of: the Consultation Draft Rights of Way Improvement Plan
(ROWIP); and the publication / consultation procedures to be
implemented (Pages 21 - 88)

Report of the Head of Planning and Public Protection

7. Environmental Health and Trading Standards: Food and Feed
Service Delivery Plan 2019-2020 and the Food and Feed Law
Enforcement Review 2018-2019 (Pages 89 - 170)

Report of the Head of Planning and Public Protection




8.  Alleged Public Footpath from Parkfield to the adopted footpath
linking Dulais Fach to Park Street, Community of Tonna (Pages
171 -198)
Report of the Head of Legal Services

9.  Alleged Pubic Bridleway from Dan-Y - Bont ( Pontrhydyfen) to
Main Road ( Efail Fach ) Communities of Pelenna and Cwmavon
(Pages 199 - 228)

Report of the Head of Legal Services

10. Urgent Iltems
Any urgent items (whether public or exempt) at the discretion of the
Chairman pursuant to Statutory Instrument 2001 No 2290 (as
amended).

11. Access to Meetings
To resolve to exclude the public for the following items pursuant to
Regulation 4(3) and (5) of Statutory Instrument 2001 No. 2290 and
the relevant exempt paragraphs of Part 4 of Schedule 12A to the
Local Government Act 1972.

PART 2
12. Proposed Disposal of Land (Pages 229 - 242)
Private Report of the Head of Property & Regeneration

S.Phillips
Chief Executive

Civic Centre
Port Talbot 29 August, 2019

Regeneration and Sustainable Development Cabinet Board
Members:

Councillors. L.Jones and A.Wingrave



Agenda Iltem 3

-5-

EXECUTIVE DECISION RECORD
12 JULY, 2019

REGENERATION AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT CABINET
BOARD

Cabinet Members:

Councillors:  L.Jones (Chair) and A.Wingrave

Officers in Attendance:

N.Pearce, S.Brennan, C.Morris and N.Headon

1. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRPERSON

Agreed that Councillor L.Jones be appointed Chairperson for the
meeting.

2. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

Decision:

That the Minutes of the 7 June, 2019, be approved.

3. QUARTER 4 PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Decision:

That the above monitoring report be noted.

4. FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 2019/20

Decision:
That the Forward Work Programme for 2019/20 be noted.

120719 Page 3



ACCESS TO MEETINGS

RESOLVED: That pursuant to Regulation 4(3) and (5) of Statutory
Instrument 2001 No. 2290, the public be excluded for
the following items of business which involved the
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in
Paragraph 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A to the Local
Government Act 1972.

URGENT ITEMS

Because of the need to deal now with the matters contained in Minute
Nos. 7 and 8 below, the Chairperson agreed that these could be raised
at today’ s meeting as urgent items pursuant to Statutory Instrument No.
2290 (as amended).

Reason for Urgency:

Due to the time element.

CYMMER SPORTS HALL, CYMMER, PORT TALBOT

Decision:

That the grant of the lease and Service Level Agreement in relation to
Cymmer Sports Hall, Cymmer, as detailed in the terms set out in the
private circulated report, be approved.

Reason for Decision:

The lease and Service Level Agreement will allow the premises to be
used as a Sports Hall for the benefit of the local community.

Implementation of Decision:

The decision will be implemented after the three day call in period.

120719 Page 4



-7 -

LEASE OF HARBOUR COURT, PORT TALBOT

Decision:

That the grant of lease in relation to Harbour Court, Port Talbot, as
detailed in the terms set out in the private circulated report, be approved.

Reason for Decision:

The proposal will enable this refurbished and extended building to be
leased to the Company providing an annual income to the Authority.

Implementation of Decision:

The decision will be implemented after the three day call in period.

CHAIRPERSON

120719 Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



) abed

REGENERATION AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT CABINET BOARD

2019/2020 FORWARD WORK PLAN (DRAFT)

DATE
Rotation Community Contact
T Tocic) | Safety Sub | Officer/Head
(Degizfon ( Azﬁf; > | Committee of Service
Agenda Items . . ’ Before?
Monitoring or | Biannual,
Information) Quarterly
Monthly) Yes/No
18 October |Local Development Plan 2 Process - Agree AMR 2019 Decision Annual Ceri Morris /
2019 Lana Beynon
Energy Performance Report Decision Topical Gareth Nutt/
Chris Jones
Minimum Unit Pricing of Alcohol Information | Topical Nicola Pearce/
Lucas
Williams
DATE
Rotati Community |Contact
owalion | gafety Sub | Officer/Head
-(rgg:ision (A-r:r?l':;?l’ Committee |of Service
Agenda ltems PN . ’ Before?
Monitoring or Biannual,
Information) Quarterly
Monthly) Yes/No
29 November Decision Topical Nicola Pearce
2019 Biodiversity Duty Plan / Ceri Morris
28/08/2019 — Version #5 Officer Responsible: Nicola Headon

7 Wwal| epuaby



g abed

REGENERATION AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT CABINET BOARD

DATE
Rotation Going to Sub | Contact
T Tobical Committee |Officer/Head
g pe fAOP'c? ’ Before? of Service
Agenda ltems ( ecision, nnual, Yes/No
Monitoring or Biannual,
Information) Quarterly
Monthly)
10 January |Local Development Plan 2 - Review Report Consultation Draft Decision Annual Ceri Morris /
2020 Lana Beynon
Consultative Draft - VAWDASYV Strategy 2020/2023 Decision Topical Karen Jones
CCTV - final Business Case Decision Topical Karen Jones

LDP 2 - Agree Final Delivery Agreement (Ceri Morris/Lana Beynon) — July 2020
Property Performance Report 2018 (Date TBC to go back later in the year — Re: Dave Phillips)
Rhondda Tunnel (NP & SB)

2018/19 Quarterly Performance Monitoring

Various Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPGs) (pre and post consultation)

Commissioning Strategy for Substance Misuse

To be programmed in:

[ J

[ J

[ J

o Budget Only Meetings

o Business Plans (if needed)
[ J

[ J

[ J

[ J

Public Space Protection Order

28/08/2019 — Version #5

Officer Responsible: Nicola Headon




Agenda Iltem 5

u Cyngor Castell-nedd Port Talbot

~ Neath Port Talbot Council
-

NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
Regeneration and Sustainable Development Cabinet Board
6 September 2019

Joint Report of
The Head of Planning and Public Protection — N Pearce
The Head of Property and Regeneration — S Brennan
The Head of Adult Services — A Thomas

Matter for Monitoring

Wards Affected: All Wards

Report Title: Key Performance Indicators 2019/2020 — Quarter 1
(15t April 2019 — 30t June 2019)

Purpose of the Report:

To report quarter 1 performance management data for the period 1
April 2019 to 30 June 2019 for Regeneration and Sustainable
Development Cabinet Board. This will enable the Regeneration and
Sustainable Development Cabinet Board and Scrutiny Members to
discharge their functions in relation to performance management.
Executive Summary:

A list of quarter 1 Corporate Plan KPI's with progress comments on

each indicator are attached as appendix 1, these do not include those
KPI's collected on an annual basis, these will be reported in quarter

Page 9



4. The full suite of Corporate Plan KPI’s can be found in the
Corporate Plan 2018-2022.

KPI’s that have improved on or achieved target are GREEN status,
KPI's that have not achieved target but performance is within 5% are
AMBER status and KPI’s that are 5% or more below target are RED
status.

Where available, performance indicators report quarter 1 target and 3
years of quarter 1 data for comparison.

Appendix 2 provides quarter 1 information for Compliments and
Complaints data, collected in line with the Council’s Comments,
Compliments & Complaints Policy for Cabinet and relevant Cabinet
Board purviews.

Appendices 1 and 2 are new reports from the Corporate Performance
Management System (CPMS), which went live in August 2018.

Background:
Not applicable.
Financial Impact:

The performance described in the report is being delivered against a
challenging financial backdrop.

Integrated Impact Assessment:

There is no requirement to undertake an Integrated Impact
Assessment as this report is for monitoring / information purposes.

Valleys Communities Impacts:

No implications.

Page 10


https://www.npt.gov.uk/media/9325/corporate-plan-2018-22-eng.pdf
https://www.npt.gov.uk/1454
https://www.npt.gov.uk/1454

Workforce Impacts

During 2018/19 the Environment Directorate saw a further downsizing
of its workforce (by 4 employees) as it sought to deliver savings of
£713K in the year.

Legal Impacts:

This report is prepared under:

1) The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 and discharges the
Council’s duties to “make arrangements to secure continuous
improvement in the exercise of its functions”

2) Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

3) The Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council Constitution
requires each cabinet committee to monitor quarterly budgets and
performance in securing continuous improvement of all the
functions within its purview.

Risk Management Impacts:

Failure to produce a compliant report within the timescales can lead
to non-compliance with our Constitution. Also, failure to have robust
performance monitoring arrangements could result in poor
performance going undetected.

Consultation

Page 11



There is no requirement under the Constitution for external
consultation on this item.

Appendices:

Appendix 1 — Key Performance Indicators 2019/2020 — Quarter 1
Performance (1 April 2019 — 30 June 2019)

Appendix 2 — Compliments and Complaints information — Quarter 1
2019/2020.

Officer Contact:

Joy Smith, Road Safety and Business Performance Manager.
Telephone: 01639 686581. E-Mail: [.smith@npt.gov.uk

Page 12


mailto:j.smith@npt.gov.uk

Cyngor Castell-nedd Port Talbot

*u// Neath Port Talbot Council

-

-
QO

Performance Indicators
CJIL\)leath Port Talbot Council

Appendix 1 - Regeneration and Sustainable Development Cabinet Board - Key Performance Indicators -

Quarter 1-2019/20

”N
sycle

Print Date: 22-Aug-2019



Neath Port Talbot Council Date From: 01-Apr-2019 Date To: 30-Jun-2019

How will we know we are making a difference (01/04/2019 to 30/06/2019)?
Pl Title Actual Actual Actual Target Perf. RAG

17/18 18/19 19/20 19/20

Organisation
CP/021 - Number of new business start-up enquiries assisted 49.00 70.00 88.00 87.00 00

Green

There continues to be a steady flow of requests for business start-up information, advice and support. The team are therefore on track to achieve the targets set for this financial year.

CP/032 - PAM/015 - Average calendar days taken to deliver a Disabled Facilities Grant 213.97 259.88 165.71 230.00 000

Green

(9,611 Days/58 DFG's)1st Quarter results are within the target. This can be attributed in part to a reduction in the waiting times for clients being assessed and the waiting times to make
an application for the Grant being reduced. It can also be partly attributed to the nature of the works completed this quarter. It is expected that the figure will increase over the
remaining periods as a result of the variation in demand. All Wales data for 2018/19 (full year) is 207 days. Neath Port Talbot Council ranked 15th across Wales

CP/042 - PAM/023 - Percentage of food establishments that meet food hygiene standards 94.98 95.09 93.41 95.00 000
U Amber
%378 out of 1,047 food establishments were broadly compliant with food hygiene standards. Performance is close to target.
Il Wales data for 2018/19 (full year) is 95.7%. Neath Port Talbot Council ranked 18th across Wales.
'.DSP/063 - The number of jobs created/safeguarded as a result of financial support by the local authority 6.00 57.00 32.00 71.00 o0®
Red

Funding applications are progressing well. However, as outputs are not recorded until projects are completed, figures can appear to be low. Based on the number of application received
to date, it is anticipated that this activity will meet the targets set for the year.

CP/077 - Number of biodiversity rich areas protected and/or enhanced 46.00 43.00 43.00 49.00 o0®

Red

The figure is based on the current list of nature conservation sites, which includes Local Nature Reserves, 'Working with Nature' sites and areas that have previously been managed as
part of the conservation verge/area scheme.

Following a review of the list of sites, a number of sites have been removed, hence there has been a reduction from the 2017/18 figure and the 2018/19 target missed.

Reported quarterly with effect from 2018/2019.

CP/078 - Number of PM10 breaches in the Air Quality Management Area (Port Talbot / Taibach) 0.00 3.00 9.00 [ YOO

Green

There have been 3 exceedence days between April-June 2019.
This is for measurements made at Port Talbot Fire Station, which is the official site for measuring compliance with air quality objectives.
Data reported quarterly from 2018/19.

Page 2 of 6




Neath Port Talbot Council Date From: 01-Apr-2019 Date To: 30-Jun-2019

Pl Title Actual Actual Target Perf. RAG
18/19 19/20 19/20

CP/110 - Workways + - Number of people helped back to work, training or volunteering

Green

Target surpassed for this quarter for supporting individuals into work, training or volunteering. A number of participants will have achieved more than one outcome in their progression
to overcome barriers and return to work but will have only been counted once.
Data reported quarterly from 2018/19.

CP/113- PAM/018 - Percentage of all planning applications determined in time 96.92 96.92 96.35 95.00| CERI®

Green

Officers are working with applicants and agents to ensure that applications are determined as far as possible within statutory guidelines. Performance is currently ahead of target.
All Wales data for 2018/19 (full year) is 88%. Neath Port Talbot Council ranked 4th across Wales.

P1/280 - PAM/019 - Percentage of planning appeals dismissed 85.71 0.00 63.00 ()

.
©

Red

To date only one appeal decision has been received, which was allowed. Accordingly there are currently too few results to make a meaningful analysis of performance.
__AII Wales data for 2018/19 (full year) is 67.6%. Neath Port Talbot Council ranked 15th across Wales

\J

@B1/366 - PLA/M002 - Average time taken from receipt of application to date decision is issued - days 104.10 50.21 90.00 @00
«
(

ol

Green

(Fxcellent progress has been made on average time from receipt to determination, both due to a focus on speed of determination and a stronger stance on invalid applications. This
result also benefits from a reduced number of 'older' applications being determined (albeit a number of such applications remain outstanding which will skew future performance)

PI/367 - PPN/001ii - Percentage of high risk businesses that were liable to a programmed inspection that were 19.39 31.18 25.00
inspected for Food Hygiene
Green
17/7/2019- 111 out of 356 identified high risk premises have been inspected. The service is currently slightly ahead of target.
P1/368 - PPN/001iii - Percentage of high risk businesses that were liable to a programmed inspection that were 28.57 0.00 20.00 40.00 o0®
inspected for Animal Health
Red

22/7//2019 - Based on the risk assessment programme, only one businesses was due an inspection in the first quarter ,which has been carried out. The intention was to bring forward
these inspections earlier in the year to free up resources for other commitments, notably feed inspections. This has not been achieved for the first quarter, but arrangements have
already been made to ensure that the others are brought forward and that all high risk businesses are inspected by the end of the 3rd quarter.

P1/370 - BCT/007 — The percentage of ‘full plan’ applications approved first time. 97.37 97.22 95.00 ([ YOO

Green

35 out of 36 applications were approved first time which is ahead of target.

Page 3 of 6




Neath Port Talbot Council

Pl Title

Actual
17/18

Date From: 01-Apr-2019 Date To: 30-Jun-2019

Actual
18/19

Actual
19/20

Target Perf. RAG
19/20

PI/371 - BCT/004 — Percentage of Building Control ‘“full plan’ applications checked within 15 working days during the 94.74 100.00 96.00 00
year.
Green
36 out of 36 full plan applications were checked within the statutory guidelines, demonstrating the priority given by staff to providing both a quality and an efficient service.
P1/372 - PLA/004d - The percentage of all other planning applications determined during the year within 8 weeks 75.00 91.04 81.00 @00
Green
Excellent performance on 'other' applications continues.
PI/373 - PLA/MO004 - The percentage of major planning applications determined during the year within 8 weeks 20.00 0.00 40.00 O0®
Red

'8 week' performance on major applications remains a concern, but this is primarily because for the majority of major applications in NPT the sites and issues are complex and difficult to
positively resolve inside 8 weeks, which is why we always seek to achieve agreed 'extensions of time' which allow us to resolve issues rather than refuse applications within this target

date.
;3/374 - PLA/004c - The percentage of householder planning applications determined during the year within 8 weeks 98.89 96.34 97.00 000
G% Amber
RWith only three applications out of 82 taking longer than 8 weeks, the performance remains very high.
‘-I3'I/375 - PLA/004b - The percentage of minor planning applications determined during the year within 8 weeks 81.94 79.07 80.00 X YO
Amber
At 79%, performance remains high, if slightly below the high targets we set ourselves.
P1/376 - PLA/002 - The percentage of applications for development determined during the year that were approved 94.71 98.96 95.00 @00
Green

The Authority continues to positively determine the significant majority of planning applications, with officers making
acceptable through negotiation rather than refuse applications.

continued efforts wherever possible to

make development

P1/378 - PPN/001i - Percentage of high risk businesses that were liable to a programmed inspection that were
inspected for Trading Standards

35.00

5.00

20.00

30.00

/\/’\@
Red

inspections are brought forward to ensure all high risk businesses are inspected by the end of the 3rd quarter.

22/7/2019 - Based on the risk assessment programme, all 3 businesses due an inspection in the first quarter were inspected. The intention was to bring forward other inspections to
earlier in the year to free up resources for other commitments. This has not been achieved for the first quarter, but arrangements have already been made to ensure that the other

Page 4 of 6




Neath Port Talbot Council Date From: 01-Apr-2019 Date To: 30-Jun-2019

Pl Title Actual Actual Actual Target Perf. RAG
17/18 18/19 19/20 19/20
PI/380 - PLA/MO001 — Average time taken from receipt of application to validation of application — days. 22.68 8.18 15.00 00
Green

Significant progress continues to be made on reducing the average days to validate from receipt, both due to excellent relationships with agents but also due to a stronger stance on
invalid applications through use of invalid notices.

PI/425 - The percentage of detected breaches in animal health, feed and food standards that have been rectified 28.57 57.89 80.00 oO0®

Red

23/7/2019 - 19 breaches of animal health,feed and food standards were detected and 11 were rectified. The service has been undertaking a number of food sampling exercises, and
have detected breaches that require further investigation and it is anticipated that as these investigations are concluded that this Pl will improve within the next quarter.

PI/426 - Percentage of breaches in consumer fraud investigations successfully concluded 16.67 25.00 O0®

Red

17/7/2019 - The Fraud team within TS have been involved in a large conspiracy investigation which has taken up considerable resources. It is anticipated that this investigation will see
resolution in 20/21, but in the meantime some staff can be released to complete smaller scale investigations.

-ﬂ/427 - Total value of consumer fraud investigations concluded (£) 17628.83
job}
«Q
;a7/7/2019 - The service has seen the resolution of two long running fraud / counterfeiting investigations that has resulted in this figure.
/430 - Percentage of private water supplies where a risk assessment has been carried out in accordance with 0.00 50.00 25.00 900
drinking water standards
Green
23/7/2019 - 2 out of 4 supplies have had risk assessments carried out) in accordance with the Regulations.
P1/456 - Number of enterprise events held 3.00 3.00 YeYe)
NA
P1/457- Number of completed training weeks for apprenticeship, traineeships and work experience 494.00 12.00 0.00 @00
Green

At present, the team is working on one project (Magistrates Court). We are expected further projects to commence in Quarter 3, i.e. the Plaza and Cefn Saeson School. We anticipate
outputs to increase as the year progresses.

P1/458 - Number of visitors to Neath Town Centre 1163044.00 0.00 OO0

NA

Page 5 of 6




Neath Port Talbot Council Date From: 01-Apr-2019 Date To: 30-Jun-2019

Pl Title Actual Actual Target Perf. RAG
18/19 19/20 19/20

PI/459- Bring forward high quality office and light industrial space for inward investment expansion 0.00

Numerous projects at various stages of delivery, but none expected to be delivered in this quarter.

PI/462 - Number of business enquires assisted resulting in advice, information or financial support being given to 150.00 123.00 131.00 160.00 oO0®

existing companies through Business Services
Red

The team have dealt with a variety of requests for support from local businesses, such as availability of property, funding, training support, etc., throughout the first quarter. It is
anticipated that the level of demand for services will increase within the next two quarters that the targets set for the year will be achieved.

PI/464 - Number of tourism operators Supported by the Council 8.00 18.00 0.00 00

Green

A range of enquiries have been received by the Tourism Team ranging from funding enquiries to advice on marketing and developing tourism businesses.

A key contributor to this output is the Margam Park Heritage Experience Sense of Place Event, which was organised by the tourism team and aimed at Tourism operators, 9 tourism
loperators attended the event (along with other voluntary organisations not counted as part of this output).

Ei)f the 18 enquiries were received from new/ proposed business start-ups. 11 of the tourism operators assisted originate in the Valleys areas.

¢

w

| I/465 - Number of Destination Management Plan actions delivered. 7.00 7.00 0.00 00
e

0 Green

Destination Management Plan actions delivered this quarter range from the delivery of two brown signage schemes (Glynneath and Pontardawe), the submission of the Valleys Regional
Park Gateway Site application for Cefn Coed Colliery and organising a series of Sense of Place events aimed at widening the product knowledge of tourism operators in the area.

The Tourism Team has also worked in partnership with the Countryside Team to arrange a walking festival from 1st to 4th August 2019 celebrating the county's canal network.

A destination website has been commissioned and is currently in the development phase, the website is designed to showcase the new Neath Port Talbot place brand to visitors.

Page 6 of 6



Cyngor Castell-nedd Port Talbot

*u// Neath Port Talbot Council

-

-
QO

Performance Indicators
leleath Port Talbot Council

Appendix 2 - Regeneration and Sustainable Development - Compliments and Complaints - Quarter 1 -
2019/20

”N
sycle

Print Date: 22-Aug-2019



Date From: 01-Apr-2019 Date To: 30-Jun-2019

Neath Port Talbot Council

How will we know we are making a difference (01/04/2019 to 30/06/2019)?
Pl Title Actual Actual Actual Target Perf. RAG

17/18 18/19 19/20 19/20

Organisation
P1/268 - Regeneration and Sustainable Development - % of complaints at Stage 1 that were upheld/partially upheld 0.00 0.00

3 Stage 1 complaints were received this quarter, none of which were upheld. 0 complaints were received for the same quarter last year none of which were upheld.

P1/269 - Regeneration and Sustainable Development - % of complaints at Stage 2 that were upheld/partially upheld 0.00 50.00

One Stage 2 complaint was upheld this quarter compared with two stage 2' complaints received for the same quarter last year none of which were upheld. No complains were received
for Q1 18/19.

The upheld complaint received was regarding the late response to an Environmental Health matter. The complainant had requested information on an abandoned property which had
not been actioned. An apology was sent to the complainant and an internal procedure was improved

-E/270 - Regeneration and Sustainable Development - % of complaints dealt with by the Public Services Ombudsman 0.00 0.00
at were upheld/partially upheld

Ay

D
IN3re one Ombudsman investigation received this quarter was not upheld. No Ombudsman's complaints received for Q1 2018/19.

\-PJI/271 - Regeneration and sustainable development - number of compliments received from the public 4.00 1.00 3.00

Three compliments were received for this quarter in comparison to one received for the same quarter last year.

Page 2 of 2



Agenda Iltem 6

NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Regeneration & Sustainable Development Cabinet Board
6™ September 2019

Report of the Head of Planning and Public Protection
Nicola Pearce

Matter for Decision
Wards Affected: All
Countryside and Rights of Way (CROW) Act 2000 — Consideration of:

the Consultation Draft Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP); and
the publication / consultation procedures to be implemented.

Purpose of the Report

1 To consider and agree the Consultation Draft Rights of Way
Improvement Plan (ROWIP) and the publication / consultation
procedures to be implemented.

Executive Summary

2 Under Section 60 of the (CROW) Act 2000 (the Act), the Council has
a statutory duty to prepare a ‘Rights of Way Improvement Plan’
(ROWIP). The ROWIP sets out how the Council intends to improve
access to the countryside over a 10 year period.

3 The ROWIP for Neath Port Talbot was initially produced and
published for the period 2008-2018. In 2017, under section 60(3) and
(4) of the Act, the Council undertook a new assessment, including
consultation to determine whether a review of the ROWIP was
required.

4 In September 2018, based on the outcome of the assessment,
Cabinet Board resolved to undertake a review of the ROWIP.

Page 21



5

This report therefore seeks endorsement of the consultation draft
ROWIP (2019-2029) and the approval of the consultation
arrangements.

Background

6

The Neath Port Talbot ROWIP was initially prepared and published
for the period 2008-2018.

In 2017, and in accordance with legislation, the Council undertook an
assessment of current provision and carried out a public consultation
exercise to gather views on the quality and condition of Public Rights
of Way and the wider countryside, their use of these routes and the
measures that could be taken to encourage greater use of the
countryside.

Based on the assessment and the fact that since publication of the
first ROWIP, there have been a number of changes in Wales that
would have a bearing on future management of the network and
access to the countryside, the decision was taken to prepare a new
ROWIP for Neath Port Talbot.

Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2019-2029)

9

10

The new Consultation Draft ROWIP is presented in full in Appendix
1. Covering the period 2019-2029, the plan sets out the means by
which the Council intends to improve and promote access to the
countryside across Neath Port Talbot over the next decade.

The ROWIP is structured into the following three parts:

e PART 1: Introduction and Background — provides a summary of
the key drivers in the national, regional and local context, along
with a description of the County Borough and the opportunities
for public access to the countryside.

e PART 2: Assessment of Access Provision and Use — outlines
the outcome of the assessment in regard to access provision
and use of this resource across Neath Port Talbot and
identifies the key issues to be addressed moving forward.

e PART 3: Statement of Action — outlines the vision, objectives
and policies of the plan, along with the means by which the
plan will be delivered and monitored.

Page 22



Publication and Consultation Procedures

11

12

13

14

The ROWIP consultation period will run for 12 weeks commencing in
September. Representations received as a result of consultation will
again be considered by this Cabinet Board, together with any
amendments needed to the document prior to final publication.

In order to raise awareness and facilitate a public / stakeholder
consultation, the following will be undertaken:

e The Council’'s website will provide all relevant information and
documentation;

e Correspondence will be sent to relevant stakeholders /
organisations listed on the ROWIP database; and

e Press releases will be issued (including use of social media).

In accordance with the Council’'s Welsh Language Standards Policy
all publicity / communication will be bilingual and the Consultation
Draft ROWIP will also be made available in Welsh.

The Consultation Draft ROWIP will be available for purchase at a
reasonable charge. In common with previous practice, it is suggested
that the price be based on the cost of printing together with post and
package at the prevailing cost. Electronic copies will be made
available at no cost.

Financial Impacts

15

16

The decisions will incur expenditure in relation to the publication and
consultation procedures. These costs will be accommodated within
existing budgets.

Given that there is no additional Welsh Government funding being
made available for the delivery of the plan, the plan reflects the
current budget of the Countryside & Wildlife Team and will make best
use of external funding to deliver additional improvement works.

Integrated Impact Assessment

17

A first stage impact assessment has been undertaken to assist the
Council in discharging its legislative duties under the Equality Act
2010, the Welsh Language Standards (No.1) Regulations 2015, the
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and the
Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

Page 23



18 The first stage assessment, attached at Appendix 2, has indicated
that a more in-depth assessment is not required. A summary is
included below:

e Equalities —the Plan is intended to be inclusive, aiming to
encourage greater use of Public Rights of Way and the wider
countryside by all community members.

e Welsh Language — the Plan will be inclusive, aiming to
encourage all community members to be involved. The Plan
and all public communications will be bilingual.

e Biodiversity — a Service Assessment has been carried as part

of the Biodiversity Duty Plan requirements, and appropriate
working practices are in place to avoid impact on biodiversity.
Policy for the protection of biodiversity is embedded into the
ROWIP.
e Well-being of Future Generation (5 ways of Working) — The

5 ways of working has been followed in the review of the Plan,
and will continue to be followed in delivery of the Plan.

Valleys Communities Impacts

19 No implications.

Workforce Impacts

20 No implications.

Legal Impacts

21 No implications.

Risk Management Impacts

22  No implications.

Consultation

23  This item will be the subject of external consultation.

Recommendations

24  That having considered the report, it is resolved to make the
following recommendations for approval:

Page 24



1. That the Consultation Draft Rights of Way Improvement Plan
as set out in Appendix 1 be agreed as forming the basis for
consultation.

2. That the publication and consultation arrangements as set out
in the report are implemented.

Reasons for Proposed Decision

25 The recommendations are made to ensure compliance with the
CROW Act 2000 and to put a framework in place for the
management and improvement of our Public Rights of Way for the
next 10 years.

Implementation of Decision

26  The decision is proposed for implementation after the three day call

in period.
Appendices
27  Appendix 1 — ROWIP (2019-2029) Consultation Draft (September
28 i?)t?ndix 2 — ROWIP (2019-2029) First Stage Integrated Impact
Assessment.

List of Background Papers
29 The Countryside and Rights of Way (CROW) Act 2000.
Officer Contact

30 Ceri Morris — Planning Policy Manager
Tel: 01639 686320 or e-mail: c.morrisl@npt.gov.uk

31 Catrin Evans — Countryside & Wildlife Team Leader
Tel: 01639 686056 or e-mail: c.a.evans@npt.gov.uk

Page 25



APPENDIX 1

ROWIP (2019-2029) Consultation Draft (September 2019)

Page 26



AA‘ Cyngor Castell-nedd Port Talbot
N Neath Port Talbot Council

Rights of Way Improvement
Plan (2019-2029)

Consultation Draft - September 2019

www.npt.gov.uk



Page 28



NOLE LO REAUEK ..........ooooooooeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee oo seee e seeee e seeeee e seeeeeee e 1

FOT@WONM ............oooooeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeoeeeeeeeeeeeeeee oo esseseseeee e e e eeeeeseeeesessee 3

PART 1 - Introduction and Background

T INEFOAUCTION ..o 5
1.1 Structure and Content 5
2 POHCY CONLEXL ........ooooooeeee oo esees s eee e sess s seee e seee s 7
3 Access tothe CouNtrySide ... 11
3.1 Description of Neath Port Talbot 11
3.2 Means of Access to the Countryside 12

PART 2 - Assessment of Access Provision and Use

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)

4 Assessment of Access Provision in Neath Port Talbot ... 15
4.1 Public Rights of Way (PROW) 15
4.2 Cycle Routes and Adopted Highway 17
4.3 Canal Network 18
4.4  Long Distance Trails 18
4.5 Waterfall Walks 20
4.6 Public Access under CROW Act 2000 and Common Land 21
4.7 Coastal Access 22
4.8 Permissive Access 22
4.9 Open Space 23
4.10 Neath Port Talbot Public Consultation (2017) 23
411 Overview 24

5 Assessment of Use in Neath PortTalbot ... 25
5.1 National Survey for Wales (2016-2017) 25 .
5.2  Neath Port Talbot Public Consultation (2017) 26

6 EVAIUALION ..o e 27
6.1 Benefits of Public Rights of Way 28

Page 29



6.2 Key Issues in Neath Port Talbot 29

PART 3 - Statement of Action

7 Vision and Objectives 31
8 Policies 33
9 Implementation and Monitoring 37
9.1 Annual Delivery Plans 37
9.2 Delivery Mechanism and Funding 37
9.3 Monitoring and Evaluation 37
Appendices
A Legal Processes 39
B ROWIP (2008-2018) - Evaluation of Delivery 41
C Priority Criteria for Claimed PROW and Other Orders 51

(6102 4oquieydag - Jeiq Uone}NSuUoD) 62026102 Ueld Juswanoidwi AepA JO SJUBTY - 1DUNOD JOg[eL HOd UleaN

Page 30



Note to Reader

This note explains the purpose of the Rights of Way Improvement Plan and how to comment
on the document. This note will not form part of the final published report.

Purpose of the Document

The Neath Port Talbot 'Rights of Way Improvement Plan' (ROWIP) was initially prepared
and published for the period 2008-2018.

In 2017, and in accordance with legislation, the Council undertook an assessment of
current provision, including the opportunities that Public Rights of Way (PROW) and other
access provision provides.

In addition, a consultation exercise was undertaken to gather views from the public and
stakeholders on the quality and condition of PROW and the wider countryside, their use
of these routes and the measures that could be taken to encourage greater use of the
countryside.

Following this assessment and public consultation, the decision was taken by the Council
to prepare a new ROWIP for Neath Port Talbot. This new Plan, covering the period
2019-2029, sets out the means by which the Council intends to improve and promote
access to the countryside across Neath Port Talbot over the next decade.

Consultation

The Council is seeking views on the matters set out in this Improvement Plan. The
consultation period will run for 12 weeks, starting midday on Tuesday 24" September
and ending at midday on Tuesday 17" December 2019.

How to Make Comments

Comments can be submitted:
Directly Online at: www.npt.gov.uk
Alternatively:

By E-mail to: countryside@npt.gov.uk

By Post to:

Nicola Pearce

Page 31

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)



Note to Reader

Head of Planning and Public Protection
Neath Port Talbot Council

The Quays

Brunel Way

Baglan Energy Park

Neath

SA11 2GG

The deadline for comments is midday on Tuesday 17" December 2019. Comments
received after the deadline will not be accepted.

This report is also available in Welsh, either to download or by request. Should you need
this document in another format, then please contact the Countryside & Wildlife team
at countryside@npt.gov.uk or [01639] 686199.

(61,02 Joquisydag - Jeiq UoNE}NSUOD) 6202-6102 UEld Juswanoidwi ABpA JO SHUBRY - [1DUNOD JOG[EL HOd UIesN

Page 32



Foreword

Foreword

| am pleased to introduce the Council’s revised Rights of Way Improvement Plan, which
has been produced following an extensive consultation and assessment process.

Neath Port Talbot is an attractive and diverse county, with distinct valley communities
benefiting from a dramatic upland landscape, with a network of moorland and forest paths,
linking through to our coastal communities, with a range of parks, lowland woodlands and
coastal walks. The landscape provides ample opportunity for recreation and tourism,
resulting in benefits to health and well-being, the local economy and a strong sense of
community pride.

We recognise the importance of Public Rights of Way (PROW) and wider countryside
access for our residents and visitors. The Rights of Way Improvement Plan provides a
strategic framework for the management of our PROW, leading to notable achievements
and improvements.

The revised Rights of Way Improvement Plan for Neath Port Talbot outlines the Council’s
vision and commitments to protecting, maintaining and improving this resource into the
future. Whilst the quality and accessibility of the physical resource remains at the core of
the revised Plan, we also believe passionately that our countryside should serve the needs
of all people for recreation, health and well-being, therefore will also be focusing our efforts
on maximising the number and range of people who are able to enjoy the benefits of our
natural environment.

| would urge you to consider this document and take the opportunity to respond to the
consultation.

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)

Councillor Annette Wingrave

Cabinet Member for Regeneration and Sustainable Development

Page 33



Foreword

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)

Page 34



1 Introduction

1.0.1  Under Section 60 of the Countryside and Rights of Way (CROW) Act 2000, the
Council has a statutory duty to prepare a 'Rights of Way Improvement Plan' (ROWIP).
The ROWIP for Neath Port Talbot was initially prepared and published for the period
2008-2018.

1.0.2 Under Section 60(3) and (4), the Council is required to undertake a new
assessment, a review of this Plan and assess whether amendments are required to the
first Plan. Specifically, the assessment is required to include the following:

e An assessment of current provision, i.e. current access provision and opportunities
that Public Rights of Way (PROW) and other access provision provides;

e An assessment of use, i.e. how needs are being met, barriers to use and incentives
for use; and

e An evaluation of existing, and priorities for a new, ROWIP.

1.0.3 In 2017, and in accordance with legislation, the Council undertook an assessment
of current provision including the opportunities that PROW and other access provision
provides. In addition, a consultation exercise was undertaken to gather views from the
public and stakeholders on the quality and condition of the PROW network and the wider
countryside, their use of these routes and the measures that could be taken to encourage
greater use of the countryside.

1.0.4 Following this assessment and public consultation, the decision was taken by the
Council to prepare a new ROWIP for Neath Port Talbot. This new Plan, covering the period
2019-2029, sets out the means by which the Council intends to improve and promote
access to the countryside across the County Borough over the next decade.

1.1 Structure and Content
1.1.1  The Rights of Way Improvement Plan is structured into the following three parts:

e PART 1: Introduction and Background - provides a summary of the key drivers in
the national, regional and local context, along with a description of the County Borough
and the opportunities for public access to the countryside.

e PART 2: Assessment of Access Provision and Use - outlines the outcome of the
assessment in regard to access provision and use of this resource across Neath Port
Talbot and identifies the key issues to be addressed moving forward.

e PART 3: Statement of Action - outlines the vision, objectives and policies of the
Improvement Plan, along with the means by which the Plan will be delivered and
monitored.

Page 35

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)



c
o
ﬁ
O
=
©
(o]
| -
)
£

1

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)

Page 36



2 Policy Context

2.0.1 There are a number of national, regional and local plans / strategies which recognise
the importance of access to the countryside, and the benefits it can provide for public
health and well-being.

2.0.2 The ROWIP has to have regard to these national and local policies and initiatives,
and implementation of the plan will contribute to the achievement of Welsh Government
(WG) policy objectives. The most relevant plans and strategies are set out below.

Neath Port Talbot Public Services Board (PSB) Local Well-Being Plan (2018-2023)

2.0.3 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act, 2015 is striving to improve the
social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. The Act puts in place
seven well-being goals, which public bodies must work towards achieving, and five
sustainable development principles to adopt.

2.0.4 The Well-being Plan sets out the Public Service Board’s (PSB) long term vision
for Neath Port Talbot, as required by the Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015. The
Plan lays out 4 key objectives to improving the well-being of people in Neath Port Talbot,
and identifies the priorities for action:

e  Support children in their early years, especially children at risk of adverse childhood
experiences;

e Create safe, confident and resilient communities, focusing on vulnerable people;

e  Put more life into our later years — ageing well;

e Promote well-being through work and in the workplace.

2.0.5 Furthermore, the following have been identified as objectives which cut across
the first four objectives:

e Value our green infrastructure and the contribution it makes to our well-being;
e Tackle digital exclusion.

Neath Port Talbot Corporate Plan (2019-2022)

2.0.6 The Corporate Plan sets out the Council’s vision:

We want our county borough to be a place where everyone has an equal chance to
get on in life — a place where people want to live, learn and work and bring up their
family.

We want our beautiful natural environment, and our rich cultural and industrial heritage
to be appreciated and protected for many future generations to enjoy. We also want
to pursue new and existing opportunities for economic growth so we can sustain our
diverse communities for years to come.

Page 37

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)



(610 Joquisydag - e uoneyNsuoD) 6Z0zZ-610Z Ueld Juawaroidwi Aep Jo siuBy - 19UN0Y Jog|el Hod YeaN

2.0.7 Through the following well-being objectives, the Council will maximise its
contribution to the well-being goals:

e To improve the well-being of children and young people;

e To improve the well-being of all adults who live in the County Borough; and

e To develop the local economy and environment so that the well-being of people can
be improved.

2.0.8 Both the Well-being Plan and Corporate Plan have a strong focus on improving
well-being, alongside valuing and protecting our local environment. Provision, and
promotion, of an accessible network of routes for a range of users will be integral element
of meeting the Council’s, and PSB’s, well-being priorities and goals.

South West Area Statement

2.0.9 Welsh Government’s Natural Resources Policy sets out the key challenges and
opportunities in Wales in relation to our natural environment. Natural Resources Wales
(NRW) is required to produce area statements that will specify priorities, risks and
opportunities to implement the priorities of the Natural Resources Policy. Wales has been
split into seven areas and Neath Port Talbot falls within the South West Wales area with
Pembrokeshire, Carmarthenshire and Swansea.

2.0.10 NRW are currently developing the Area Statement for the South West, however
have currently identified emerging themes which are likely to form the basis of the Area
Statement:

Supporting health outcomes;
Unsustainable rural land management;
Reversing the decline in biodiversity; and
Resilience to a changing climate.

2.0.11  Implementation of the ROWIP will need to be mindful of the emerging Area
Statement, recognising the opportunity to deliver improvements to health and changing
climate (through reduced travel), whilst also ensuring that work practices do not negatively
impact on biodiversity or sustainable land management requirements.

Joint Transport Plan for South West Wales (2015-2020)

2.0.12 The Joint Transport Plan for South West Wales is the result of joint working
between the four Councils (Carmarthenshire, Neath Port Talbot, Swansea and
Pembrokeshire) in South West Wales. It replaces the individual local transport plans
previously adopted by the four councils. As well as acting as a bidding document for major
transport schemes it will shape transport policy in the region for the period 2015 -2020
and beyond.

2.0.13 The long term strategy and policies of the plan includes a focus on improving
walking and cycling links within, and between, key settlements.

Page 38



2 . Policy Context

Active Travel

2.0.14 The Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013 requires the Council to map and plan for
suitable active travel routes within settlements specified by the Welsh Government. The
Council is required to prepare, publish and keep under review the following two maps:

e  Existing Route Map (ERM) - primarily intended to inform the public of the existing
routes in the County Borough that the Council considers suitable for active travel and
which meet standards set out in the Welsh Government's Active Travel Design
Guidance.

e Integrated Network Map (INM) - setting out the Council’s aspirations for the next 15
years, identifying either improvements that could be made to existing routes or where
new routes could be developed and added to the active travel network.

2.0.15 Whilst meeting the requirements of the Active Travel Act is outside the remit of
this Plan, there will clearly be opportunities to deliver against the INM alongside the Rights
of Way Improvement Plan. A collaborative approach will be taken to carrying out
improvements that maximise the benefits for leisure, health and well-being and active
travel.

Picture 2.1 Pontardawe Canal

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)

Page 39



(610 Joquisydag - e uoneyNsuoD) 6Z0zZ-610Z Ueld Juawaroidwi Aep Jo siuBy - 19UN0Y Jog|el Hod YeaN

Destination Management Plan (2015-2020)

2.0.16 A Destination Management Plan (DMP) is a shared statement of intent to manage
a destination, outlining the roles of different stakeholders and identifying the actions that
they will take. The DMP recognises the important role that PROW play in enabling visits
to the local area, both via physical access but also in allowing us to showcase Neath Port
Talbot in a more picturesque and rural light, in contrast to the industrialised urban areas
of the County Borough.

Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (2011-2026)

2.0.17 The Neath Port Talbot Local Development Plan (LDP) guides the future
development of the area, providing a clear vision for the County Borough, setting out
where, when and how much new development can take place over the duration of the
plan (2011-2026). The aim is to provide developers and the public with certainty about the
planning framework for Neath Port Talbot.

2.0.18 There are a number of objectives and policies that support and promote access
to the countryside, for health, recreation and for commuting, which would be supported
by delivery of the ROWIP. The most relevant of these are outlined below.

Objectives

e OB 4: Maximise accessibility to a range of leisure, recreational, health, social and
community facilities in line with the role and function of settlements.

e OB 21: Increase accessibility, promote active travel and encourage a shift to more
sustainable modes of transport for people and freight.

Policies

e Policy SP2 Health: Healthier, more active and safer lifestyles will be encouraged
through the retention of a range of accessible leisure, recreational, health, retail,
social, cultural and community facilities throughout the County Borough.

e Policy SP4 Infrastructure: Improving access to facilities and services including the
provision of walking and cycling routes.

e Policy SP20 Transport Network: Supporting enhancements to the walking and cycling
network.

Page 40



3 . Access to the Countryside

3 Access to the Countryside
3.1 Description of Neath Port Talbot

3.1.1  Neath Port Talbot comprises a diverse natural environment which supports the
well-being of local people as well as attracting many visitors to the area. Rising from sea
level in the west to 600 metres at Craig Y Llyn, above Glynneath, Neath Port Talbot is
predominantly an upland area dissected by the valleys of the Afan, Neath, Dulais and
Tawe rivers which all flow to the sea at Swansea Bay.

3.1.2 These valleys are separated from each other by ridges of high forest or moorland
and a narrow coastal strip extends around Swansea Bay where the main centres of
population are found. The surrounding valleys are rural in aspect with scattered
communities, many of which still contain significant numbers of Welsh speakers.

3.1.3 There is a range of access provision in Neath Port Talbot, offering plenty of
opportunities for those wishing to visit the countryside. The Gnoll and Margam Country
Parks, along with Aberafan Seafront, offer a variety of leisure facilities that appeal to
families and walkers of all age ranges. Local Nature Reserves offer the opportunity to get
closer to nature and the Public Rights of Way network offers the opportunity to gain access
into areas such as the ‘Waterfall Country’ located at the foot of the Brecon Beacons National
Park.

Picture 3.1 'Overlooking Glyncorrwg' - Pencraig Isaf

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)

Page 41



(610 Joquisydag - e uoneyNsuoD) 6Z0zZ-610Z Ueld Juawaroidwi Aep Jo siuBy - 19UN0Y Jog|el Hod YeaN

3.2 Means of Access to the Countryside

3.2.1  Throughout the County Borough there are extensive opportunities to gain public
access to the countryside, either through legally defined, or less formal means

Public Rights of Way (PROW)

3.2.2 PROW are public highways which provide one of the most important means of
access to the countryside. They provide communities with opportunities to access the
countryside for purposes of leisure and also a sustainable transport option.

3.2.3 The duty to record PROW was first introduced by the National Parks and Access
to the Countryside Act 1949. This Act resulted in the creation of 'Definitive Maps' by each
highway authority, based on an assessment of their historic use and status. It was a long
and protracted process, accompanied with public scrutiny of the maps and associated
statements, following which Neath Port Talbot’s Definitive Map was published @)

3.2.4 PROW benefit from a robust legislative framework which provides the user with
a clearly defined right of use and places a duty on the Council to ensure the right of passage
is maintained, open and available at all times. There is a legal process in place for the
extinguishment, diversion or creation of Public Rights of Way, or for rectifying anomalies
on the Definitive Map( )

3.2.5 PROW carry a range of access rights, which are recorded on the Definitive Map.
They comprise:

e Footpaths - a public highway over which the public has a right of way on foot only.

e Bridleways - a highway over which the public may ride or lead a horse, walk or ride
on a pedal cycle.

e Restricted Byways - the public has a right on foot, on horseback or leading a horse,
and a right in or on a vehicle other than mechanically propelled vehicles, thereby
giving a right for pedal cyclists and drivers of horse drawn vehicles.

e Byway Open to All Traffic (BOAT) - these are highways over which the public can
exercise all the rights referred to above, but there is also a right to drive mechanically
propelled vehicles. The Council however, does not have a duty to provide a surface
which is capable of being used by all forms of motor vehicular traffic.

Cycleways

3.2.6 Cycleways are routes over which the public have the right to ride a pedal cycle,
with or without a right to walk or ride a horse.

1 The availability of the various forms of public access to the countryside in Neath Port Talbot is considered in
Chapter 4.

2 The Definitive Map comprises an OS based map showing the location of the paths and their status, together with
a written statement which provides evidence of width, etc.

3 Details on these processes are outlined in & A



3.2.7 The Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013, has provided the legal framework for the
provision of active travel routes. With the emphasis on commuting and making purposeful
journeys, existing and proposed aspirational routes are identified on the Council's 'Existing
Route Map' (ERM) and 'Integrated Network Map' (INM) respectively.

3.2.8 This ROWIP mainly considers the rural cycleway network which provides a means
of access to the countryside. Some of the rural cycleways are aligned with PROW, but
many are part of the permissive network of paths described below.

Permissive Paths

3.2.9 These are paths over which the landowner has granted public rights of access.
The rights may be on foot, horseback or on pedal cycle, but rarely do they include a right
to drive motor vehicles. The landowner may withdraw this right at any point in the future.

Common Land

3.2.10 The Council has a duty to keep a register of common land under the Commons
Act 2006. All registered common land is open to public pedestrian access for air and
exercise. In addition, there is a public right to ride on horseback on urban common land
and on rural common land where a deed of access has been granted under Section 193
of the Law of Property Act 1925.

Open Access Land

3.2.11  The Countryside and Rights of Way (CROW) Act 2000 provided a public right of
access on foot to areas of mountain, moor, heath and down, which includes all common
land. The Act also provides landowners with the opportunity to dedicate their land for public
access, which has been done by Natural Resources Wales (NRW) for all of its freehold
estate. The land is indicated on maps prepared by NRW.

Permissive Areas of Access

3.212 These are areas of land where the landowner has provided public access to
areas of land, such as country or urban parks, nature reserves and parts of the coast.

Open Space

3.213 Open space(4) refers to publicly accessible recreational space and includes
playing fields, sports pitches and courts, children's play areas, facilities for older children,
informal open space, greenspace, parks and allotments. Many of these will refer to access
opportunities identified above, either on a permanent or permissive basis.

4 Asdefined by the Council's Local Development Fﬂﬂg@ 4%).

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)



(<))
=)
>
)
c
=
o
(&)
()
i =
il
(o)
e
(7))
(7))
(]
(&)
Q
<
™

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)

Page 44



4 . Assessment of Access Provision in Neath Port Talbot

4 Assessment of Access Provision in Neath Port Talbot

4.0.1 The assessment of current access provision across the County Borough has
confirmed that there are a broad range of opportunities to facilitate public access to the
countryside. Whilst the findings of the assessment is outlined in more detail below, Figure
4.1 overleaf illustrates these areas in broad terms.

4.1 Public Rights of Way (PROW)

4.1.1 The total recorded length of legally existing PROW across the County Borough
amounts to 777.3 kilometres (km). This is the PROW that legally exist and is not necessarily
an indication of the length of routes that are open / physically accessible.

4.1.2 Thetable below presents a breakdown of PROW by 'Definitive Map Classification’,
with the data showing that footpaths make up the most significant proportion of the network.

Table 4.1.1 Extent of PROW in Neath Port Talbot

Definitive Map Classification For Use By Length (km) Network % (Approx)
Footpath Walkers 591.52 76.1%
Bridleway Walkers / Horse Riders / 147.12 18.9%
Cyclists
Byway Open to All Traffic Walkers / Horse Riders / 38.66 5%
Cyclists / Horse Drawn & Motor
Vehicles

TOTAL 777.3 100%

4.1.3 Whilst the Council does not hold data on individual paths, survey work was
previously carried out on randomly selected paths as part of statutory performance
indicators, providing a percentage of the paths that are ‘open and easy to
use’. Consequently, this provides an indication of the condition of the network. Although
these surveys are no longer a statutory requirement and therefore no longer undertaken,
the figures presented in the table below demonstrate a relatively stable trend.

Table 4.1.2 Paths in Neath Port Talbot 'Open and Easy to Use'

Year Paths Open & Easy to Use
2014/15 68.9%
2013/14 67.3%
2012/13 68.2%
2011/12 59.9%
2010/11 59.9%
2009/10 64.8%
2008/09 68.6%

Page 45

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)




4 . Assessment of Access Provision in Neath Port Talbot

Figure 4.1 Access Provision in Neath Port Talbot

(6102 4oquieydag - Jeiq Uone}NSuUoD) 62026102 Ueld Juswanoidwi AepA JO SJUBTY - 1DUNOD JOg[eL HOd UleaN

Page 46



4.1.4 As paths can be created, diverted or extinguished, the length of the rights of way
network is not static. Extinguishments are however rare, with a greater tendency for paths
to be diverted onto more appropriate routes. With that being the case, the path network
is gradually growing each year, following successful applications made by members of
the public for new public rights of way. Since the publication of the first ROWIP, the
Council's PROW network has increased from 697km to 777km.

4.1.5 The Definitive Map and Statement can be viewed by appointment at the Council
Offices at The Quays, Baglan Energy Park. A further good resource for anyone interested
in using the PROW network are the 'Ordnance Survey Explorer Maps', which not only
show the updated path network but also the open access land which includes open country,
common land and dedicated land.

4.1.6 Since the network of PROW is basically a historic one, it does not always meet
current needs. However, when other forms of countryside access are considered alongside
the path network, any deficiencies in the network itself are often less relevant.

4.2 Cycle Routes and Adopted Highway

4.2.1  Within the urban and semi-rural environment, PROW are often intertwined with
the adopted highway network and with cycle routes, providing a sustainable transport
alternative for commuters, as well as the role they play as a leisure resource.

4.2.2 National Cycle Network (NCN) 887 was created in 2013 as part of the Lottery
funded Connect 2 scheme, creating a cycle route between Aberafan Seafront, Port Talbot,
Cwmafan, Pontrhydyfen and Afan Forest Park, the majority of which is off-road. In addition,
there are sections of the Neath Canal towpath which have been recently improved and
are open to cyclists by permission of the Neath Canal Navigation Company, also offering
easy access opportunities for less able users.

4.2.3 Rural cycleways are an important element in the range of opportunities for gaining
access to the countryside in Neath Port Talbot. Where they have been developed on
disused railway lines their gradient is often suitable for users with various mobility problems.
The 'Amman Valley Cycle Route' is a proposed cycle route from Garnant to Cwmtwrch,
largely utilising a disused railway track, traversing both Neath Port Talbot and
Carmarthenshire. As of 2019, the cycle route is largely complete from Garnant to
Cwmllynfell, with a short gap near the Forge Washery site in Lower Brynamman.

4.2.4 Neath Port Talbot has also developed an international reputation for the quality
of its mountain biking routes in the Afan Valley. These routes are a valuable tourism
resource and have helped raise the profile of Neath Port Talbot as an outdoor visitor
destination. Whilst there are challenges to be had with managing conflict between walkers
and mountain bikers, the momentum behind the mountain biking industry has resulted in
wider access improvements, such as family friendly routes and provides opportunities to
engage the younger generation in increased physical activity.

Page 47

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)



4 . Assessment of Access Provision in Neath Port Talbot

4.3 Canal Network

4.3.1 The remnant canal network in Neath Port Talbot provides a highly valued and
locally significant means of countryside access. The canal towpaths alongside the Swansea,
Neath and Tennant Canals allow walkers of all abilities an opportunity to walk through the
countryside, also acting as commuter routes between settlements.

4.3.2 Due to their relatively flat surface and their proximity to residential areas, the
towpaths are particularly important as a means of access for people with limited mobility
problems.

Picture 4.1 Neath Canal

(61,02 Joquisydag - Jeiq UoNE}NSUOD) 6202-6102 UEld Juswanoidwi ABpA JO SHUBRY - [1DUNOD JOG[EL HOd UIesN

B 4.4 Long Distance Trails

4.41 There are long distance trails which pass through Neath Port Talbot, providing
links to adjacent local authority areas.

Page 48



4 . Assessment of Access Provision in Neath Port Talbot

Wales Coast Path

4.4.2 The Wales Coast Path was opened formally in 2012, with the section in Neath
Port Talbot benefiting from the creation of a new footpath into Bridgend and a new route
through Baglan Burrows to Aberafan Seafront.

4.4.3 Owing to the industrial presence along the coastline, the challenges of remaining
within the desired 2km resulted in the creation of two routes in Neath Port Talbot. The
routes enter the County Borough over the newly installed bridge from Kenfig National
Nature Reserve in Bridgend, splitting into an upland and lowland route, before entering
Swansea along the Tennant Canal at Jersey Marine. The upland route provides the best
views of the coastline, whilst the lowland route takes in Aberafan Seafront and our most
extensive dune system at Baglan Burrows.

Picture 4.2 Installation of Bridge Linking Neath Port
Talbot and Bridgend

Page 49

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)




(610 Joquisydag - e uoneyNsuoD) 6Z0zZ-610Z Ueld Juawaroidwi Aep Jo siuBy - 19UN0Y Jog|el Hod YeaN

Great Dragon Ride (North South Bridleway)

4.4.4 The 47km section of this national bridleway commences at Margam Park and
passes through Afan Forest Park in a generally northern direction to Banwen. From
Banwen, the route travels up through the Brecon Beacons west to Talybont, near
Aberystwyth, before heading up to the north coast. This is a challenging upland ride or
walk, much of it through forest areas, but there are also outstanding views of the Brecon
Beacons and the coast.

St. llitud's Walk

4.4.5 This path links Pembrey Country Park in Carmarthenshire with Margam Park in
Neath Port Talbot, passing through the upland part of Swansea en route. The trail is 110km
in length, of which 61km is within Neath Port Talbot, and passes through a variety of rural
and coastal landscapes. In conjunction with the Ramblers Association the route has recently
been more closely re-aligned onto public rights of way by the three local authorities,
resulting in its re-launch in 2017.

Ogwr Ridgeway

4.4.6 This path starts at Margam Country Park and extends to the western end of the
Taff Ely Ridgeway in Bridgend. The trail is 24.1km in length, of which S5km is within Neath
Port Talbot, and offers spectacular walking in a variety of upland and valley
scenery. Panoramic views of rugged, narrow valleys can be obtained to the north, with
the hills of Devon and Somerset usually visible to the south.

4.5 Waterfall Walks

4.5.1 Of particular interest to Neath Port Talbot is the range of waterfall walks that exist,
including Aberdulais and Melincourt Falls, and Sgwd Gladus (Angel Falls) at the foot of
the Brecon Beacons National Park. The falls are steeped in industrial heritage, in addition
to being sited within some of our most important ecological sites, providing a range of
points of interest for visitors.

Page 50



4 . Assessment of Access Provision in Neath Port Talbot

Picture 4.3 Angel Falls

4.6 Public Access under CROW Act 2000 and Common Land

4.6.1 Whilst PROW provide the main linear means of access in Neath Port Talbot, there
are also extensive areas of open access and common land, currently comprising:

e 1,389 hectares open access land;
e 1,783 hectares common land;
e 9,784 hectares freehold estate of Natural Resources Wales (NRW).

4.6.2 The 'Register of Common Land' is held at the Civic Centre in Port Talbot. Land
classified as open country under the CROW Act is shown on maps which can be viewed
on the NRW website.

4.6.3 Figure 4.1 gives a broad overview of the extent of these areas. Access provision
in the Afan and Neath Valleys is improved greatly by the extent of NRW owned forest
plantations / woodland. Whilst there may be historic issues with the overplanting of PROW,
alternative routes are generally available along forest tracks providing significant
opportunities for walking, cycling and horse riding. Common Land is particularly prevalent
in the Amman Valley and provides an adqﬁiagaé rggpurce for access to the countryside.

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)




(610 Joquisydag - e uoneyNsuoD) 6Z0zZ-610Z Ueld Juawaroidwi Aep Jo siuBy - 19UN0Y Jog|el Hod YeaN

4.7 Coastal Access

4.7.1 With exception to the Wales Coast Path, Aberafan Beach at Sandfields is the main
area of accessible coastline in Neath Port Talbot and is promoted as a tourist
destination. The beach is adjacent to the urban area, is easily accessible and has a range
of play facilities and food outlets.

4.7.2 The promenade also provides links to the wider Coast Path and the National Cycle
Network, linking through to the rural cycle network in the valleys. It is very urban in nature,
with a number of facilities for families and visitors, whilst a short walk to Whitford Point at
the mouth of the Neath Estuary, provides a more natural coastal environment.

4.7.3 At the eastern side of the County Borough, a public footpath gives access to the
edge of the foreshore at Margam Sands, although there is no public right of access over
the foreshore, which is privately owned. The beach can however, be accessed by following
the Coast Path over the border into Bridgend, at Kenfig National Nature Reserve.

4.8 Permissive Access

4.8.1 In addition to statutory rights of access, the County Borough is fortunate in having
considerable areas of land to which public access is available by permission of the
landowners, making a significant contribution to the range of options for access to the
countryside.

4.8.2 Access to these areas of land is provided on a very secure basis as the landowners
are either public bodies, trusts or private landowners who have entered into access
agreements with the Local Authority. There are a number of ecologically important sites
and accessible sites owned by the Woodland Trust and Wildlife Trust of South and West
Wales, however most significant in terms of access are those owned by the Council and
Community / Town Councils.

4.8.3 There are three major country parks in Neath Port Talbot: Margam Park, Gnoll
Country Park and Afan Forest Park, and there is also a smaller Country Park at Craig
Gwladus, Cadoxton. These parks provide the public with an opportunity to experience a
variety of countryside landscapes in a secure and more easily accessible environment.
The parks have waymarked paths, are accessible by public transport and have car parks,
whilst the three major parks also have visitor centres and/or cafes.

4.8.4 Inaddition, there are currently five Local Nature Reserves, a number of accessible
woodlands and a range of high quality urban parks throughout the County Borough. There
are too many to list here, however many of them can be found on the Council’'s website
under Leisure and Culture!®.

5  www.npt.gov.uk/parks Page 52



http://www.npt.gov.uk/parks

4 . Assessment of Access Provision in Neath Port Talbot

Picture 4.4 Gnoll Country Park

4.9 Open Space

4.9.1 In 2013, the Council undertook and published an assessment of open space
provision across Neath Port Talbot as part of the evidence base supporting the Local
Development Plan (LDP), ultimately informing the policies in the adopted Plan.

4.9.2 The assessment identified shortfalls in the different categories of provision across
the County Borough, with all wards having a shortfall in at least one category of open
space, with the vast majority experiencing multiple deficiencies by category. There is better
provision for ‘informal’ open space, however this category was also found to be lacking in
30% of the wards.

4.10 Neath Port Talbot Public Consultation (2017)

4101 A targeted consultation was undertaken by the Council in November 2017. An
online questionnaire was disseminated via existing networks and also publicised extensively
through partners and social media. Whilst the majority of the questions related to use of
the public rights of way network and countryside access, participants were also asked
whether they felt it was easy to access the countryside in Neath Port Talbot.

4.10.2 62% answered yes to this question, citing a wide range of access opportunities
to substantiate their view. Of the 38% that answered no, reasons primarily focused on a
need for better information / signage, with some localised examples of routes in need of
improvement work.

Page 53

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)




(61,02 Joquisydag - Jeiq UoNE}NSUOD) 6202-6102 UEld Juswanoidwi ABpA JO SHUBRY - [1DUNOD JOG[EL HOd UIesN

4 . Assessment of Access Provision in Neath Port Talbot

4.11 Overview

4.11.1  Whilst there is wide ranging access provision in Neath Port Talbot, there are
localised areas that will need to be addressed as part of the Delivery Plan. Performance
indicators demonstrate that access problems exist on substantial parts of the PROW
network through lack of maintenance or obstruction, and the need to continue efforts to
open up neglected paths will continue throughout the period of this plan.

4.11.2 Where paths are in remote locations and have not been subject to public
complaint, a pragmatic approach will need to be taken, ensuring that resources are targeted
towards PROW that deliver the most benefit.

4.11.3 Inaddition to PROW, itis clear that access provision is greatly enhanced by other
resources, such as parks, permissive routes and cycle routes. However, there are
deficiencies in open space within settlements and budgetary pressures will present
challenges to the Council’s ability in providing such resources in the future. Whilst the
provision of these resources primarily falls outside the scope of this Plan, there will be a
need to work collaboratively with colleagues and partners to ensure that the Council
maximises opportunities to provide access to the countryside and the wider natural
environment.

Page 54



5 Assessment of Use in Neath Port Talbot

5.0.1 In order to make the most of our Public Rights of Way, the wider countryside and
open space, there is a need to understand the extent that people make use of these
resources, the barriers to their use and measures that could be put in place to provide
better opportunities.

5.0.2 Where national surveys have already been undertaken, the Council has assessed
this data. In addition however, the Council has also directly sought the views of local
residents through a targeted consultation specifically on access to the countryside in Neath
Port Talbot.

5.1 National Survey for Wales (2016-2017)

5.1.1  NRW undertook a nationwide survey on outdoor recreation between 2016 and
2017 and the Council considers the findings to be relevant to Neath Port
Talbot. Respondents included people reporting relatively low participation in outdoor
recreation, with 81% of adults living in Wales taking part in one or more activity at least
once in the last 12 months. However, only a minority of people (18%) were ‘frequent’
participants, based on those who reported 20 or more visits to the outdoors in the last 4
weeks.

5.1.2 There were some differences in the demographics of people visiting the countryside,
with a higher proportion of men than women, more people living in rural areas than those
in urban areas and a decrease in visits with an increase in age.

5.1.3 Walking was by far the most common activity, at 72% of all adults, followed by
picnicking (31%) or taking children to the playground (31%). Local parks are clearly an
important resource, as these are the most frequently visited locations (30%), followed by
the beach or coast (19%) and woodland / forest (14%). Also of note, 47% of adults typically
travel less than a mile to visit the outdoors, demonstrating the importance of ‘doorstep’
opportunities in outdoor recreation.

Motivation and Barriers

5.1.4 The reasons for visiting sites seem to be different for each location. People visiting
the beach or coast do so for fresh air, relaxation and good weather, whilst visits to the hills
are more motivated by health and exercise. Not surprisingly, visits to parks are usually to
spend time with the family or entertain children.

5.1.5 For those reporting no visits in the last year, the most common reason that was
given was lack of time (28%), closely followed by physical disability (24%), other health
reasons (19%) and old age (19%). Only 2% said there was nowhere for them to go or that
they did not know where to go (1.7%).

5.1.6  For respondents who hadn’t visited the outdoors in the last 4 weeks, the most
common response was bad weather.

Page 55

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)



(610 Joquisydag - e uoneyNsuoD) 6Z0zZ-610Z Ueld Juawaroidwi Aep Jo siuBy - 19UN0Y Jog|el Hod YeaN

5.2 Neath Port Talbot Public Consultation (2017)

5.21 A targeted consultation was undertaken by the Council to assess the extent of
use and access to the countryside in Neath Port Talbot. A total of 106 responses were
received.

5.2.2 A significant proportion of respondents were frequent users of PROW, or the
countryside in general, with 37% visiting the countryside daily, and 46% visiting at least
weekly.

5.2.3 Oftype of area visited, country / urban parks were the first choice for most people,
closely followed by mountain / open moorland. When considering the total number of
choices made for this category (including 2", 3“, etc. options) however, the highest
categories: mountain / open moorland, woodland / forest and country / urban parks are
almost equal in popularity. Of note, farmland and pavement / country lane are least popular.

5.2.4 PROW were the most popular means to visit the countryside at 49%, with open
access land / publicly accessible space at 24%.

5.2.5 Interms of motivation for visiting the countryside, 40% of people cited health and
well-being, with dog walking / leisure in general, motivating approximately 20% each. Of
leisure, these were generally a combination of horse riding, walking, fishing and
photography. A smaller proportion of people (13%) cited family activity as their reason.

5.2.6 When asked whether it was easy to access the countryside, of the answers
received, 62% indicated yes and 38% no. Reasons used for this response included (for
yes), areas being accessible / easy to get to and from where people lived, good choice of
walks, although availability of / cost of parking was mentioned a few times as a constraint.
Of reasons cited for preventing people accessing the countryside, lack of information
(28%), lack of sighage / waymarking (22%), obstructions / accessibility issues (20%) were
the most popular responses.

5.2.7 When asked what measures could be put in place to encourage greater use of
the countryside, the strongest responses were better site based signage (54%), followed
by better parking / transport links (39%), suggestions on places to go (34%), with organised
activities and ideas for family activities being selected by 16% each.

5.2.8 For access to information on where to go, web based information was by far the
most popular answer, at 42% of responses received, followed by smart phone at 21%.
More traditional methods are still being used, with 14% of people preferring to use ordnance
survey maps and 11% preferring leaflets.

5.2.9 In addition, respondents were asked to identify specific areas that were important
to them and issues / areas that required improvement works. These responses will be
used to inform the work plan in the form of Delivery Plans, which will be produced on an
annual basis to support the delivery of this Improvement Plan.

Page 56



6 Evaluation

6.0.1 The first ROWIP provided the Council with a framework within which to deliver
positive change for countryside access. Local Authorities throughout Wales were fortunate
in being able to utilise a dedicated fund to support delivery of the Plan, in the form of the
Welsh Government 'Rights of Way Improvement Programme'. With the support of this
grant, the Council has delivered an annual programme of improvement works, with a
particular focus on increasing accessibility, improvement to structures and delivery of
promotional activities and resources.

6.0.2 Notable achievements include the creation of the Neath Port Talbot section of the
Wales Coast Path and the Great Dragon Bridleway, re-routing and re-launching St. llityd’s
Walk, a significant expansion in provision for cycling, creation of an online resource for
promoted walks and delivery of a wide range of activities to promote access to the
countryside and health. A more detailed breakdown of delivery against the ROWIP is
provided in Appendix B.

6.0.3 Despite these achievements, the Council recognises that challenges still exist.
There remain areas of the network that are overgrown or obstructed and there remain
deficiencies for horse riders, although the Great Dragon Ride has enhanced this provision.
Furthermore, it is clear that participation in the outdoor environment is still low for significant
proportions of the population and measures to address this will need to play a prominent
part in future action.

6.0.4 Progress has been made in processing legal orders, with the number of outstanding
legal orders greatly reduced. The need to deal with these remains, with issues to do with
historic anomalies on PROW that are shown going through housing estates becoming
increasingly prevalent over the last few years.

6.0.5 The overall aims and policy areas of the first ROWIP are still very relevant and
will be addressed as part of the revised Plan. Broadly, these were:

Definitive Map policies;

Public rights of way maintenance and improvement;

Enforcement;

Publicity and promotion; and

Management of countryside access other than public rights of way.

6.0.6 There have been a number of policy and legislative changes since the first ROWIP
was published and these will need to be considered in identifying what needs to be done
over the next 10 years. Most significantly, the '"Well-being of Future Generations Act'
requires the Council to take a holistic and sustainable approach to all activities and the
Council should be meeting the needs of our future generations through implementation
of this Plan.

Page 57

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)



(610 Joquisydag - e uoneyNsuoD) 6Z0zZ-610Z Ueld Juawaroidwi Aep Jo siuBy - 19UN0Y Jog|el Hod YeaN

6.1 Benefits of Public Rights of Way

6.1.1 The PROW network along with wider access provision, provides notable benefits
for:

Health

6.1.2 DEFRA published an evidence statement in 2017 that outlined the benefits between
health and the natural environment®. The statement recognised the role that access to
the natural environment had for well-being, particularly so for mental health.

6.1.3 The cited benefits included reductions in stress, fatigue, anxiety and depression,
together with evidence that these benefits may be most significant for marginalised groups.
Socio-economic inequality in mental well-being has been shown to be 40% narrower
among those who report good access to green / recreational areas, compared with those
with poorer access.

6.1.4 The report reinforces the concept that PROW, and other access to the countryside
/ natural environment, play a significant role in improving health and well-being, whilst
providing opportunities to reduce the impacts of socio-economic inequalities through
greater equality of access to green space.

6.1.5 'Green Infrastructure' is recognised as delivering multiple benefits for both urban
and rural residents, and opportunities should be taken to integrate access provision into
the delivery of green infrastructure, working collaboratively with partners and colleagues
across the Council.

Open Space / Recreation

6.1.6 Given that transport and mobility may be more limited for some members of our
communities, urban and semi-urban networks and parks will play an important role in the
provision of access for health, well-being and recreation.

6.1.7 Although not traditionally seen as a means to access the countryside, their role
in supporting more active lifestyles and enjoyment of the natural environment is significant,
either as destinations in their own right, or as stepping stones to accessing more rural
locations.

6.1.8 The more focused provision of facilities and surfaced paths offers greater access
opportunities to a much wider range of the public, who may not be able to access more
remote locations. Consequently, opportunities should be taken to improve access to, or
encourage use of, urban green space, alongside the wider countryside.

6 Maxwell, S & Lovell, R. (2017) 'Evidence Statement on the links between Natural Environments and Human
Health' (Defra and University of Exeter Meﬁ?cag$05



6 . Evaluation

Active Travel

6.1.9 Inrecognition of the need to increase physical activity and reduce carbon emissions,
promotion of more sustainable means of travel is now a high priority in Wales. The Council's
'Integrated Network Map' has identified key opportunities to create or improve commuter
routes for cycling and walking, and PROW are well placed to support delivery and linkages
to these routes.

Tourism

6.1.10 PROW also plays a key factor in economic development, in particular by
supporting the growth of the tourism economy. PROW create opportunities for connecting
visitors to rural and urban areas and enables access to natural assets such as waterfalls
and other key routes such as mountain bike trails.

6.1.11 In future, visitors will be looking for ‘undiscovered’ places to visit in addition to
existing, well-maintained, high profile routes so investment is crucial in maintaining and

creating visitor interest in our area.
6.2 Key Issues in Neath Port Talbot

6.2.1

The key issues that emerged from the assessments are summarised in the table

below, including the measures that will be taken to address the points.

Table 6.2.1 Key Issues & Targeted Action in Neath Port Talbot

Issue

Locally, PROW are the most popular means to
access countryside. Nationally, local access was
considered to be important.

Action

Maintain focus on maintenance and improvement
of PROW whilst continuing to take a holistic
approach to countryside access and access to local
green space.

Processing of legal orders remains a requirement,
with a need to address historic anomalies.

Retain provision for the processing of legal orders.

Locally, open moorland / forest / parks are almost
equal in popularity, whilst nationally, urban parks
are most popular.

Ensure access provision remains varied, providing
access to key areas of interest, including local
green space.

Walking is the most popular activity.

Deliver measures that support walking, focus on
footpaths, provision of information to promote new
routes and encourage new users.

Frequent users are low, and there is an inequality
in the demographics of users, seeing reduced use
by women, urban residents and older residents.

Introduce measures to encourage increased
participation, and in particular for low use groups;
engage with low use groups to ensure needs are
being met.

Page 59

_
[}
S
o
N
—
[}
e}
S
Q
3
Q.
[0}
n
1
=
i
[a)]
c
iel
S
©
=
3
2]
ey
o
S}
[}
N
o
Q
[e)}
>
o
[V}
c
©
o
o
C
(0]
€
[0
>
o
[oX
=
>
2
=
o
[2)
P
ey
2
[h's
1
‘©
c
=}
o
(@]
O
o
2
©
'_
b=
(o]
o
ey
<
@
[0
Z




P
o
D
—
>
Y
o
=
5
o
=]
-~
(@)
o
c
>
Q.
'
Y
«Q
>
—
(2]
o
=
5
<
3
°
=
]
<
[
3
()
3
—
3
D
o
N
o
-_—
®
N
o
N
©
—
(@)
o
>
]
c
—
o)
=
o
]
O
=
V)
=4
1
(]
(]
el
—
()
3
o
(0]
=
N
o
-
©
~

6 . Evaluation

Issue

Health is the biggest motivator for visiting the
countryside and countryside access is proven to
provide benefits for physical and mental health and
well-being.

Action

Actively pursue 'access for all routes', alongside
more challenging routes, providing the opportunity
for users to progress and increase fitness; work in
partnership to deliver activities that promote access
to the countryside for health benefits.

Nationally, family orientated activities (picnic or
playground) are the second most popular activity,
although locally, family activity is relatively low at
13%.

Work in partnership to deliver activities and provide
resources that encourage families to access the
countryside.

The maijority of people locally feel it is easy to
access the countryside, on the basis of areas being
accessible and a good choice of walks.

Maintain existing maintenance programme,
undertaking a process of continual assessment
with opportunity for revision.

38% of respondents locally feel that it is not easy
to access the countryside, citing lack of information
and signage as the primary reason, followed by
issues with obstructions.

Introduce further measures to provide information
on access to the countryside; continue with
programme of waymarking; continue to deal with
obstructions as they are identified and/or reported
by users.

Measures to put in place to encourage greater use
of the countryside include better site based
signage, then better parking/ transport, suggestions
on places to go, organised activities / ideas for
activities.

Promote easy / short / accessible routes; improve
and promote access for all routes; where possible,
identify parking / public transport options as part
of promotion of routes.

For access to information, web based followed by
smart phone most preferred.

Prioritise provision of information digitally, whilst
continuing to support the provision of leaflets where
appropriate.

Specific issues identified in localised areas.

Each to be assessed and/or addressed during first
year of the Delivery Plan, with remaining work to
be built into subsequent years work.

Access to the countryside is a key element of the
tourism economy.

Deliver initiatives that support the promotion of
Neath Port Talbot as a tourist destination.

PROW can support the aims of the Active Travel
Act.

Work collaboratively to support delivery of the
Integrated Network Map and to encourage walking
and cycling as a means of travel.

Page

60




7 Vision and Objectives

7.0.1 The 'Statement of Action' outlines the Council's vision for Neath Port Talbot and
the objectives that will be addressed as part of this Rights of Way Improvement Plan.

7.0.2 The objectives are designed to deliver against the needs identified in the
assessment, whilst also recognising the legislative processes that are required to underpin
delivery of the Plan. It will also provide a framework for the actions and activities to be
taken in delivering the requirements of this Plan.

Vision

That countryside access provision in Neath Port Talbot provides the best opportunity
possible for residents and visitors to enjoy the benefits that it provides.

7.0.3 Inworking towards this vision, the Council will adopt the principles of 'Sustainable
Management of Natural Resources'm, whilst also taking each opportunity to contribute
towards the well-being goals and objectives set for Neath Port Talbot.

Objectives

Objective 1: The Public Rights of Way network will be protected, maintained in good
condition and easy to use.

7.0.4 Actions will deliver against the following themes:

e  Routine Works - including maintenance, improvement, waymarking and inspection.

e  Enforcement and Negotiation - addressing obstructions such as overplanting and
illegal structures.

e  Strategic Planning - inputting to wider strategies and plans such as the Local
Development Plan, Active Travel, other highways policies, etc.

e Advice and Advocacy - advising on planning applications and works being undertaken
by the Council, partners and members of the pubilic.

Objective 2: Opportunities to improve access to wider countryside / green space will
be improved, working in partnership where necessary.

7.0.5 Actions will deliver against the following themes:

e Open Access - providing and improving signage.

7 https://cdn.naturalresources.wales/media/67831ﬂﬁg@ir@gmnr-booklet-english.pdf

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)



(610 Joquisydag - e uoneyNsuoD) 6Z0zZ-610Z Ueld Juawaroidwi Aep Jo siuBy - 19UN0Y Jog|el Hod YeaN

e  Public Open Space - ensuring that PROW that serves these areas meets the needs
of users.

e  Partnership Working - pursuing opportunities to deliver multiple benefits alongside
maintenance of PROW, through collaboration and advice.

Objective 3: Maintain a robust system to record and process information on public
rights of way and relevant countryside access.

7.0.6 Actions will deliver against the following themes:

e Definitive Map and Statement - kept up to date and an electronic mapping system is
in place to portray the map and statement.

e Claimed Rights of Way - continuing to process in line with policies for prioritisation.

e [Legal Orders - continuing to process in line with policies for prioritisation.

Objective 4: Public Rights of Way and other countryside access meet the needs of
users, now and for the future.

7.0.7 Actions will deliver against the following themes:

e Involvement - people will have the opportunity to inform works being carried out and
partnership working with the Local Access Forum and wider sectors will be actively
pursued to understand the needs of people who require additional measures to access
the countryside.

e Access for All - ensuring that maintenance and improvement works maximise the
opportunities for all users to access the countryside.

e  Monitoring and Evaluation - ensuring that the ROWIP, and associated Delivery Plans,
remain fit for purpose and meeting the needs of users.

Objective 5: Countryside access will be promoted, providing benefits for health and
well-being, tourism and recreation.

7.0.8 Actions will deliver against the following themes:

e  Provision of Information - to include improvements to online-material and further
exploration of digital technology.

e  Site-Based Signage - to support waymarking, and information points.

e  Engagement - through the provision of activities that encourage use of the natural
environment for health, recreation.

e  Partnership Working - raising awareness of the opportunities and benefits that the
natural environment provides.

Page 62



8 Policies

8.0.1 The following policies will be implemented in support of the delivery of the identified
objectives.

Maintenance / Improvement Works

Policy 1

Standards of maintenance will be based on an assessment of the historic nature and
use of the path. There will be a presumption to retain surfaces in a permeable / natural
state unless of priority as an easy access route.

Policy 2

Public Rights of Way which also carry private rights of access will be maintained in
accordance with the maintenance requirements of the public right only. Additional
access requirements as part of the private right will remain the responsibility of the
private user.

Policy 3

An annual maintenance programme is in place, addressing the needs of the most
frequently used paths. Additional work will be undertaken and/or added to the
maintenance programme on a priority basis, with highest priority given to those that
present a safety hazard to the public, followed by well used paths and then those that
have potential to be well-used / promoted.

Policy 4

Improvements to Public Rights of Way will be prioritised on a number of criteria, to
include current and potential levels of public use, potential to improve accessibility
and accessibility from public transport routes.

Page 63

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)



(6102 Jleaquisidag - Yeiq uoneynsuo)d) 6202-6102 ueld Juswaroidwi Aepp Jo sjybry - (1ounod jogiel Hod yiesN

Policy 5

There will be a presumption of least restrictive option and minimal use of structures
in response to applications for new furniture on Public Rights of Way. Stiles will no
longer be approved or installed by the Council unless a legitimate reason can be
demonstrated.

Policy 6

The Council will only erect new barriers on footpaths and bridleways to restrict vehicles
as a last resort and only where certain criteria are met, including evidence of illegal
use and where legitimate users are not disadvantaged.

Policy 7

Improvement and maintenance works will be carried out in accordance with all
legislative requirements in respect to biodiversity, including the biodiversity and
resilience of ecosystems statutory duty. All works will ensure biodiversity is maintained
and enhanced.

Legal Processes / Orders

Policy 8

Applications for making legal orders in respect of Public Rights of Way will be prioritised
using a suitable scoring matrix, taking into account health and safety, benefit to network
and wider Council strategies(a).

Policy 9

The Council will seek to resolve issues on Public Rights of Way through negotiation
with the landowner before resorting to legal proceedings.

8

Appendix C. Page 64



Policy 10

There will be a presumption against permitting Town and Country Planning Act
Diversions unless it can be proven that a Public Right of Way must be diverted to
enable the development to be carried out and where an acceptable and comparable
alternative route will be provided.

Financial Charges

Policy 11

The Council will recover from applicants the costs associated with making legal orders,
including full cost of advertising and costs incurred by the Council. If the change to
the path in question has some public benefit, the Council may decide to share the
cost of making the order.

Policy 12

The Definitive Map will be available for public inspection free of charge at the Council
Offices at Baglan Energy Park during normal office hours. Copies of the map will be
available to members of the public at a charge.

Policy 13
In response to Definitive Map enquiries by prospective purchasers or their agents,

written responses will incur a charge, in line with fees charged for similar enquiries of
the highway network.

Page 65

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)



ICles

8. Pol

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)

Page 66



9 Implementation and Monitoring
9.1 Annual Delivery Plans

9.1.1  'Annual Delivery Plans' will be developed, outlining the action that will be taken to
deliver against the Statement of Action, and ultimately the Rights of Way Improvement
Plan.

9.1.2 Each Delivery Plan will be informed by the framework provided by the Statement
of Action, a review of the previous year’s delivery plan (where relevant) and current
resources and funding availability. Issues identified as part of the assessment process will
be addressed within the Delivery Plans.

9.1.3 The Delivery Plan will be held by the Countryside and Wildlife Team, and may be
updated in response to more urgent priorities coming to light during the year. Activities
that are delayed for such reasons, will be rescheduled for delivery in the following year.

9.2 Delivery Mechanism and Funding

9.2.1 Delivery of the ROWIP will be led by the Countryside and Wildlife Team, within
the Planning and Public Protection Department of the Council. Whilst the responsibility
for Public Rights of Way falls to this team, the ROWIP carries a wider vision for countryside
access, recreation, health and well-being and tourism. This will require a collaborative
approach between many departments of the Council, to maximise the benefits that this
Plan can deliver.

9.2.2 Current funding for delivery of this Plan is reliant on existing resources within the
Council's core budget. The Welsh Government Rights of Way Improvement Programme
no longer exists, therefore significant improvement works will require efforts to secure
external funding.

9.2.3 The Local Access Forum will also play a role in delivery of the Plan, through the
provision of advice and through the role that its members has in promoting access to the
countryside. Furthermore, opportunities to work collaboratively with other external partners
will be pursued.

9.3 Monitoring and Evaluation

9.3.1 Atthe end of every 3 years, a more comprehensive review and evaluation process
will be undertaken, assessing effectiveness of the policies and actions being taken. The
outcome of the review will be reported to Council and the Local Access Forum, whilst
providing the opportunity to make changes to key policies of the Plan.

9.3.2 As part of the third review (Year 9), an assessment will be undertaken to assess
future delivery of the ROWIP and a potential full review of the Plan.

Page 67

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)



o)
c
-
(®]
—
c
O
=
©
c
©
c
o
ﬁ
(1]
)
c
()
£
Q2
(o
=

9.

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)

Page 68



Appendix A: Legal Processes

A. Procedure for Applications for Diversion, Extinguishment and Creation Orders
(generally based on consent)

A.1 To make an application to divert, extinguish or create a Public Right of Way, please
contact the Rights of Way Officer on 01693 686868 or countryside@npt.gov.uk

A.2 The applicant will then be provided with the application forms that must be completed
and returned. It is recommended that the applicant meets with the Rights of Way Officer
to discuss the proposal and understand what additional information may be required.

A.3 An application form will need to be accompanied by:

e An Ordnance Survey Map detailing the proposal;
e  Proof of ownership of all land involved with the proposal and consent from all parties,
if other landowners are involved; and

e Confirmation of acceptance of any charging policy.

B. Procedure for Applications for New Public Rights of Way (based on user and /
or historic evidence)(g)

A.4 To make an application for a new Public Rights of Way on user and/or historic
evidence, the person who will be identified as the ‘Main Applicant’ should contact the
Rights of Way Officer on 01639 686868 or countryside@npt.gov.uk

A.5 The process will be conducted in two stages:
Stage 1

A.6  The Main Applicant will be provided with official evidence forms and maps for the
proposed new path. Ideally, the forms should be completed by at least 10 people who
have used the path for a period of at least 20 years.

A.7 Each completed evidence form will need to be accompanied by an Ordnance Survey
Map detailing the proposed new Public Right of Way.

A.8 The Main Applicant must also provide proof of ownership for the entire length of the
new path. The Land Registry will be able to supply a copy of the title plan and schedule.

Stage 2

A.9 The Main Applicant will meet with the Rights of Way Officer, who will review the
evidence forms, OS maps of the claimed path and the land Registry Information.

A.10 If everything is in order the Main Applicant will be required to complete three
notices:

9 There is no charge for this process. Page 69

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)



Appendix A: . Legal Processes

e One advising the Council as to the nature of the application;

e One to be sent to each owner of the new path (with assistance from the Rights of
Way Officer); and

e One advising the Council that the owners have been notified.

A.11  Where the land is unregistered, with no information being held by Land Registry,
the Main Applicant will be required to erect a copy of the notice, with a plan, on site for at
least 28 days. The Rights of Way Officer will assist with this process.

A.12 Following the 28 days the Main Applicant will again meet the Rights of Way Officer
and complete the remaining two notices:

e One advising the Council as to the nature of the application; and
e One advising the Council that the owners have been notified (via the site notice).

(61,02 Joquisydag - Jeiq UoNE}NSUOD) 6202-6102 UEld Juswanoidwi ABpA JO SHUBRY - [1DUNOD JOG[EL HOd UIesN

Page 70



Appendix B: . ROWIP (2008-2018) - Evaluation of Delivery

Appendix B: ROWIP (2008-2018) - Evaluation of Delivery

Table B.0.1 Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2008-2018) - Evaluation of Delivery

POLICY AREA DM: DEFINITIVE MAP

DM: Introduction

The Map can only be amended through the legal order making
process, and the authority undertakes this area of work through
an agency agreement between the Council’s legal officers and
those in the City and County of Swansea.

Due to efficiency savings, the agency agreement
was cut and the legal function in relation to Rights
of Way has been undertaken by Neath Port Talbot’s
Legal Section since January, 2015.

DM1: Continuous Review of the Definitive Map

Keep the Definitive Map under continuous review in accordance
with the requirements of Section 53 of the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981.

Changes to the network are currently kept as a separate, but
complementary, record. This has not caused any managerial
problems to date but, nevertheless, the authority does intend
to make a composite legal event order during the plan period
which will formally allow the changes to be recorded on the
Map itself, and it will then be republished with a new relevant
date

The Council has continued to process applications
under section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act
as well as other legal orders.

Due to budgetary pressures and limited staff
resources, this has not been achieved. Due to
potential changes on the legal process by the Welsh
Government on the legal process this will be
revisited when any changes are confirmed.

DM2: Priority for making Legal Orders in respect of Public
Rights of Way

(i) Orders for the diversion or extinguishment of footpaths and
bridleways made under the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 which are necessary for development to take place.

(i) Orders for the diversion or stopping up of public rights of
way made under the Highways Act 1980.

(iii) Definitive Map Modification Orders for adding new public
rights of way to the Definitive Map based on evidence of public
usage.

(iv) Definitive Map Anomalies.

(v) Orders to register historic public rights (CROW Act Sections
53 to 56).

Legal orders were undertaken in accordance with
this order of priority, as follows:

(i) None since 2015 (no requests)
(i) 3 since 2015. 3 remaining

(iii) 16 since 2015. 14 remaining
(iv) none since 2015. 65 remaining

(v) none since 2015. 0 remaining

DM3: Temporary Orders for Diversion or Closure of Public
Rights of Way

It will be the policy of the Council to make orders for the
temporary diversion or closure of public rights of way, where
appropriate, on the request of landowners or statutory
undertakers. Orders of this nature are usually made within six
weeks of the request, and this period allows time for statutory
notices to be placed in the press.

Since 2008 the Council has processed 62 temporary
closures on the rights of way network, they majority
of which were to allow forestry operations to take
place, on safety grounds.

Page 71

_
[}
S
o
N
—
[}
e}
S
Q
3
Q.
[0}
n
1
=
i
[a)]
c
iel
S
©
=
3
2]
ey
o
S}
[}
N
o
Q
[e)}
>
o
[V}
c
©
o
o
C
(0]
€
[0
>
o
[oX
=
>
2
=
o
[2)
P
ey
2
[h's
1
‘©
c
=}
o
(@]
O
o
2
©
'_
b=
(o]
o
ey
<
@
[0
Z




(61,02 Joquisydag - Jeiq UoNE}NSUOD) 6202-6102 UEld Juswanoidwi ABpA JO SHUBRY - [1DUNOD JOG[EL HOd UIesN

Appendix B: . ROWIP (2008-2018) - Evaluation of Delivery

DM4: Charges for certain types of Legal Order which affect
Public Rights of Way

It will be the policy of the County Borough Council to make an
appropriate charge for certain types of legal order:

° Developers and statutory undertakers who require
temporary or permanent orders, will be expected to pay
for the costs incurred in making the order.

° Landowners who require orders to be made which are
primarily for their own benefit will be charged the full cost
of the order. If the change to the path in question has
some public benefit, then the Council may decide to share
the cost of making the order.

° If the Council itself wishes to change the location of a
public path because it is in the public interest, the council
will pay for the order.

Policy implemented. With exception to orders in the
public interest, the Council currently charges £1,250
(including a £1,000 legal fee) for a temporary or
permanent diversion. This does not include
advertising costs which are charged separately.

DMS5: Public Inspection of the Definitive Map

The Definitive Map will be available for public inspection free
of charge at the Council Offices at Baglan Energy Park during
normal office hours. Copies of the map will be available to
members of the public at a charge set by the Service Level
Agreement with the Ordnance Survey.

The Definitive Map and Statement are available for
viewing, etc., as per the policy.

DM6: Definitive Map Land Charges Enquiries

The Countryside Section will respond to Land Charges Section
within ten working days regarding public rights of way enquiries
on Part 2 of the CON 29 search form.

Policy implemented and achieved.

DM7: Additional Definitive Map Enquiries by Prospective
Purchasers or their Agents

If the request requires only a verbal reply, the information will
be given free of charge. If a written response is required, the
County Borough Council will provide this additional information
on payment of an appropriate fee which is consistent with the
fee charged for similar enquiries of the main highway network.

Policy implemented and achieved.

DM8: Protecting Public Rights of Way from Development.

The Countryside Section will respond to the Planning Section
within 21 days regarding applications for planning consent which
affect public rights of way.

Policy implemented and achieved.

POLICY AREAS M & IP: MAINTENANCE AND IMPROVEMENT

The County Borough Council has a statutory duty to maintain public rights of way under Section 41 of the
Highways Act 1980, and it also has a wide range of powers to improve them under the same Act. Section 60

of the CROW Act provides the authority with a duty to include measures to improve the network of public
rights of way in its ROWIP, and this is a clear indication that highway authorities are expected to use their
powers of improvement. The policies in this section provide the basis on which maintenance and improvement
work will be carried out during the plan period.

Page 72




M1: Improving performance in maintaining the Rights of
Way Network

The Wales Data Unit Performance Indicator on rights of way
will continue to be the main means by which the achievement
of improved standards will be measured. Over the plan period,
the council will aim to increase the proportion of the path
network which is in a condition that is fit for purpose.

M2: Standards of Path Maintenance

The Council has a duty to keep a highway in a safe and fit
condition for the ordinary traffic of the neighbourhood at all
times of the year. In practice, this means that the standard of
maintenance which is appropriate for each right of way has to
be based on its historic character and use. The Council will
continue to base its maintenance duties on an assessment of
the historic nature and use of the path.

M3: Maintenance Priorities

The Council has an annual programme of routine maintenance
work but often additional work has to be carried out urgently in
the interests of public safety. The Council will undertake the
work on a priority basis:

(i) Where a problem is discovered on a well used path and it is
a potential safety hazard to the public, the remedial work will
be regarded as top priority and it will be carried out as soon as
possible.

(i) A hazard discovered on a little used path will be treated as
high priority in the interests of public safety.

(iii) If a problem is discovered on a very well used path, but it
is not an immediate safety hazard, this will be next in priority
after safety issues.

(iv) Non urgent work on paths which are little used will be the
lowest priority.

M4: Methods of Implementation

The Countryside Section will manage the maintenance and
improvement programmes, by the means outlined below:

(i) Countryside Project Team: This is a team of two workers
based in Unit 20 at the Crynant Business Park, where stocks
of materials and equipment are held.

(ii) Contractors: The Council will continue to employ
experienced contractors to carry out maintenance work where
their skill and expertise is required.

(iii) Community Council Path Maintenance Scheme: Since
1996, the Council has offered 75% grants to Community
Councils in order for them to undertake approved maintenance
on public rights of way.

The Performance Indicators were downgraded from
being compulsory to optional. Due to budgetary
pressures the decision was taken to cease
monitoring against the indicator, however
maintenance of the Network continued as normal.

Policy implemented.

The Council has continued to undertake the annual
programme of routine maintenance and paths are

added to the list as and when it is expedient to do

SO.

The system of prioritising non-routine work has
continued to be implemented and has worked well,
enabling the Council to target its resources
effectively.

Maintenance and improvement works have
continued to be overseen by the Countryside and
Wildlife Team (formerly Countryside Section) by the
means outlined, with the following changes:

The Countryside Project Team has relocated to the
Council building at the Quays, with storage at the
adjacent Service Response Centre.

Due to budgetary pressures, the Community Council
Path Maintenance Scheme was revised. The
Council now offers a fixed grant for the distance of
Public Rights of Way being maintained by the Town
/ Community Councils, of which three are now
partaking.

Page 73

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)



(6102 Jleaquisidag - Yeiq uoneynsuo)d) 6202-6102 ueld Juswaroidwi Aepp Jo sjybry - (1ounod jogiel Hod yiesN

The Council will welcome the continuing support of the
Community Councils during the plan period.

(iv) Neath Port Talbot Highways Staff: Each year, part of the
structural maintenance work is undertaken by Council highway
staff. This is work which is beyond the scope of the rights of
way contractors, and includes the repair of tarmacadam
surfaces and major footbridges which are more than 10 metres
in length.

(v) Landowners: Where appropriate and cost effective, to carry
out work on paths which cross their land.

(vi) Volunteers: Where public liability cover can by provided
by the volunteer group itself.

IP1: Priorities for Public Rights of Way Improvement

The criteria below will be used to determine priorities for
improvements to the Public Rights of Way network. Highest
priority will be given to:

° Paths which provide communities with access to attractive
areas of countryside or coast. Additional factors will be
the level of public use and public pressure for
improvement.

° Paths which can be improved to provide access to the
countryside for people with mobility problems, or improve
the safety of the path for all users.

° Paths which provide access to the countryside from public
transport routes.

° Paths which are little used but have the potential to be
well used following improvement works.

° Paths which are located in Communities First areas of
the authority, or help meet the objectives of the Western
Valleys Strategy.

° Paths which are located in the coastal area and will
contribute to the achievement of an all Wales coast path
with associated access improvements.

IP2: Improvement of Structures on Public Rights of Way
The Council has an on going programme of stile and gate
replacement, with the aim of improving the accessibility of the
path network by replacing structures which are easier to use.

There will be a presumption in favour of:

(i) Replacing existing stiles on public footpaths with self latching
kissing gates,

(i) Replacing gates on bridleways with bridlegates which meet
British Horse Society standards wherever possible.

IP3: Approval for new stiles and gates on footpaths and
bridleways

Page 74

The Council has run an annual programme of
improvements works throughout the duration of the
Plan, primarily funded through Welsh Government
ROWIP (Rights of Way Improvement Programme)
grant funding, initially set at £57K, reducing to £35K
by 2018.

The grant funding was utilised to carry out
improvement works and undertake promotional and
engagement activities to encourage use of the
Public Rights of Way Network and access to the
wider countryside.

Improvement activities were prioritised in line with
this policy and within the ROWIP grant criteria.

The ROWIP grant was cut in 2018 therefore future
improvement and promotional work will be
undertaken where funding can be secured.

Policy implemented, with an active programme of
replacement with easy access structures. The
Council no longer installs stiles on the network.

Policy implemented, taking into account potential
loss of enjoyment of the path.



Appendix B: . ROWIP (2008-2018) - Evaluation of Delivery

Where landowners wish to erect new fence lines across a Public
Right of Way;, it will be the policy of the Council to approve
applications for new structures which meet the statutory
requirements, and which do not adversely affect the public
enjoyment of the path to an unacceptable degree.

IP4: Erection of barriers to restrict vehicles

The Council will only erect new barriers on footpaths and
bridleways as a last resort and only if the following criteria are
met:

(i) There is strong evidence that the path is being used by
unauthorised vehicular traffic.

(ii) If there are any private vehicular rights along the path, all
those persons holding such rights will have to agree to the type
of barrier being proposed.

(iii) The physical nature of the site of the proposed barrier will
allow the installation of a barrier which cannot be easily
by-passed.

(iv) It will be possible to provide a barrier that will enable the
passage of all categories of user, including those with mobility
problems. If the whole length of the path is of a width and
gradient that enables it to be used by disabled persons, then
a barrier which allows the passage of wheel chair users will be
appropriate.

The Council has seen an increase in requests from
landowners for structures to help combat the
increasing illegal off-road vehicle use. The Council
has implemented this policy in deciding on the
structure, if any, that should be installed.

Wherever possible, other measures to curtail misuse
have been explored first, such as seeking
involvement of the Police. Every effort has been
made to establish whether there are private access
rights and where these exist, structures have not
been erected without the agreement of all parties.

IP5: Improvement of path surfaces

The criteria set out in Policy IP1 will be used to determine the
paths to be improved and the nature of the works to be
undertaken, recognising future maintenance requirements of
such works. Typically the work will entail the following:

(i) Providing rolled aggregate surfaces on previously unsurfaced
paths.

(i) Providing additional drainage on waterlogged paths.

(iii) Construction of steps on steep slopes to encourage greater
public use.

(iv) Constructing footbridges where none previously existed to
improve the accessibility of the paths to the whole community.

POLICY AREA E: ENFORCEMENT

See response to IP1 above.

Under Section 130 of the Highways Act 1980 the County Borough Council, as highway authority, has a duty

to assert and protect the public right to use the highways in its administrative area, and this includes Public
Rights of Way.

E1: Priorities for removing obstructions on Public Rights
of Way

Policy implemented where required.

Page' 75

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)




(6102 Jleaquisidag - Yeiq uoneynsuo)d) 6202-6102 ueld Juswaroidwi Aepp Jo sjybry - (1ounod jogiel Hod yiesN

The criteria which the Council will use to prioritise the workload
are set out below:

(i) High Priority

(a) Where members of the public are prevented from using the
path by intimidating or aggressive behaviour by, or on behalf
of the landowner, this will be regarded as an immediate priority,
and the police will be involved if appropriate.

(b) Recently erected structures on well used public rights of
way which are subject of numerous public complaints.

(c) Obstructions on well used paths which are a safety hazard,
such as barbed wire fences, locked gates with barbed wire on
them, metal barriers with sharp edges, seriously defective stiles
or gates.

(d) Encroaching vegetation on well used paths which is a
responsibility of the landowner to cut back.

(e) Obstructions which have been subject of a notice served
on the authority under Section 130A of the Highways Act 1980.

These five categories are all regarded as top priority, but which
of them will be regarded as first priority at any point in time, will
depend on the circumstances of each case.

(ii)) Medium Priority

If the problems listed in points a) to d) above are discovered
on paths which are not currently well used, but have the
potential to be well used, they will be treated as medium priority.
Such problems may be discovered through routine monitoring,
or by receiving a first complaint from the public.

(iii) Low Priority

Where the authority discovers obstructions on little used parts
of the network which have not been subject of any public
complaint, they will be treated as low priority.

E2: Procedure to be used to secure the removal of
obstructions

The Council will adopt the following procedure when dealing
with any obstructions on Public Rights of Way:

(i) Determine the identity of the landowner responsible for the
obstruction. Where this is not the case, the authority will carry
out a search of Land Registry records. Where there is no record
of land ownership, the Council will use its powers under Section
143 of the Highways Act 1980 to serve a notice requiring the
removal of the obstruction.

(ii) If the landowner can be identified, the authority will make
contact in order to request the removal of the obstruction. In
most cases a discussion with the landowner will result in the
removal of the obstruction. In appropriate circumstances,
particularly where the obstructions have not beﬁ intention,@nb
age

Policy implemented. Enforcement is seen as the
last resort and it is unusual to not succeed in
resolving an issue through negotiation or
agreement. Whilst there has been occasion to serve
legal notices in relation to obstructions, each has
been resolved without needing to seek prosecution
at Court.



the Council may assist in the removal of obstructions by
providing stiles or gates as part of its path improvement
programme. In such instances landowners will be informed that
they will remain primarily responsible for future maintenance
of the structures. This approach is in accordance with the duty
of the authority to secure an improved rights of way network
which is set out in Section 60(b) of the CROW Act 2000.

(iii) In situations where a landowner refuses to remove an
obstruction, this is a criminal offence under Section 137 of the
Highways Act 1980, and the Council will seek a prosecution of
the offender in the magistrates Court.

P1: Improving Publicity and Promotion

The Council will improve the provision of information on
countryside access by the following means:

(i) Create a countryside access point on the Council’s website
which will contain information on the types of public access
available in the County Borough. The site will contain
information on public access rights and also on the
responsibilities expected of the public when enjoying access
to private land. The site will be linked to the National Access
data base being established by CCW, and this will assist
members of the public who live outside the area to find
information on local access opportunities if they are planning
to visit the area.

(ii) Increase the range of access information leaflets produced
by the Council, and include the information on the countryside
access point on the Council website. The Local Access Forum
will be consulted on the form and content of the material that
will be produced.

(iii) Make access information available at public buildings
throughout the County Borough, including those provided by
Community Councils.

(iv) Work with members of the Local Access Forum to distribute
information through organisations with which they are involved.

(v) Promote the use of public access to the countryside for the
benefit of public health. This will be in accordance with the aims
of the Neath Port Talbot Physical Activity Plan, and will be done
as a corporate exercise and in conjunction with outside
organisations.

(vi) Signposting and waymarking is an ongoing task undertaken
under the maintenance and improvement programmes, as
described above. The authority will attempt to increase the
proportion of the network which is adequately signed and
waymarked by 1% a year in line with Policy M1, and priorities
for this work will be as described in that Policy. However,
additional priority will be given to signposting or waymarking
promoted paths or access areas, including those in the coastal
zone.

(i) Action achieved. See
www.npt.gov.uk/countrysideaccess.

N.B. The National Access database was not
established therefore no link to this page was
possible.

(i) Production of leaflets has been carried out and
have either been distributed locally or are available
on the website (see www.npt.gov.uk/countryside),
including the new series of Wildlife Walks. However,
given an increasing demand for web-based
information and the need to reduce waste, efforts
have been focused on creating an online, interactive
walking map, with the ability to edit / update walks
as needed. See www.npt.gov.uk/walking.

(iii) See (ii) above. Whilst leaflets have been shared
at information points where they exist, the focus to
provide information has been through the online
map.

New initiatives and routes for promotion have been
communicated to Forum members to share with
local members of their organisations.

(v) Due to budgetary savings, staff resources to
deliver activities as a corporate exercise has been
limited. However, use has been made of external
funding to work collaboratively with partners to
deliver health focused activities such as the Council
run ‘Working with Nature’ Project ‘ and Actif Woods’
Project (delivery partner Small Woods Association
/ Coed Lleol). Each of these projects have
encouraged access to the wider countryside through
engagement and delivery of health focused
activities.

(vi) The Council has continued to sign and waymark
the network and is committed to renew and replace
signs that form part of significant and / or promoted
routes. New signage was designed and installed
for the Wildlife Walks and more recently, the St.
lliityd’s Walk was re-routed, and signage updated,
as part of a collaborative project with the Ramblers

Page 77

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)


http://www.npt.gov.uk/countrysideaccess
http://www.npt.gov.uk/countryside
http://www.npt.gov.uk/walking

(6102 Jleaquisidag - Yeiq uoneynsuo)d) 6202-6102 ueld Juswaroidwi Aepp Jo sjybry - (1ounod jogiel Hod yiesN

CA1: Management of open access land provided under the
CROW Act 2000, and common land

The County Borough Council will ensure that open access land
provided under the CROW Act 2000 is accessible to the public,
and this includes areas of common land which previously had
no public rights of access.

The Council will consider public requests for additional means
of entry to access land, and in consultation with landowners,
will assist in providing the necessary structures subject to the
availability of funding.

CA2: Management of access land owned by the County
Borough Council.

The County Borough Council owns considerable areas of
countryside which are already open to public access. This
includes the country parks at Margam, and the Gnoll as well
as land within Afan Forest Park.

The Countryside Section will continue to support efforts to
improve public access to land in Council ownership, and will
work in partnership with Council land managers on specific
projects.

CA3: Management of Long Distance Trails.

The Council considers that the maintenance and waymarking
of the long distance trails which pass through the County
Borough should be considerably improved. This can only be
achieved through partnership working with the adjacent local
authorities and the Forestry Commission, because some
sections of the trails are permissive routes on FC land and they
are not public rights of way. A coordinated approach to the
work is essential and a group has already been set up to
programme work on the Coed Morgannwg way. It is proposed
that this will be extended to include the development of other
waymarked trails, in order to ensure that they are managed
more effectively.

The Council will survey the former Cerdded Bro Nedd in order
to re-establish this waymarked walk around the Vale of Neath.

CAA4: Development of the Rural Cycle Network

The County Borough Council will improve and extend the access
available to cyclists in the plan period by the following means:

Page 78

Association. However, due to staff pressures, data
is not available to quantify the percentage of the
network that is fully waymarked.

The Council has a power (not duty) to provide new
access provision onto open access land. Requests
to provide additional means of access onto common
land have been very limited, however additional
access points were provided at the Common at
Barry Road, Lower Brynamman.

The Council continues to provide public access to
extensive areas of countryside, including Country
Parks and Local Nature Reserves. In addition,
urban green space provides opportunities to access
and benefit from the natural environment. Budget
pressures have reduced the Council’s resources in
maintaining and improving these areas, however
greater use has been made of external funding,
community engagement and partnership working to
ensure these sites remain open and accessible to
the public. The Countryside and Wildlife Team
(formerly Countryside and Biodiversity teams) have
supported these activities and continued to ensure
that Public Rights of Way are maintained within
these areas.

Due to budgetary savings and reduction in staff,
opportunities to improve our long distance trails have
been limited, resulting in a need to prioritise on
routes.

The Coed Morgannwg Way and Cerdded Bro Nedd
are no longer actively promoted, however Ridgeway
path and St llityd’s Walk are still promoted, with an
extensive re-routing and waymarking programme
having been undertaken for St. llityd’s Walk. In
addition, a new long distance bridleway has been
established; in partnership with the British Horse
Society; The Great Dragon Ride, which links North
Wales to South Wales, finishing at Margam Park.

The Council works where possible to develop and
improve provisions for both horse riders and cyclists:

(i) Work undertaken as part of the Red Dragon Ride
and schemes undertaken on Byway 1 Port Talbot
and Byway 10 Tonna.



(i) Improving the standards of maintenance of bridleways and
byways through the policies in this plan.

(ii) Working in partnership with the Forestry Commission to
provide waymarked trails in the forest plantations.

(iii) Extending the rural cycle network in the valley and coastal
areas of the authority area. The following work is proposed to
be undertaken in the plan period:

(a) Cycleway link between Aberafan Seafront and the Afan
Forest Park

(b) Cycleway link between Aberafan Seafront and Brunel Dock

(c) Cycleway link between the Celtic Trail and the Goytre to
Bryn Cycleway.

(d) Completion of the Amman Valley Cycleway between
Cwmllynfell and Lower Brynamman, in partnership with
Carmarthenshire County Council.

(e) Completion of National Cycle Route 46 between Neath and
Glynneath

(iv) Developing waymarked cycle trails in the forest plantations

(v) Providing better publicity on the availability of cycling in
Neath Port Talbot.

CA5: Access to the Canal network in Neath Port Talbot

In terms of public access, the Council recognises the importance
of the canal network to persons with mobility problems and will
aim to:

(i) Maintain the sections of canal which are registered public
rights of way to a high standard which will enable their use by
all members of the community.

(i) Maintain public access to the Swansea Canal Nature
Reserve between Ynysmeudwy and Ystalyfera.

(iii) Continue to promote public access to the remainder of the
canal network under on-going access agreements.

CAG6: Coastal Access Improvement Programme

The County Borough Council is committed to participating in
the national Coastal Access Improvement Programme which
is being implemented as a partnership between the coastal
local authorities and CCW.

(ii) NRW (formerly Forestry Commission) have
constructed numerous mountain bike trails in the
Afan Valley.

(i) See below.
(a) Completed in 2013.

(b) A potential route has been identified through the
Energy Park, however delivery would be dependent
on opportunities to be pursued through
development.

(c) As part of the Welsh Government’s Active Travel
fund in 18/19 a feasibility study looked at the route
between Celtic Trail (NCN4) and Goytre to Bryn
Cycleway. Funding opportunities are now being
explored.

(d) The cycle route is largely complete from Garnant
to Cwmllynfell, with a short gap near the Washery
site in Lower Brynamman.

(e) A feasibility study was undertaken in 2018/19
identifying where future improvements could be
made to the NCN between Neath and Resolven.

(iv) See (ii) above.

(v) A cycle leaflet has been produced showing the
cycle routes in the County Borough, see
www.npt.gov.uk/cycling. In collaboration with
Swansea Council a scheme called Swansea Bay
Cycle Routes aimed to promote cycle routes for
commuting in the County Borough, see
www.cycleswanseabay.org.uk

Access provision to the canal network has been
maintained with surface improvement works carried
out on significant sections, either as part of Active
Travel, Wales Coast Path or ROWIP funded
schemes. The canal towpaths remain in good
condition and are well used by the public.

The Wales Coast Path was opened on 5 May 2012,
and offers a 870-mile (1,400 km) walking route from
Chepstow in the south to Queensferry, Flintshire,
in the north.

Page' 79

Neath Port Talbot Council - Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2019-2029 (Consultation Draft - September 2019)


http://www.npt.gov.uk/cycling
http://www.cycleswanseabay.org.uk/

Appendix B: . ROWIP (2008-2018) - Evaluation of Delivery

The project will have two main aims: Due to restrictions along the coastline in Neath Port
Talbot, two routes were opened in Neath Port
(i) To create an All Wales Coastal Path. Itis envisaged that | Talbot, an upland and lowland route. In addition to
this will be completed by 2012. utilisation of existing routes, a new Public Right of
Way was created to enable access into Kenfig
(ii) To carry out other coastal access improvements withina | National Nature Reserve in Bridgend, and an access

notional 2km strip inland of the high water mark. agreement was secured to create a new permissive
route from Briton Ferry along the coastline to

Aberafan Seafront.

Z
(0]
Q
=
=
T
o
=3
)
o
o]
=4
(@)
o
c
=]
Q.
1
)
«Q
=
=
7]
o
=3
5
<
3
el
-
o
<
(]
3
[0]
3
=
3
Q
=]
N
o
—
o
N
o
N
o
—_
(@)
o
>
(2]
=3
=
Q
=
o
=]
o
~
Q
=
1
wn
[¢)
el
S
(0]
3
o
[0)
=
N
o
-
O
-

Page 80



Appendix C: . Priority Criteria for Claimed PROW and Other Orders

Appendix C: Priority Criteria for Claimed PROW and Other
Orders

Table C.0.1 Priority Criteria for Claimed PROW and Other Orders (e.g. Downgrading
and Extinguishment)

CRITERIA ‘ POINTS ‘

Path has recently been obstructed:

(a) Where the obstruction renders the path inaccessible 10
(b) Where the obstruction results in access being inconvenient 2
Threatened by development 10
Currently in use or in use just prior to claim 4

(That is, it is not a retrospective claim based on use which has long ceased, but there is a demand, well
supported)

Fills a gap in the network (useful short cut), contributes significantly to the ROWIP or is of strategic importance. | 2
This may include re-alignment

Elderly users 4

(There is a risk the evidence will be lost, could create a significant delay or additional work in assessing
evidence, resulting in a failed claim which would otherwise had better prospects)

Access to sites of historic, scientific or scenic interest 1

Used by a wide section of the public:

(a) Would benefit the wider community e.g. less able people, use by push chairs and multi reasons for use | 2
i.e. attend school, surgery, Post Office, shops, bus stops

_
[}
5
o
N
—
[}
e}
S
Q
b5
Q.
[0}
n
1
=
i
[a)]
c
iel
S
©
=
3
2]
ey
o
S
[}
N
o
Q
[e)}
&
o
[V}
c
©
o
o
C
(0]
€
[0
>
o
[oX
E
>
2
=
o
[2)
P
ey
2
[h's
1
‘©
c
=}
o
(@]
O
o
2
©
'_
b=
(o]
o
ey
<
@
[0
Z

(b) Claimed bridleway, could benefit three categories of users 2

Avoids busy roads and/or improves public safety 2

Application to delete/downgrade/re-align:

(a) Affects promoted route or regional trail )
(b) Where evidently an error exists 10
Application supported by 6 or less 0
Application supported by 10 to 20 1
Application supported by over 20 2
Application outstanding for up to 5 years 1
Application outstanding for up to 6-10 years 2
Application outstanding for up to 11-15 years 3
Application outstanding for up to 16-20 years 4




Appendix C: . Priority Criteria for Claimed PROW and Other Orders

C.1 Any application that does not score any points will be prioritised according to the
date the application was made.

(6102 4oquieydag - Jeiq Uone}NSuUoD) 62026102 Ueld Juswanoidwi AepA JO SJUBTY - 1DUNOD JOg[eL HOd UleaN

Page 82



Page 83



Neath Port Talbot Council

A‘ﬁ‘ Cyngor Castell-nedd Port Talbot
———
—




Appendix 2 — ROWIP (2019-2029) First Stage Integrated Impact Assessment

1. Details of the Initiative:

Initiative Description/Summary: Consultation Draft of Rights of Way Improvement Plan, setting out the means by which the Council intends to improve and
promote access to the countryside across the County over the next 10 years.

Service Area: Planning and Public Protection

Directorate: Environment

2. Does the initiative affect:

Religion/Belief

Sex

Yes No
Service Users v
Staff v
U | Wider Community v
g Internal administrative process only
D
% 3. Does the initiative impact on people because of their:
Yes No | None/ Don’t Impact | Reasons for your decision (including evidence)/How might it
Negligible Know H/M/L impact?
Age v
Disability v
Gender Reassignment v
Marriage/Civil Partnership Y Plan is intended to be inclusive aiming at encouraging greater use of
Pregnancy/Maternity v Public Rights of Way and the wider countryside by all community
Race v members.
v
v
v

Sexual orientation




9g abed

4. Does the initiative impact on:

Yes No | None/ Don’t | Impact | Reasons for your decision (including evidence used) / How might it
Negligible know | H/M/L impact?
People’s opportunities to 4 Plan will be inclusive aiming at encouraging all community members to be
use the Welsh language involved. Plan and all public communications will be bilingual.
Treating the Welsh v Plan will be inclusive aiming at encouraging all community members to be
language no less involved. Plan and all public communications will be bilingual.
favourably than English
5. Does the initiative impact on biodiversity:
Yes | No | None/ Don’t | Impact | Reasons for your decision (including evidence) /
Negligible know | H/M/L How might it impact?
Service Assessment has been carried as part of the Biodiversity Duty Plan
To maintain and enhance v L requirements, and appropriate working practices are in place to avoid impact
biodiversity on biodiversity. Policy for the protection of biodiversity is embedded into the
ROWIP.
- Service Assessment has been carried as part of the Biodiversity Duty Plan
To promote the resilience requirements. Appropriate working practices are in place to allow continuation
of ecosystems, i.e. of necessary works whilst minimising any impact on the resilience of
supporting protection of the v L ecosystems.

wider environment, such as
air quality, flood alleviation,
etc.

The ROWIP supports promotion of countryside access and greater
engagement with the natural environment, leading to improved awareness and
understanding of biodiversity and ecosystem resilience.

6. Does the initiative embrace the sustainable development principle (5 Ways of Working):

Yes

No

Details




) g abed

Long term - how the initiative supports the
long term well-being of people

Plan is promoting greater engagement and awareness with the natural environment, leading to
long term improvements to health and well-being of users.

Integration - how the initiative impacts
upon our wellbeing objectives

The Plan delivers against a range of plans and initiatives, links with which have been identified
with the Plan. Local Well-being objectives have been reflected within the Plan, and its felt that
delivery against the Plan will contribute towards these goals.

Involvement - how people have been
involved in developing the initiative

A consultation process was undertaken prior to commencement of this review, and has
informed the decision to undertake the review, as well as the content of the plan itself.
Furthermore, wider relevant consultations were assessed as part of the process. A further
public consultation process will be undertaken of the draft plan.

Collaboration - how we have worked with
other services/organisations to find shared
sustainable solutions

Internal consultation of the draft plan has been carried out and built into the content of this
Plan.

Prevention - how the initiative will prevent
problems occurring or getting worse

The Plan is providing a framework for the effective management of our Public Rights of Way,
looking to undertake necessary maintenance works before problems deteriorate. Delivery of
the Plan will provide the opportunity for residents and visitors to be more physically active,
leading to improved health, whilst participation in the natural environment leads to improved
mental well-being, in the short term and in the long term.

7. Declaration - based on above assessment (tick as appropriate):

A full impact assessment (second stage) is not required

Reasons for this Conclusion

policy.

delivery of the plan.

Equalities — The Plan is outlining an inclusive and community focused approach to management, and promotion, of the Public Rights of Way and wider
countryside, ensuring that groups of people are not disadvantaged.

Welsh Language — Plan will be inclusive aiming at encouraging all community members to be involved. Plan and all public communications will be bilingual.

Biodiversity — A policy is integrated into the Plan to ensure negative impacts on biodiversity are avoided. Working methodologies will be underpinned by this

Well-being of Future Generation (5 ways of Working) — The 5 ways of working has been followed in the review of the Plan, and will continue to be followed in




g abed

A full impact assessment (second stage) is required

Reasons for this conclusion

Name Position Signature Date
Completed by Catrin Evans Countryside & Wildlife Team Leader 24" July 2019
Signed off by Nicola Pearce Head of Service 14" August 2019




Agenda Item 7

u Cyngor Castell-nedd Port Talbot

~ Neath Port Talbot Council
-

NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Regeneration and Sustainable Development Cabinet Board
61 September 2019

Report of the Head of Planning and Public Protection
N. Pearce

Matter for Information
Wards Affected: All

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH AND TRADING STANDARDS:

FOOD AND FEED SERVICE DELIVERY PLAN 2019-2020 and
the FOOD AND FEED LAW ENFORCEMENT REVIEW 2018-2019.

Purpose of the Report:
1.  To inform Members of the work plan for 2019-2020 of the

Authority’s Food and Feed enforcement service and the review
of the Food and Feed enforcement service for 2018-2019.

Executive Summary:

2. Food Hygiene, and Food & Feed Standards enforcement
remains a priority for the service.

3. Food hygiene inspection resources were prioritised and
continue to be prioritised on undertaking appropriate
interventions at all high risk food premises The national

Page 89



performance indicator which identifies ‘broadly compliant’
premises remains consistently high. National and local food
sampling initiatives were carried out throughout the year, and
we will continue to take part and make use of sampling
resources made available. The service utilises Social Media
opportunities to raise awareness of current issues. Charges
have been introduced for the provision of bespoke business
advice and consultancy, whilst a basic level of advice and
signposting remains free of charge.

4. Feed/Feeding-stuffs Standards work continues to be delivered
regionally, in conjunction with City & County of Swansea
Council (as funded directly by the Food Standards Agency).
The cross-border arrangements appear to be a continuing
success.

5. Food Standards resources were prioritised on interventions at
high risk premises. However, there are still Food Standards
interventions overdue at some premises. This backlog
demonstrates that the allocated resource for food standards
delivery is insufficient, but this is unlikely to change due to the
Forward Financial Plan requirements imposed on the service.
However, following a trial period, the new approach of the
service utilising officers of the food hygiene team to assist with
combined inspections at certain premises has been formally
adopted. This new system will ease the pressure on the food
standards function.

Background:
7.  The Food Safety Act 1990 and the Food Standards Act 1999,

together with associated statutory guidance, require local
authorities to make provision for the enforcement of food and

Page 90



animal feeding stuff safety measures and to plan for service
delivery on an annual basis. The proposed Service Delivery
Plan, attached as Appendix 1, sets out the way in which the
Environmental Health and Trading Standards Service intends to
deliver food and feed law enforcement during the period 2019-
2020.

It sets the scene for the enforcement function locally, whilst
recognising national priorities. It sets the hierarchy of priorities
for which the service is responsible, and indicates the range of
interventions which are designed to maximise the health gain
and public protection from the resources available.

The aims and objectives of the food and feed law enforcement
service are:

e To help to maintain a safe and healthy environment in the
County Borough

e To ensure food and feed produced or consumed within the
area does not present a risk to health and to take action to
prevent it entering or limiting its introduction to the food chain

e To ensure the effective control of feed destined for
consumption by animals entering the food chain and pet
animals

e To encourage good practices in food safety, food & feed
standards and fair-trading, and to take action to discourage
practices which are unfair to other traders or threaten health

e To enforce the relevant environmental health and trading
standards legislation via a variety of interventions at
premises in the County Borough, e.g. sampling, intelligence

Page 91



10.

11.

12.

led investigations and surveys, and investigation of
complaints, malpractices and cases of food poisoning

e To ensure that resources are targeted where they are most
effective and address areas of highest public health risk

e To respond to requests for advice and to seek to raise
awareness of food safety and food & feed standards issues

e To help business owners to comply with their obligations
under food & feed legislation and to take appropriate action
as per the enforcement policy against those who do not

The authority must carry out an annual food and feed law
enforcement performance review as part of the Framework
Agreement (2010) between the Local Authority and the Food
Standards Agency, which is attached at Appendix 2.

The framework agreement sets out the planning and delivery
requirements of feed and food official controls, based on the
existing statutory Codes of Practice.

The performance review considers the various requirements of
“The Standard”, which include planned inspections /
interventions, sampling, service requests and complaints,
promotional work, training of staff and monitoring
arrangements.

Financial Impacts:

13.

No implications.

Page 92



Integrated Impact Assessment:

14. There is no requirement to undertake an Integrated Impact
Assessment as this report is for monitoring / information purposes.

Valleys Communities Impacts:
15.  No implications
Workforce Impacts:

16. No implications

Legal Impacts:

17. No implications

Risk Management Impacts:
18. No implications.
Consultation:

19. There is no requirement for external consultation on this item.
Recommendations:

20. That the report be noted.

Reasons for Proposed Decision:
21. Matter for information

Implementation of Decision:

Page 93



22. Matter for information

List of Background Papers:

23. None.

Appendices:

Appendix 1 - Food and Feed Service Delivery Plan 2019-20.
Appendix 2 - Food and Feed law enforcement review 2018-19.
Officer Contact:

Nicola Pearce, Head of Planning and Public Protection.
Tel: 01639 686680 or email: n.pearce@npt.gov.uk

Mark Thomas, Environmental Health and Trading Standards
Manager. Tel 01639 685612 or email: m.thomas2@npt.gov.uk

Page 94



Appendix 1

Neath Port Talbot
~==—> (astell-nedd Port Talbot

County Borough Council Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol

NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
CYNGOR BWRDEISTREF SIROL CASTELL-NEDD PORT TALBOT

FOOD & FEED LAW ENFORCEMENT
SERVICE DELIVERY PLAN
2019-2020

i TRADING
MSTANDARDS
&Y APPROYED

e = 1

onfi

denc

Page 95



CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1 Service Aims and Objectives
CHAPTER 2 Background

CHAPTER 3 Service Delivery

CHAPTER 4 Resources

CHAPTER 5 Quality Assessment
CHAPTER 6 Review of previous plan/s
Appendices

A Decision Making Structure

B Department Structure

c Section Structure

D Numbers of premises in each ward

E Action Plan and Targets

Page 96



1.0

11

Neath Port Talbot Office Hours:

8.30am to 5.00pm Monday to Thursday
and 8.30am to 4.30 pm Friday

Outside of normal office hours
Emergency food safety issues are currently directed initially to a 24 hour emergency call
out service and the officer on-call has access to senior food officers in an emergency.

To meet the demands of a 24 hour economy the department regularly carries out
enforcement work outside of normal office hours, including evening and weekends.
Officers are expected to carry out this work as part of their normal duties.

Correspondence address:
Environmental Health & Trading Standards, The Quays, Brunel Way, Baglan. SA11 2GG.

Telephone contact:

01639 686868.

Consumer complaints for Trading Standards are automatically transferred to Citizens
Advice Consumer Service on 03454 04 05 06.

Website:

www.npt.gov.uk

The website has information on EH&TS services for consumers and business and links to
other information and relevant sites.

E-mail & Social media

Environmental Health : food@npt.gov.uk Trading Standards : tsd@npt.gov.uk
Facebook NptEnvHealth/TradingStandards

Twitter (NPTEHTS) and other Social Media.

SERVICE AIMS AND OBIJECTIVES

Purpose of the Service

It is the policy of Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council to strive to ensure food
safety from the farm or primary producer (via enforcement of animal feed hygiene &
standards and animal welfare) through to the ultimate consumer, via retail,
manufacturer and catering establishments (the ‘farm to fork’ principle).

Page 97


http://www.npt.gov.uk/
mailto:food@npt.gov.uk
mailto:tsd@npt.gov.uk

1.2

1.3

As part of the national Food Safety framework agreement, the Food Standards Agency
(FSA), requires all local authorities to prepare a service delivery plan which reviews the
implementation of the previous plan and details the delivery of their food safety
enforcement responsibilities for the following year.

The plan seeks to ensure that national priorities and standards are delivered locally and
provides a balanced approach to local food safety enforcement. This is achieved by not
merely directing resources towards the programmed inspection process, but also by
ensuring that adequate provision is made to address food complaints, food poisoning
notifications and other reactive work, advice to businesses, and also the ability to
follow-up on intelligence driven areas of work such as sampling, food fraud and targeted
inspections.

There are similar provisions in place for feed enforcement, which is funded directly from
the Food Standards Agency and administered across Wales by the Welsh Heads of
Trading Standards.

Aims and Objectives
The aims and objectives of the food and feed law enforcement service are:
- To help to maintain a safe and healthy environment in the County Borough

- To encourage good practices in food safety, food & feed standards and fair-
trading, and to take action in line with the enforcement policy to discourage
practices which are unfair to other traders or threaten health (via inspections,
sampling, intelligence led investigations and surveys, investigation of
complaints, malpractices and cases of food poisoning and advising feed and
food business operators)

- To ensure that resources are targeted where they are most effective and
address areas of highest public health risk

Link to corporate objectives and plans

In delivering the food and feed law enforcement service, both Food and Health
Protection, and Trading Standards will continue to promote the corporate aims and
objectives of the authority and sustain the reputation of the council. In particular the
service will be delivered in a manner that is sensitive to service users and citizens’
individual expectations. The emphasis will be on protecting and improving health, and
promoting the economy of the County Borough. There are Local and National
Performance Indicators for these services (see Paragraph 3.1.4 below). These are
monitored on a quarterly basis via the corporate performance management framework.

Page 98



2.0

2.1

BACKGROUND
Profile of Neath Port Talbot

Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council is a Unitary Authority, situated in South
Wales and is a recognised statutory Food Authority. The towns of Neath, Port Talbot
and Pontardawe are the largest settlements in the Borough. A number of other villages
and settlements are dispersed throughout the remaining rural valley areas of the County
Borough. The County Borough serves a population of approximately 139,800 (Census,
2011) and covers an area of 44,217 hectares. It is the seventh largest authority in terms
of population in Wales. There are over 1500 food/feed premises within the County
Borough (being circa 1274 food premises and circa 250 feed premises) in which food or
drink and feed or drink is produced, manufactured, processed, stored or sold. (See
section 2.4 for further details on premises profile).

Page 99



2.2

2.3

Organisational Structure

The charts attached as appendices A, B and C illustrate the organisational structures of
the sections.

The functions of Environmental Health and Trading Standards are the responsibility of
the Head of Planning & Public Protection service in the Directorate of Environment.

The day to day service delivery of the Food & Feed Services is overseen by the Team
Leader- Food & Health Protection, and the Team Leader - Trading Standards.

External services are provided to the section by:

Public Health Wales (formerly the Public Health Laboratory Service, PHLS) at West
Wales General Hospital, Carmarthen— for food examination (Microbiological).

Public Analysts (Minton, Treharne & Davies Ltd and Public Analyst Scientific Services
Limited) — for food & feed analysis (Non-microbiological).

Occasional use of contracted workers (contractors / locum officers) to cover
maternity and other staffing shortfalls, or emergencies.

Food Standards Agency - for guidance and partnership working opportunities.
Citizens Advice Consumer Service - referrals of food and feed complaints.

The City & County of Swansea as part of the regional delivery group for feed
enforcement.

Scope of the Food & Feed Law Enforcement Service
The Food Hygiene service is delivered by officers of the Food & Health Protection Team.

The Food Standards and Feed functions are delivered by officers of the Trading
Standards section.

Page 100



Other Service Functions

Delivered via

Fair Trading

Health Promotion

Consumer Fraud

Weights & Measures

Underage Sales

Investigation and control of communicable diseases

Animal Welfare

Petroleum Enforcement

Inspection programmes
Provision of advice to businesses
Sampling programmes

Criminal investigation

Responding to national food /
feed alerts and recalls

Inspection of weighing &
measuring equipment

When necessary, suitably competent and qualified food hygiene and food standards
contractors are used to cover long term sickness/maternity leave/vacant posts or
project work funded by external sources, but all in accordance with service need, the
resources available and with authorisation by the Head of Planning and Public

Protection.

24 Demands on the Food & Feed Service (Food Hygiene; Food Standards; Feed

Standards)

Premises Profile

Table 1(a): Total number of Food & Feed premises within the Authority

Page 101




Food premises

Feed Premises

1274

(of which 1222 are Registered within NPT).

250

See Appendix D for numbers of premises by Ward area

Page 102




Table

1(b):
CODE FOOD PREMISES NO. OF NO. OF NO. OF
PREMISES PREMISES PREMISES
(2017/18) | (2018/19) | (2019/20)

FO1 Primary Producer 1 2 1
FO2 Manufacturer / Packer 23 26 28
FO3 Importers / Exporters (EU) 0 0 0
FO4 Distributor / Transporter 15 10 9
FO5 Supermarket / Hypermarket 23 24 23
FO6 Small Retailer 232 203 197
FO7 Retailer / Other 71 92 91
FO8 Restaurant / Café / Canteen 189 198 185
FO9 Hotel / Guest House 22 12 12
F10 Pub / Club 209 191 186
F11 Takeaway 145 140 142
F12 Caring Premises 217 207 176
F13 School / College 96 79 75
F14 Mobile Food Unit 52 53 47
F15 Restaurants & Caterers — Other 123 135 100
F16 Importers / Exporters (3™ Countries) 2 2 2

TOTAL 1420 1374 1274

Food advice is available, in a variety of languages, to businesses via the Food
Standards Agency’s initiative “Safer Food, Better Business” (SFBB).
Note: 1222 premises have their Registered base with NPTCBC area, however
once Registered they can trade in any area. Conversely, there will be a small
number of traders (mainly mobile traders) who are based outside of the
Borough, but regularly trade within the Borough, and can be subject to official
control interventions (usually co-ordinated with their local LA).

Page 103




Types of Feed premises:

Table 1(c):
. . No. of No. of No. of
Animal Feed Premises PREMISES PREMISES | PREMISES
Code (2017/18) (2018/19) (2019/20)
A Manufacturer Using / containing additives 2 2 2
B Manufacturer Not Using Additives 3 3 3
D On Farm Mixer Using Additives 1 1 1
E Store - In Region Distribution 4 3 3
I Importer - Out Of Region Distribution 2 1 2
J Surplus Food Supplier 8 12 8
P Co Product Producer - In Region 0 2 0
S Livestock Farm 210 283 216
T Arable farm 10 17 10
u Any Other Business 0 1 0
X Not Known 1 1 1
Total: 241 326 246

Increased feed enforcement activity has meant that the department’s feed premises

records are becoming more accurate. This accounts for the large drop in registered

feed premises.

The County Borough has 3 specialist feed manufacturers requiring inspection by
officers with specific qualifications and competencies.

In line with the Food Law Code of Practice, the authority has placed an emphasis on
“interventions” at food & feed businesses rather than full inspections. Full inspections
/ audits are targeted at the highest risk businesses, or at businesses that the

department has received intelligence on. This is explored further in Paragraph 3.0.

Lower risk food and feed businesses will not necessarily be subject to a full
programmed inspection, but may be dealt with via a focussed survey or as part of the
food sampling programme.

The authority’s food and feed enforcement activity is recorded on the Authority APP
system. The annual returns and enforcement data that are to be submitted to the

Page 104




Food Standards Agency are exported from this system via the Local Authority
Enforcement Monitoring System (LAEMS).

Page 105



2.5

Joint working / sharing resources and information & Agile Working

Following the systems review of 2017/18, the Food & Health Protection Service
(delivering the food hygiene function) and the Retail section of the Trading
Standards Service (delivering food standards), have a closer and more integrated
working relationship. Information is exchanged between the two services more
readily and regularly and joint exercises have been undertaken to increase
awareness of the duties of each service for each service, and to promote
stronger working relationships and joint working. This has led to improved
coordination of food law enforcement between the services, minimising
duplication and sharing information and intelligence. Similar exercises have
been planned for 19/20 and shadowing visits are to become a regular feature of
officer development.

Furthermore, the post of Senior Trading Standards Officer has been created
within the Retail section to support officers and consequently food and feed
delivery. Although this post has supervisory responsibilities, it is still front line
and has enforcement duties.

The two services continue to pilot “agile” working within the authority.
Resources and policies have been put in place to enable the officers to minimise
office “downtime”.

In addition to the normal workloads, further demands will be made on the
service in 2019/20. These include:

The implementation of the requirements of the General Data Protection
Regulations

The continuing long term impact on food safety of the Pennington Report

following the public inquiry into the (fatal) South Wales E. coli outbreak and
recommendations for enforcement.

Sustaining collaboration on the operation of the mandatory Food Hygiene Rating
Scheme and Food Hygiene Rating (Wales) Regulations 2013 and to provide open
feedback on the compliance levels achieved by individual businesses.

Continued promotion of the requirement for relevant Businesses to be operating

Page 106



to a documented Food Safety Management System, which is commensurate with
their activities.

The implementation of a new Trading Standards intelligence database replacing
the existing one. The new system is more user-friendly and instinctive. It also
has the advantage of being web based and is accessible by services other than
TS, potentially fostering greater links with other teams within EH&TS.

Further development of cross boundary and regional work in the fields of food
and feed, to build resilience within service delivery.

Seeking new business partners to broaden the implementation of the Primary
Authority Scheme within NPT.

The implications of the UKs exit of from the European Union and its effect it will
have on enforcement and the economy.

Identifying food businesses supplying “co—products” (i.e. former foodstuffs
reprocessed as animal feed) and advising them of their obligations and
responsibilities.

Tackling the areas identified as local and national priorities for food & feed
standards : food allergens, food supplements (particularly sold over the internet)

and the adulteration and substitution of food.

The maintenance of the regional feed enforcement delivery model with Swansea
Trading Standards as per the agreement with the Food Standards Agency.

Continue to meet the demands of new feed & food businesses within the county
borough.

Page 107



2.6

Accommodating service delivery in line with the identified priorities relevant to
the service, in addition to NPT’s Forward Financial Plan (FFP).

To continue to monitor for the presence of illicit and /or counterfeit foodstuffs
that have been detected in other authorities, utilising and analysing intelligence
received from the Regional Intelligence Analyst, National Food Crime Unit, local
intelligence sources and partners.

Fostering stronger partnerships with bodies that have an interest in breaches of
legislation relating to food, including Her Majesty’s Revenue & Customs, and the
Animal & Plant Health Agency.

To continue to develop procedures to minimise the duplication of efforts from
Environmental Health and Trading Standards when visiting food and feed
premises.

The revised continuous professional development requirements of the Food Law
Code of Practice, from 10 hours CPD to 20 hours CPD.

Regulation Policy

The department has a Member Approved enforcement policy incorporating the
concepts of the Enforcement Concordat, Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions
Act 2008, Primary Authority Scheme and the relevant food and feed law codes of
practice.

The enforcement policy can be found on the Council website:

Officers of the service will seek to ensure food & feed business operators comply
with relevant legislation by means of:

Page 108


https://www.npt.gov.uk/14112
https://www.npt.gov.uk/14112

providing information and advice, education & training

raising awareness of the law and good practice associated with the
legislation,

taking enforcement action where necessary and in line with the
enforcement policy

Page 109



3.0 SERVICE DELIVERY

3.1 Interventions at Food and Feeding stuffs establishments
3.1.1 Intervention Policy

The authority will continue to implement a planned programme for food hygiene
and food standards interventions and feed inspections at premises within the
County Borough.

The Food Law Code of Practice (Wales) has introduced a range of possible
interventions to allow officers to use their professional judgment to apply a
proportionate level of regulatory and enforcement activities to each food
business.

Interventions are split into 2 categories

1. Official controls include:- inspections; monitoring; surveillance; verification;
audit; and sampling (where the analysis is to be carried out by an official
laboratory).

2. Other interventions which do not constitute official controls include:-
education, advice & coaching provided at a food establishment; and
information & intelligence gathering.

Interventions are applied in a risk-based manner such that more intensive
regulation is directed at those food businesses that present the greatest risk
to public health.

3.1.2 Systems review and the coordinated intervention programme

Following the internal review of the food safety service, interventions are
managed via a coordinated food hygiene and food standards inspection
programme. Most lower risk food standards premises (category “C” rated) will
be inspected for that element by suitably trained and competent food hygiene
officers during their programmed food hygiene inspections.

Similarly, low risk food hygiene businesses (category “E” rated) will be subject to
an unofficial control from food standards officers. In both cases, more complex

Page 110



matters detected during the inspection will be referred back to the relevant
team.

Shadowing visits will take place in 2019/20 following their trial in 2018/19, this is
to promote consistency and continuity between the teams and contributes
towards officers’ professional development.

Page 111



Food Hygiene

The intervention programme is based on the intervention rating scheme
contained in Annex 5 of the Food Law Code of Practice, which means that,
dependent on risk, premises should be subject to a suitable intervention within a
range of 6 months to 3 years.

Food Hygiene Interventions will be undertaken in accordance with the guiding
themes contained within the Food Hygiene Interventions Procedure, the relevant
legislation, Food Law Code of Practice and Practice Guidance and the Industry
Guides. Officers will carry out food hygiene interventions to ensure that food
meets the requirements of food hygiene and safety law, including
microbiological quality, absence of pathogenic micro-organisms, and safety for
consumption.

During interventions, competent officers will place particular emphasis on
assessing and advising food businesses on the requirement for a documented

food safety management system and food hygiene training.

Following a systems review, the section has redesigned into reactive and
proactive teams. Resources can flow between the two teams as required.

Table 2(a): Planned Food Hygiene Interventions due 2019/20 (as at 15t April

2019)
RISK CATEGORY NUMBER OF (NUMBER OF NUMBER OF NEW TOTAL NUMBER ESTIMATE
PREMISES PREMISES IN INTERVENTIONS DUE || DUE / PLANNED NUMBER DUE /
CARRIED CATEGORY / PLANNED 2019/20 2019/20 PLANNED
FORWARD 2019/20) 2020/21
HIGH RISK
A 0 (2) 4 4 e.10
(2 interventions
per year)
B 0 (56) 56 56 e.60
(1 intervention
per year)
C 0 (510) 315 315 e.320
(1 intervention
every 18 months)
Unrated 23 --- --- 23 ---

Page 112




initially until
formally
inspected (prior
to opening /
within 28 days of
opening).
Sub Total --- 398 e.390
ESTIMATE: New - - - Circa Circa
Businesses e.120-150 e.120-150
ESTIMATE: No of Circa Circa
premises likely to e.120-150 e.120-150
Cease Trading
LOW RISK
D 2 (139) 70 [70]* e.70
(1 intervention
every 2 years)
E 0 (546) 81 [81]* e.100

(premises should
be inspected
every 3 years or
can be subject to
an Alternative
Enforcement
intervention in
lieu of
inspection)

Certain low risk premises may at the discretion of the authority be subject to an
alternative enforcement regime.

As per the Code of Practice:
Category D premises should receive an intervention every 2 years. Such

interventions can alternate between an intervention that is an official
control and an intervention that is not an official control.

Category E premises should be subject to an intervention every 3 years,

which could be part of an Alternative Enforcement Strategy.

Page 113




*Priority for interventions will always lie with Higher Risk categories,
consequently, lower risk (category D & E) may be de-prioritised, where
resources are capped.

In addition to the planned interventions above, any ‘newly opened / change of
ownership’ food premises will be targeted for inspection / an intervention. In
2018/19, there were 276 requests for advice in relation to food premises
registration and new food businesses, and a similar figure is estimated for
2019/20.

It is estimated that in addition to the planned primary inspections/interventions
to be undertaken, a further 200 food hygiene “revisits” will also be carried out.
This detailed involvement with Food Business Operators and their staff is an
ideal opportunity to progress Best Practice standards and promote health and
well-being in the wider context, as well as ensuring improvements are made.

Premises eligible for a rating under the mandatory Food Hygiene Rating Scheme
have their scores publicised on the following website: www.food.gov/ratings .

Businesses who initially fail to meet the highest standard (Food Hygiene Rating
of 5), but who subsequently implement improvements are entitled to apply for a
re-assessment visit. This has caused an increase in demand for resources to
undertake these re-inspections, but due to the importance of implementing the
scheme and the need to support businesses going forward, we will prioritise this
work area. An all-Wales fee is set for this work. This council fully supports and
implements the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme.

Food Standards & Feed Standards

The inspection / intervention programme is based on the inspection rating
scheme contained in Annex 5 of the Food Law Code of Practice and the Feed Law
Code of Practice,

Therefore, dependent on risk, all premises are due for an intervention within a
range of 12 months to 5 years.

At the discretion of the authority and in accordance with the Code of Practice

certain low risk food standards premises may, be inspected via an alternative
enforcement regime or during a food hygiene visit as set out in 3.1.2. The latter

Page 114


http://www.food.gov/ratings

interventions focus on durability and the traceability of food, and those premises
where allergen controls are robust.

Officers undertaking food and feed standards inspections will ensure that the
food or feed business is meeting the legal requirements relating to quality,
description, composition, labelling, presentation and advertising of food, and of
materials or articles in contact with food and feed.

The Feed Standards & Feed Hygiene inspection programme is set and funded by
the Food Standards Agency and delivered regionally in conjunction with Swansea
Trading Standards.

Animal health officers have the responsibility of inspecting feed hygiene systems
on farms alongside their animal welfare duties. These officers are assessed as
competent as per the Code of Practice. Feed manufacturers and retailers are
inspected by Trading Standards Officers with the appropriate qualification and
competencies.

During inspections / interventions competent officers will carry out statutory
duties in line with the legislation and local policy.

Page 115



Table 2(b):

Planned Food Standards Interventions due 2019/20

and estimated for 2020/21

CATEGORY (TOTAL NO. NO. OF NO. OF NEW CUMULATIVE ESTIMATED ESTIMATED
OF PREMISES PREMISES INTERVENTIONS DUE TOTAL NUMBER OF NUMBER
IN CATEGORY CARRIED 2019/20 NUMBER REVISITS DUE/
2019/20) FORWARD (1/4/19-31/3/20) PLANNED 2019/20 PLANNED
(BACKLOG- BY 31/3/2020 2020/21
DUE PRIORTO (INCLUDING
31/3/19). BACKLOGS)
A 11 0 11 11 e.5 el2
(1 intervention
ayear)
B 319 12 149 161 el2 e.180
(1 intervention
every 2 years)
c 749 17 58 75 e.5 e.110
(1 intervention
every 5 years /
AES)
UNRATED 302 302 0 302 e.10 e.150

*In accordance with the Framework Agreement and frequencies set in the Food &

Feed Law Code of Practice :

- Food Standards Category B premises should receive an intervention every 2
Such interventions can alternate between an intervention that is an
official control and an intervention that is not an official control, as long as the
business is broadly compliant (COP 5.2.7.1.5.2)

- Food Standards Category C premises should be subject to an intervention every
5 years, which could be part of an Alternative Enforcement Strategy.

- Where resources are restricted, the priority is to carry out interventions at
category “A” and unrated businesses

years.

Page 116




Table 2(c):

Planned Feed Standards Interventions

2019/20 & estimated for 2020/21

Feed is co-ordinated on a regional basis, interventions are directed by
the Food Standards Agency

Premises Type NPT Planned 2019/20 | NPT Estimated 2020/21

Manufacturer 1 2

Co Product Producer 4 6
Mobile Mixer 0 0
Importers 0 0

Feed Stores 1 1
Distributor 2 2
Transporter 1 1

On Farm Mixer (Annex Il) 1 2
On Farm Mix 0 0

Pet Food Manufacturer 1 1
Supplier of feed materials/Surplus 0 0

Food
Sub Total 11 15
"Above The Line"

Livestock farms 35 40
Total due for inspection 46 55

Page 117




3.1.3 Resources For Inspections / Interventions

Food Hygiene

The following table contains the current staffing structure breakdown

Table 3(a) — as at 1/4/2019 (expressed as FTE’s- Full Time Equivalents)

EHORB EHORB Non-EHORB Total
(EHO) (Higher Risk (Support Staff)
premises)
Team Leader (F&HP) 1.0
Senior EHO (F&HP) 0.92
EHO (F&HP) 5.24
Enforcement Officer 1.86*
Support Officer 1.0
Total as at 2019-04-01 7.16 1.86* 1.0 10.02
*Note: 1.0 fte EO (F&HP)
is currently seconded to
Gen EH team
Historic Totals (trends):
Total as at 2018-04-01 6.05* 2.86 1.0 9.91
(*balance:
1.0FTE
seconded)
Total as at 2017-04-01 6.84 1.86 1.33 10.03
(+0.22 approx. (+0.22
temporary) (NB- 1 officer | temporary
pursuing =10.25)
qualification)
Total as at 2016-04-01 6.84 1.86 1.33 approx. 10.03
Total as at 2015-04-01 5.2 1.0 3.9 10.1

Page 118




Total as at 2014-04-01

5.1

1.0

3.0

9.1

Page 119




Food Hygiene: All EHO’s currently in post have either the B.Sc. (Hons) degree, M.Sc.
or Diploma in Environmental Health and are approved by EHRB (Environmental
Health Registration Board). All Enforcement Officers hold the Higher Certificate in
Food Premises Inspection, or equivalent. The Table above illustrates the FTE
number of staff working on food hygiene law enforcement (food hygiene and
associated matters) including support staff and their relevant competencies as per
the Code of Practice.

In 2018, a temporarily seconded EHO post was returned to the service from General
EH team, whilst a secondment of a vacant EO post was made to the General EH
team for 18 months. Temporary staff and locums/contractors have also been
utilised in previous years to support the service, when additional resources have
been needed.

There is the facility to redeploy Food Hygiene qualified staff to or from other parts

of the service when necessary (see Chapter 4 on Resources for fuller details on the
current staffing structure).

Page 120



Staffing Allocation (Apportionment estimates: Required & Allocated)

Table 3(b):
Food Hygiene Resources
Estimate of Allocated Relative priority assigned
Required
Resources

Food hygiene inspections: Cat A-C 3.0 3.0 High / Medium-high

Food hygiene inspections: Cat D 0.5 0.5 Medium-low

Food hygiene inspections: Cat E 0.5 0.5 Low

Food hygiene Complaints 1.2 1.2 High / Medium-high

Food hygiene Sampling 0.2 0.2 Medium

FH New Businesses & Compulsory 1.0 1.0 Medium-high

Registrations

FH Advice & Promotional work 0.3 0.2 Medium / Medium-low

FH Revisits 1.0 1.0 Medium-high

FH Rating Scheme Re-Rating visits 0.2 0.2 High

FH Rating Scheme enforcement 0.1 0.0 Resources diverted when
required.

FH Prosecutions 0.1 0.0 Resources diverted when
required.

Food Fraud investigations and 0.1 0.0 Resources diverted when

surveillance required.

Food hygiene Unrated 0.1 0.1 Medium

inspections & work carried

forward.

Food Related Infectious Disease 1.0 1.0 High

control, inc food poisoning cases

& outbreaks

Food hygiene Approved Premises 0.1 0.1 High

FH Import & Export; & Novel None at 0.0 Resources diverted when

foods present required.

FH Service Improvement 0.8 0.7 High / Medium-high

(Monitoring, Planning, Reviews,

Policies, Consultations)

Page 121




Food hygiene safety alerts 0.1 0.1 Medium

Other Food hygiene work 0.2 0.0 Resources diverted when
required.

Non-hypothecated / generic 0.22

enforcement resource

TOTALS (in FTE’s): 10.5 10.02

It is estimated that the required resource to deliver all aspects of the Framework
Agreement and Code of Practice is 10.5 FTE.

Food Standards and Feeding stuffs

Table 4(a):
Trading Standards Staffing at 1/4/2019 devoted to Food & Feed
by Full Time Equivalent of officer
Food Standards DTS DCA DCATS (Unqualified) TS EH
Qualified Total | input
TS Team Leader 0.3 0.3
Senior TSO 0.4 0.4
TSO 1.0 1.0
Enforcement Officer 0.5 0.1 0.6
TS Assistant 0.1 0.1
Admin 0.1 0.1
Food Hygiene staff 0.5
qualified for standards
Total as at 1.4.2019 1.3 0.5 0.5 0.2 2.5 (3.0)
Total as at 1.4.2018 1.3 0.5 1.0 0.2 2.5 (3.0)
Total as at 1.4.2017 1.2 0.4 0.4 0.2 2.2
Total as at 1.4.2016 1.2 0.4 0.4 0.2 2.2
Total as at 1.4.2015 1.5 0.3 0.3 0.8 2.9
Total as at 1.4.2014 1.5 0.3 0.3 0.8 2.9
Total as at 1.4.2013 1.2 0.3 0.3 0.8 2.9

Page 122




Feed DTS DCA DCATS (Unqualified but Total
Qualified Competent)

TS Team Leader 0.1 0.1
TSO 0.1 0.1 0.2
Enforcement Officer 0.0 0.5 0.5
TS Assistant 0 0 0 0 0
Admin 0.1 0.1
Total as at 1.4.2019 0.2 0.0 0.1 0.6 0.9
Total as at 1.4.2018 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.9
Total as at 1.4.2017 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.8
Total as at 1.4.2016 0.3 04 0.0 0.5 1.2
Total as at 1.4.2015 0.3 0.1 0.0 1.0 1.4

Food Standards & Feed Standards: The 2.0 Trading Standards Officers undertaking food
standards work hold the Diploma in Trading Standards or one of its antecedents
necessary to allow officers to undertake food & feed standards inspections. One
enforcement officer holds the Diploma in Consumer Affairs (DCA) together with the
Food and Agricultural Standards paper, and another Enforcement Officer holds the
Diploma in Consumer and Trading Standards (DCATS) Food qualification. Food
standards are further bolstered by lower risk food standards inspections being carried
out by suitably qualified food hygiene officers.

2 trading standards officers and additional enforcement officers have non primary
producer/farm inspection duties. Inspection of feed on farms is the responsibility two
enforcement officers. All officers are suitably qualified and deemed competent, and
carry out the assessments on an annual basis.

For staffing structure see Appendix C

The proportion of time spent by each officer on the feed and food function can be found
below.

Page 123




Table 4(b):

Food Standards Resources

Estimate of
Food Standards Function Required Allocated

Resources
Food Standards Interventions 2.1 2.3
Food Standards Complaints 0.3 0.2
Food Standards Home Authority / Primary Authority 0.3 0.2
Food Standards Business Advice 0.3 0.2
Food Standards Sampling / Incidents 0.2 0.2
Food Hygiene Primary Production Inspections 0.1 0.1
Liaison & Promotion 0.1 0.1
Food Safety alerts 0.2 0.2
Sub-Total 3.6 3.5

Estimated additional resource required for Recovery of

Backlog of Food Standards Work 2.1 0.0

(short term: 2 years approx.)

At current intervention rates, to achieve inspections targets as per the code of practice
(that is, inspection of all A, B, C rated and Unrated businesses) and taking into account
complaints and sampling work, the department would need to increase the number of
full time equivalent qualified and competent officers to approximately 5.7 FTE to
overcome the backlog, particularly unrated businesses, in a reasonable period of time

(estimated as two years).

Unrated businesses are initially assessed by food hygiene team during their registration
and new businesses phase for referral as necessary to Trading Standards - as per the
protocol following the systems review discussed earlier in this document. This will allow
Trading Standards to focus on the higher risk food standards businesses.

Page 124




Once the backlog of inspections is recovered, to then maintain the inspection rate the
department would need to maintain 3.6 FTE food officers.

Feed work provisions are now arranged regionally (in conjunction with the City &
County of Swansea) and funded directly by the Food Standards Agency.

Page 125



3.1.4 Targets and Priorities for 2019/20

Food Hygiene:

1.

To ensure a high level of Business compliance with Food Hygiene
legislation.

This is illustrated by the percentage of food businesses which are classed
as “Broadly Compliant” when assessed against the definition provided by
the National Pl / Public Accountability Measure PAM 023: “The
percentage of food establishments which are ‘broadly compliant’ with
food hygiene standards”;

To undertake a suitable variety of Regulatory Interventions to promote
good health and ensure legal compliance to avoid dangerous health risks.
This will include the issuing of ratings and the administration of the
national Food Hygiene Rating Scheme, which has been mandatory since
28t November 2013;

To undertake inspections / interventions at high risk premises for food
hygiene. (See table 2(a) for number of inspections due). This Pl is based
on the inspection of 100% of Category A premises; and 100% of Category
B premises. With respect of Category C premises, interventions will be
part of a risk based strategy.

To inspect or otherwise assess new businesses for compliance with legal
standards.

To respond to infectious disease incidents, complaints and enquiries
within the target response time laid down by the Authority.

To promote the improved understanding and implementation of food
safety management systems for food businesses in the County Borough.

To further develop a cross-discipline approach to undertake certain
combined food hygiene and food standards assessments, following
appropriate training and up-skilling of staff.

Page 126



Food Standards and Feeding stuffs:

3.1.5

1. To achieve 100% of inspections/interventions of “A” rated premises for food
standards & feed purposes

2. To assess businesses for compliance with basic legal standards via a variety of
intervention tools.

3. To ensure that significant breaches are acted upon and proper controls are
evenly applied to all businesses in a fair and equitable manner in line with the
enforcement policy.

4. To complete the annual food sampling plan
5. To complete the regional feed delivery plan

6. To continue to implement the Intelligence Operating model across the
service.

7. To maintain competency and training for all relevant staff

8. To promote good practice within food & feed businesses.

9. To continue to support and develop the cross-discipline approach to
undertake certain combined food hygiene and food standards assessments,
following appropriate training and up-skilling of officers from both teams.

Possible Restrictions on Providing Service

Due to limitations of staff resources, extended periods of absence can lead to a
drop in service provision- this issue is constantly monitored.

Page 127



3.1.6

It is important to maintain officer competencies across a variety of disciplines to
continue to remain flexible and of optimum value when emergencies occur.

The section has had little turnover of food and feed qualified personnel in the
last two years. When a member of staff does leave, it is often difficult to replace
them due to the restricted availability of suitably qualified officers.

The section has a wide remit, but food and feed standards work is a high priority.

Occasionally, projects and targets need to be re-assessed to focus on the areas of
greatest need.

Through implementing the Intelligence Operation Model and utilising the
intelligence led approach advocated by National Trading Standards, the
department is focussing on the areas which require most attention. The new
regime of Food Hygiene officers undertaking limited Food Standards work will
help meet demand.

Experience of Officers and Access to Expert Information When Necessary

All relevant officers within the Section are appropriately qualified and
experienced to deal with routine and many unusual matters associated with all
current types of food & feed premises within the area. The EDR (Employee
Development Review) and supervision review process means that officer’s
competency is continually monitored and training is delivered where required.

Communication, reference and expert support:

The department has access to the following:

- Technical Indexes,

- Police National Legal Database (PNLD)

- Knowledge Hub

- National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN)

- RIAMS (as provided by the Food Standards Agency)
- Food Standards Agency

- IDB (The Trading Standards Intelligence Database)

Page 128



3.2

- Coordinating groups and panels specialising in food and feed
enforcement

- Public analyst (s)

- Email & Internet

- Trading Standards Regional Intelligence Analyst intelligence database and
Local Intelligence Officer Network.

Where additional expertise is required the Head of Service will be briefed and a
suitable response will be formulated.

Coordinated enforcement:

Trading Standards has representation on the Glamorgan regional coordinating
group for food standards.

Trading Standards participates in surveys and exercises held under the auspices
of the Glamorgan Group, the Welsh Heads of Trading Standards (WHOTS) and
the Food Standards Agency. Swansea Trading Standards represent Neath Port
Talbot’s interests in regional feed coordination. Regular communication takes
place between the two authorities on feed issues and delivery of feed
enforcement across the Swansea / Neath Port Talbot region.

Food Hygiene and Health Protection work closely and liaise with the Public
Health Laboratory, Public Health team of the NPHS, and the Public Analysts when
expertise is required. The Authority’s public analyst service is consulted during
the drafting of the sampling programme for sampling subjects, costs and
sampling techniques.

Food and Feeding-stuffs Complaints
The authority will continue to ensure that all notified complaints in relation to
food and feeding stuffs are suitably investigated and dealt with promptly,

consistently and as per the enforcement policy and internal policy and procedure

The following graph illustrates number of complaints/ service requests received
by the department

Page 129



Table 5(a):

120

100

80

60

40

20

Food & Feed Complaints

111

M EH: Premises (Hygiene) Complaints
M EH: Food Complaints
B TS: Food Complaints

B TS: Feed Complaints

79
55 54
> 3
8

2016-17 2017-18 2018-2019 2019-20
(Estimated)

The reactive workload is equivalent to approximately 1.4 FTE- based on 1.2 FTE
for food hygiene and 0.2 FTE for food standards and feeding stuffs.

The demands placed on this Reactive service are periodically reviewed, to ensure
that resources for investigating food complaints are targeted on a risk basis. The
available resources will need to be focused on significant food safety risks. As a
consequence, certain categories of service request may receive a more
streamlined response.

Page 130




33

34

Primary Authority Scheme & Home Authority Principle

The authority will continue to provide advice and assistance to food businesses
for which we are originating authority and to any that may set up their decision
making centre within the authority. The department has made a commitment to
initiate Primary Authority partnerships, including food and feed. The Trading
Standards service has made a commitment to expand its number of partnerships
in 2019/20.

The Primary Authority scheme requires UK enforcement authorities to be
mindful of national inspection plans organised with multi-site businesses, to
ensure consistency of approach on a nationally coordinated basis (See also our
Enforcement Policy and Primary Authority Policy). Potential enforcement action
would need to be coordinated with the Primary Authority of the business
involved.

Elsewhere, where a breach is detected involving a company based in another
part of the UK, liaison is instigated with the relevant local authority / authorities
under the Home Authority principle.

Where significant food or feed breaches with a potential national or
international impact occur, the department will liaise with the Food Standards
Agency and relevant border inspection points / ports.

Advice to Businesses

In 2018/19 the EHTS department began charging for the provision of certain
business advice. The department will not charge for “signposting” businesses to
sources of advice, but will charge for bespoke or enhanced consultancy type
assistance- such as examination of products, systems and labels. It is hoped that
this will go some way to offsetting service provision costs.

Table 5(b):

Page 131



Food & Feed Advice

160
140
120

100 M EH: Food Advice

80 W TS: Food advice

60 B TS: Feed Advice
40
20
0

2016-2017 2017-2018 2018-19 2019-20 (est)

There has been no noteworthy fall in demand for the service, but nor has the
income generated been significant.

Page 132




3.5

Food and Feed Sampling

Food sampling trends, intelligence and Food Standards Agency priorities are
examined, analysed and informs the authority’s food sampling plan.

Priority areas for sampling are identified on the basis of safety, consumer or
trade detriment, type of food or feed business and risk.

Additionally, food samples should be taken as part of a programmed
intervention if deemed appropriate or in connection with enforcement
investigations.

The Authority participates in various co-ordinated sampling programmes from
such bodies as:

- Welsh Food Microbiological Forum targeted surveys;

- the All Wales ‘Shopping Basket’ Food Sampling Survey;
- Welsh Head of Trading Standards Surveys;

- Glamorgan Trading Standards Group Surveys;

- Public analysts co-ordinated surveys;

- Food Standards Agency surveys

The Food Standards Agency directs the regional feed coordination plan’s
sampling programme.

Trading Standards are embarking on a larger food standards sampling
programme than previous years. The service is targeting problem areas such as
allergens, colours and descriptions at takeaway outlets and carrying out sampling
of manufacturers and wholesalers as part of the intervention programme.
Sampling between Food & Health Protection and Trading Standards is now
coordinated and are incorporated into the annual plan of food sampling devised
respectively by Environmental Health and Trading Standards.

Page 133



Table 5(c): Numbers of Official Control Samples, by year.

Official Control Samples
300
250
200
150
100
50
0
2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 (est)

Resource allocation:

- Approximately 3 days a month are spent by one officer (usually a Support
Officer) sampling foods for microbiological analysis and undertaking the
subsequent administration.

- Most food standards samples are taken by qualified and competent
officers. However, Trading Standards will be utilising the TS assistant for
informal sampling surveys, follow up action to be taken by suitably

qualified and authorised officers.

- Samples taken are submitted to either the local Microbiology testing
laboratory (PHW- lab) or Public Analyst within 24 hours of sampling.

3.6 Control and Investigation of Outbreaks and Food Related Infectious Disease

All formal notifications (of all types of Infectious Disease notifications) are
recorded on an NHS shared platform (called TARIAN). Subsequent investigations

Page 134



are based on the type of organism, the number of cases, and are in accordance
with the over-arching Communicable Disease Outbreak Control Plan for Wales
(re-issued September 2012 by Chief Medical Officer- Wales). Additionally, there
are various supporting infectious disease investigation procedures utilised locally
by Neath Port Talbot.

Table 5(d): Graph to show Notifications of all Infectious Diseases, including Food-
related

350
300 180 |
67
250 | 125 ||
21 - @ Others
200 45 _-_ | || OCryptosporidium
ﬂ fg va B Salmonella
150 il |1 []| OCampylobacter
21 12
100 s | | | || [_l208| |220] |
141 135 151
50 - 84 104 | - I || I ||
0 1 1 1 1 1 1
™ b o A @ o
N N N N
o > & & a0 & 0’519\
L
,&\
2

Periodically, we receive complaints from members of the public as self-referrals.
These are often reported as suspected cases of food poisoning. Initially, advice is
given for the case to report to their GP, but invariably these are followed up as
service requests and investigated accordingly. They are also reported to the NPT
Consultant in Communicable Disease Control. Workloads are consistently high in
this area of work, and where Emergencies / Major Outbreaks occur, they are
dealt with as top priority, with other work being re-scheduled.

Page 135



3.7

The existing internal resources are sufficient to deal with the estimated number
of food poisoning cases for the forthcoming year

Food & Feed Safety Incidents

The service has a documented procedure which deals with action to be taken
following the receipt or initiation of a food alert. In line with the current Code of
Practice, the department uses the APP / Flare database for recording actions
taken following a food or feed alert.

Alerts are received by a direct email from the Food Standards Agency Wales
(FSA-W) to enforcement officers. The warning procedure for food incidents
recognises that Alerts for Action (FAFA) are required to be dealt with quickly, and
are treated as a very high priority - which often takes priority over other work of
the sections. More often, Food Alerts for Information or Allergy are issued.

Most food alert warnings received require only a small officer resource.

However occasionally more resources will be required.

When necessary, affected businesses will be contacted and encouraged to
commence a withdrawal. Enforcement procedures exist to ensure an
appropriate response.

Equally, the department will liaise with the Food Standards Agency Wales and
other relevant agencies who will be contacted immediately via the applicable

Food Incident report form/ mechanisms for breaches detected in NPT.

Table 5(e):

Page 136



140

120

100

80

60

40

20

ikl

2016-17

2017-18

Food & Feed Alerts

2018-2019 2019/20
(estimated)

M Food Alert For Action

B Food Alert For Information

M Food Allergy Alert

M Food Product recall/withdrawl

M Feed Alert Notification

The department receives a significant number of allergy alerts; however few of
these require action on the part of the food authority. Existing internal
resources will be sufficient to deal with the estimated number of food alerts /
food incidents, as each inspecting officer also deals with reactive work.

Page 137




3.8 Liaison with other Organisations

The authority has a number of arrangements to ensure enforcement action is
consistent with neighbouring local authorities. Officers participate in a variety of
external liaison groups, which are summarised below:

Table 6 : Breakdown of resource allocation for liaison with other organisations.

GROUP AVERAGE RESOURCE ALLOCATION

TS Glamorgan Food Group 4 days per year 1 Officer

TS NPT/Swansea Feed Region 4 days per year 1 Officer

TS Glamorgan Group 4 days per year 1 Officer

WHoTS Animal Health and Welfare Panel 4 days per year 1 Officer

WHoTS Group 6 days per year 1 Officer

WHOEHG Food Safety (Task Group & Technical Panel) 4 days per year 1 Officer

WHoEHG Communicable 4 days per year 1 Officer

Disease (Task Group & Technical Panel)

WHOoEHG: Environmental Health Group 4 days per year 1 Officer

Welsh Food Microbiological Forum 3 days per year 1 Officer

Meetings with CCDC Estimate 2 days per 1 Officer
year

Consultee to Building Control & Planning Department & Estimate 2 1 Officer

Licensing Department. consultations per week

Regulatory Delivery Estimate 2 days per 2 Officers
year

Welsh Food Fraud Coordination Unit Estimate 2 days per 2 Officers
year

National Food Crime Unit Estimate 2 days per 2 Officers
year

Ad hoc meetings with NPTCBC Education and Social Services | 4 days per year 1 Officer

Departments

Key: WHoTS = Welsh Heads of Trading Standards.
WHOEHG = Welsh Heads of Environmental Health Group
CCDC = Consultant in Communicable Diseases

Page 138




3.9 Food and Feed Safety and Standards Promotion & Intelligence

Educational and promotional activities are considered to be important aspects in
the delivery of a varied and comprehensive food safety service. The following
table illustrates how this authority achieves this function.

Methods of Food & Feed Promotion

Food information Attendance at Targeted advice to
available directly from || consumer education Liaison with NPTCBC congsumer groups
EH& TS and via th ts. food deli i ’

! and via the events ood delivery services FBOs and FeBOs.
website.

Facilitating hand

. L washing
Disseminating . .
. . . . demonstrations in )
information on the Active promotion of . Targeted seminars and
) educational o .
work of the national food Safety ) training sessions to
. . establishments and
department via social events FBOs & FeBOs
media voluntary groups when

requested.

The authority will continue to promote food safety and standards in all areas of its
work. Most inspections are carried out pro-actively and include an element of the
promotion of best practices” by officers to encourage businesses implement systems
that achieve compliance with relevant legislation. Prospective business owners are
encouraged to seek the advice of the department before the food business opens to
prevent possible food hygiene and standards contraventions from occurring, however
this will attract a charge.

The business side of health promotion function is integrated within the food service

delivery team. Although there is no specific staffing resource allocated to this
function, the daily contacts which the teams have with businesses are an important

Page 139




opportunity to positively influence the wider business community, their employed staff
and customers.

Page 140



Methods of Sharing Intelligence

Knowledge Hub
(reference and
discussion site)

National Anti-Fraud
Network (NAFN)

IDB (The  Trading
Standards Intelligence
Database)

RIAMS (as provided by
the Food Standards
Agency)

Trading Standards
Regional Intelligence
Analyst intelligence
database and Local
Intelligence Officer
network.

Civica / APP. Local
authority enforcement
database

FSSiNet — Food
Sampling Surveillance
System

Coordinating  groups
and panels specialising
in food and feed
enforcement

Page 141




4.0 RESOURCES

4.1 Financial Allocation

The table below provides a summary of actual expenditure and income for the
Food Service.

Table 7
Budget Figures

Revenue Budget Actuals 2018/19

Expenditure
Staffing- Food Hygiene 418,578
Staffing- Infectious Disease 46,509
Staffing- Food Standards 82,113
Staffing- Animal Feeding Stuffs 22,124
Transport (TS) 2,110
Transport (EH) 6,907
Equipment (EH) 2,931
Legal Fees — (TS) 0
Sampling & Analysis — Food Hygiene 1483

Sampling and Analysis — Trading Standards —

Food & Feed only 28777
Total Expenditure 611,532
Income
Government Grant 0
Other Income 7960
Total Income 7960
Net Expenditure 603,572

4.2 Staff Development Plan

Page 142



4.3

The department is committed to providing appropriate training for staff. A
training and development plan is in place for the Environmental Health and
Trading Standards Service. All food & feed enforcement staff participate in one-
to-one supervisory review with a manager approximately every 6-9 weeks and
an annual appraisal. Regular Food Hygiene Team meetings are held to discuss
ongoing food and communicable disease issues. Trading Standards hold monthly
briefing sessions to update staff on new developments in the field, business plan
progress, administration issues and to discuss cases.

The training and development budget for 2019/20 for the whole of the EH & TS
service is initially set at £8,923. Training is arranged regionally, and by attending
events arranged by the FSA and utilising e-training facilities.

The Authority participates in the All-Wales Communicable Disease Lead Officer
Training events funded by the Wales Centre for Health. All-Wales update
training on food related topics is also provided by the Food Standards Agency on
key issues, but is of necessity restricted to usually 2 officers per local authority,
and is often free. Officers are expected to maintain their competencies, and
undertake to ensure their continuing professional development (CPD) by
undertaking suitable study or training equivalent to a minimum of 10 Hours per
annum (from 15t January, annually). This is monitored by the respective service
managers and discussed during the one to one reviews. There is considerable
reliance placed upon the Food Standards Agency for external training in respect
of food and feed standards matters.

Feed CPD runs over the financial year, April to March. Training is arranged
regionally via the funding provided by the FSA.

Legal Expenditure

Legal fees and costs for taking action in connection with food standards and food
hygiene cases have remained fairly constant over the past few years. Whilst
there is no direct budget allocated for this purpose, resources are provided as
needed from both the commissioning directorate and Corporate legal services,
and costs incurred by both are applied for at the conclusion of the legal action -
where there is an overspend/shortfall in resource, this is reported to the Head Of
Service for subsidising on an ad-hoc basis, or from central reserves. There is a
recent example of this kind of occurrence with a consumer fraud investigation
which is likely to incur 6 figure legal fees.

Page 143



Receipts from the incentivisation scheme under the Proceed of Crime Act can be
re-invested in enforcement related actions. There has been a moderate rise
within both food services of cases referred for prosecution as significant
infringements have been detected. This is likely to continue to persist over the
coming years as intelligence indicates that there is continued infringement of
allergen, adulteration and misdescription legislation within Neath Port Talbot.

Page 144



5.0 QUALITY ASSESSMENT

5.1

The quality of the food service will be regularly assessed to ensure the Service
Delivery Plan and Food Standards Agency framework agreement on local
authority enforcement (‘The Framework Agreement Standard’) is being
achieved.

Management monitoring

Evaluation methods to be used will include:

- Monitoring of performance measures is carried out on a Quarterly basis,
and reported to the relevant Member forum for scrutiny. Additionally,
ad-hoc internal checks are undertaken to monitor progress towards the
Business Plan priorities.

- Monitoring of inspections by supervisors and management within each
section. Monitoring of inspection reports and records.

- Officer reviews held every 6-9 weeks, plus an annual appraisal, which
includes a competency assessment for food and feed enforcement as
appropriate.

- Accompanied visits and Peer assessments- following internal protocols.

These evaluations are recorded.
The Food Standards Agency (FSA) has discretion to undertake audits (full or

focussed) of food authorities, and their latest full assessment was undertaken in
2014, with a follow up visit in August 2016.

Page 145



6.0 REVIEW

6.1 Review Against Service Plan

Strategically, the Head of Service and the Environmental Health & Trading Standards
Manager has
overall responsibility for the direction and performance of the service.

The Environmental Health & Trading Standards Manager is the Accountable Manager for
the food
hygiene, food standards and feed standards & hygiene functions.

The Manager reviews the key performance measures and service improvements
contained in the plan on a quarterly basis as part of the performance management
process, these are reported internally at quarterly intervals to Cabinet Board and the
associated Scrutiny Committee.

6.1.1 Food Hygiene
In addition, regular meetings are held with the food hygiene team (food and health
protection). This is to ensure that on-going projects, improvements and inspection

targets outlined in this service plan and the business plan are effectively monitored
and managed.

Achievements for 2018/19 included:-
& Inspecting 100% of all High Risk premises for food hygiene purposes.
e Issuing over 500 food hygiene ratings to businesses;
e Sampling food products in line with the all-Wales surveys of food quality
e Serving 34 hygiene improvement (enforcement) notices to ensure certain
businesses met minimum legal standards;
6.1.2 Food Standards and Feeding stuffs
Achievements for 2018/19 include:-

& |nspecting 100% of High Risk premises for food standards purposes.

Page 146



6.2

Participating in the Glamorgan Group of Trading Standards Authorities
coordinated sampling exercises.

The surrendering of over 600 bottles of non-compliant vodka to the department
from a large regional supermarket chain.

Two successful prosecutions of local businesses that despite repeated advice
failed to comply with legislation. One of these was a joint investigation with the
food hygiene service.

Improving the coordination between the food hygiene and food standards
intervention programmes and the subsequent sharing of intelligence.

The continued detection and correction of breaches of allergen legislation.
Running a food standards training event for FBOs in conjunction with the City &
County of Swansea.

Continuing to identify and investigate a number of food fraud offences at
takeaways and restaurants involving the substitution of beef for lamb in meals
and the presence of prohibited colours.

The continued delivery of advice to traders in respect of allergen information
provision and the establishment and maintenance of allergen control systems.
This has been identified as a priority area, and will continue into the new
financial year.

Meeting the targets set by the WHOTS/FSA regional feed delivery group.

The continued development of a coordinated enforcement plan with Food
Hygiene

Identification of Variation from the Plan

Variations from the Service Plan will be identified annually. Reasons for the
variance and whether or not these are justified will also be given.

Trading Standards has a large backlog of inspectable businesses for Food
Standards purposes. This is due to higher priority work taking precedence. The
implementation of the coordinated intervention programmes has eased the
pressure on the service slightly. Proactive inspections will continue to be subject
to the same competition for resources as other work, and will be prioritised as
necessary.

With regard to food hygiene interventions at lower risk rated premises, the
previous backlog has been addressed. However, there remains a risk that if
resources are capped, priority and resources will be directed at inspections of
higher risk establishments and investigation of non-compliant premises.

Page 147



6.3

Areas for Improvement

Over the past 5 years, the changes to food safety legislation and the challenges
faced by food safety enforcement authorities have been significant. National
priorities continue to be influenced by the Food Standards Agency, Office of
Product Safety & Standards (formerly Regulatory Delivery), and National Trading
Standards (NTS), as well as the impact of the final report from the South Wales
E.coli 0157 public enquiry, and the ongoing visits from the EU Food & Veterinary
Office to Welsh Authorities. = However, some of the current planned
improvements for 2019/20 and beyond include:-

1. Reviewing out of hours provision and cover arrangements in relation to
outbreaks of communicable disease and service delivery - particularly
emergencies;

2. Developing a training programme for officers involved in the investigation

of outbreaks of communicable disease

Undertaking suitable promotional activities / campaigns

Establishing measures to assess the quality of the service provided

Consulting more with stakeholders

Continuing to review food standards, food hygiene (primary producers)

and feed legislation in relation to qualification of officers and demands on

the service

7. Continuing to develop the coordinated food hygiene / standards
intervention programme, as highlighted by the internal ‘System Review’
process

8. Continue to develop the agile working scheme

9. Continuing to develop the use of the Intelligence Operating Model for
Trading Standards

10. Continuing to improve the use of alternative enforcement strategies in
relation to food and feed inspections

11. The challenges regarding local government financing and organisation

12. Assessing and addressing the demands on the service following the
United Kingdom’s exit from the European Union

13. Addressing the demands on the service from the Food Standards Agency
“Regulating Our Future” programme

oukWw

Page 148



APPENDIX A

Decision Making Structure:

[ Full Council }

_ Scrutiny
Cabinet Board W ( Committee for
J L Cabinet Board

[ Officers }

Page 149



APPENDIX B

Department Structure:

é Chief Executive h

S J

( Corporate Director h
(Director of Environment)

S J
é Head of Service h
(Head of Planning & Public
Protection)

S J

Environmental Health & Trading
Standards Manager

|
( Team Leader- ( Team Leader- h
Food and Health Protection Trading Standards
- S J
( Food Hygiene & ( Food Standards & h
Infectious Disease Feedingstuffs / Animal Health
services services
- - J

Page 150

Team Leader-
General Environmental Health,
Housing and Health & Safety




APPENDIX C

Service Structure: (As at 1/4/2019)

( Head of Service
(Planning & Public
Protection)

(. J

(Environmental Health &\
Trading Standards

Manager

|
Team Leader-
(Food & Health
Protection)

0.92x Senior EHO
(Food & Health
Protection)

5.24x EHO
(Food & Health
Protection)

(1.86x Enforcement Officer\

N J
: )

1.0x Support Officer
N J

Team Leader-
(General Environmental
Health)

Page 151

|
Team Leader-
Trading Standards (FTE to
food & feed 0.3)

0.4 x Senior Trading
Standards Officer

1.1 x Trading Standards A
Officers

[1.0X Enforcement Officers\

[ 0.1x Support Officer




APPENDIX D

Number of Registered Food Premises by Ward (2018 & 2019)

WARDS : (WARD | 2018 | 2019 | WARDS: (WARD 2018 | 2019
NEATH CODES) PORT TALBOT CODES)

Aberdulais ABD 15 14 | Aberavon ABV 77 73
Alltwen ALL 14 14 | Baglan BAG 41 37
Blaengwrach BLA 12 12 | Briton Ferry East BFE 43 43
Bryncoch North BRN 22 19 | Briton Ferry West BFW 13 12
Bryncoch South BRS 36 33 | Bryn and Cwmavon BRY 52 49
Cadoxton CAD 11 12 | Coedffranc Central coc 44 39
Cimla CIM 21 20 | Coedffranc North CON 10 13
Crynant CRY 15 13 | Coedffranc West cow 43 41
Cwmllynfell WM 14 12 | Cymmer CYM 32 27
Dyffryn DYF 26 21 | Glyncorrwg GLC 10 8
Gwaun-cae-Gurwen GCG 26 23 | Gwynfi GWY 11 11
Glynneath GLN 36 32 | Margam MAR 46 45
Godrergraig GOD 7 8 Port Talbot POR 75 71
Lr Brynamman LBR 8 8 | Sandfields East SAE 42 40
Neath (East) NEE 44 42 | Sandfields West SAW 38 32
Neath (North) NEN 149 | 132 | Taibach TAI 41 39
Neath (South) NES 21 18 | Port Talbot area Total 618 580
Onllwyn ONL 10 9

Pelenna PEL 9 11 | Other/ Out of area XXX 0 0
Pontardawe PON 91 88 | NPT Combined Total 1309 1222
Resolven RES 21 21

Rhos RHO 12 14

Seven Sisters SEV 18 17

Tonna TON 19 15

Trebanos TRE 7 8

Ystalyfera YST 27 26

Neath area Total 691 | 642

Page 152




Appendix 2

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH AND TRADING STANDARDS SERVICE

Review of Food and Feed Law Enforcement Performance 2018 / 2019

1.0 Introduction

This document is the annual food and feed law enforcement performance
review to measure compliance with the Food Enforcement Framework and
has been submitted to the Head of Planning and Public Protection for

approval.

2.0 Planned inspections/interventions 2018/2019:

2.1. Food Hygiene:-

RISK NUMBER OF | BALANCE OF NEW NUMBER OUT-TURN /
CATEGORY PREMISES / OLD PREMISES ACHIEVED
CARRIED INTERVENTIONS INSPECTED /
FORWARD DUE / PLANNED BY | INTERVENTIONS
31/3/2019 ACHIEVED AS AT
(TO EXCLUDE ANY 31/3/2019
PREMISES WHICH
CEASE TRADING)
High Risk:-
A 0 6 6 100%
B 0 53 53 100%
C 0 306 306 100%
Low Risk:-
D 0 74 72 97%
E 0 81 81 100%
(mainly via AES:
Alternative
Enforcement
Strategy) .

Page 153




Commentary:

Resources were prioritised on undertaking all High Risk food premises. An
initiative to address ‘Category E’ rated premises was completed, using the
flexibility permitted under the Food Law Code of Practice, which involved
issuing a self-assessment questionnaire as part as an Alternative
Enforcement approach, with all results reviewed and a 10% sample visited
for confirmation, plus any non-responders.

2.1.1 Broadly Compliant Pl: (PAMO0Q9)
The out-turn Pl for 2018/19 was : 93.92% (based on 998/1052 premises
achieving a 3/4/5 FH Rating).

2.1.2 Food Hygiene Ratings:
609 Food Hygiene inspections were undertaken, and Food Hygiene
Ratings issued where applicable;
43 Food hygiene re-ratings were applied for and progressed;

The FSA website had regular uploads of data (at least every 28 days), and

additional ad-hoc uploads were undertaken to take account of important
in-month changes.

Page 154



2.2 Food Standards : Planned Interventions

RISK NUMBER OF | BALANCE OF NEW / NUMBER OUT-TURN /
CATEGORY PREMISES OLD PREMISES ACHIEVED
CARRIED INTERVENTIONS INSPECTED /
FORWARD DUE / PLANNED BY | INTERVENTIONS
31/3/2019 ACHIEVED AS AT
(TO EXCLUDE ANY 31/3/2019

PREMISES WHICH
CEASE TRADING)

A 0 13 13 100%
(every 12
months)
B 3 98 67 68%
(every 24 (3 old + 95 new)
months)
C 94 150 33 22%
(every 5 (94 old + 56 new)
years)
UNRATED 256 256 39 15%
(not yet
visited)

Resources were directed to inspecting the A, B and Unrated businesses
within the county borough. Certain “C” rated premises are being prioritised
due to the nature of the business, the department has identified that many
takeaways are risked as “C”, but due to the hazards associated with
allergens and breaches of food description in this trade sector they are
being targeted for more comprehensive intervention. Food standards
inspections of specific C rated and some unrated businesses where it is felt
that controls are likely to be robust and more than adequate will be carried
out by environmental health officers during their food hygiene inspections.
These businesses are referred back to Trading Standards as necessary.
Trading Standards is generally intelligence led. Analysis has identified that
the main areas of concern for food standards reside in catering premises,
particularly in addressing concerns on allergens, presence of illegal or

Page 155




restricted colours and the adulteration or substitution of food. The service
continues to participate in coordinated operations and enforcement in the
field of food supplements, an area that is complex and has been the subject
of numerous food safety warnings. Consequently, the department is
directing resources to this area.

Progress on interventions and quality checks are monitored by the Trading
Standards Team Leader via spot checks, accompanied visits, annual
appraisals and quarterly staff review meetings.

2.3 Feed Standards : Planned Inspections

Feed enforcement within Wales is funded directly by the Food Standards
Agency, and administered by the Welsh Heads of Trading Standards
(WHOTS). Wales is divided into regions, Neath Port Talbot and Swansea
form one of these regions. Co-ordination across the Swansea / Neath Port
Talbot area is delivered by an officer from Swansea Trading Standards, the
Trading Standards Team Leader in Neath Port Talbot acts as liaison with
Swansea.

The feed inspection and sampling programme is drafted by WHOTS and the
FSA based on the feed registers from each authority. The FSA categorises
feed businesses by feed registration and approval type. These businesses
are required to be inspected during the forthcoming year. Each region is
expected to carry out interventions at those premises.

Neath Port Talbot and Swansea met their feed inspection targets last year.
Whilst there were in-year changes to the registration and approval register,
replacement businesses were identified for inspection with agreement
from the FSA.

Page 156



Type of Business: Feed Standards Allocation for NPT Inspected by NPT
from region
Manufacturer AO1-08 & R01-04 1 2
Co Product Producer R12 4 2
Mobile Mixer R04 0 0
Importers 0 0
Stores R09 includes Amazon, Briton 1 0
Ferry Stevedoring, Cimla Equestrian
Centre, remaining ones are farms
Distributor A01-08, R01-03 & RO5 2 2
Transporter RO8 No transportersin NPT 1 0
On Farm Mixer R10 (Annex Il) 1 0
On Farm Mix R11 0 1
Pet Food Manufacturer RO6 1 1
Supplier of feed materials/Surplus Food 0 6
RO7
Total "Above The Line" 11 14
Livestock farms R13 35 32
Arable Farms 0 1
Total Premises to inspect 46 47

The service met its feed inspection commitment for 2018/19. There were
in year changes of functions and some premises had closed which accounts
for the disparity in targeted premises and those that had actually been
inspected.

There have been issues with the delivery of the feed enforcement service
across Wales, but nothing specific to Neath Port Talbot / Swansea. There
are regular discussions on restructuring the arrangements, but nothing has
been confirmed as yet. Any changes to delivery arrangements would take
effect from April 2020 at the earliest.

Page 157




3.0 Samples:

3.1 Food Hygiene:-

Samples were mainly taken in accordance with the National Sampling
priorities, as agreed via the Welsh Food Microbiological Forum (WFMF).
Additionally, local sampling initiatives were undertaken to increase the
monitoring of locally available products, and to maximise the benefit of
sampling allocations - in conjunction with Wales Public Health Laboratory,
based at Glangwilli Hospital, Carmarthen. During the period 1/4/2018 -
31/3/2019, 275-samples were taken, of which 165 were Satisfactory; and
72 were classed as Borderline (but not a fail), and 38 were Unsatisfactory.
Satisfactory samples do not attract any further action.

All borderline samples are followed up with an advisory letter to encourage
reviews of pertinent controls, such as temperature controls; stock rotation;
handling practices.

All unsatisfactory results are subject to follow up actions ranging from
providing advice regarding improvements to undertake, together with
further sampling, through to removing products from sale and taking robust
enforcement action.

3.2 Food Standards

The Trading Standards Team Leader stood down as chair for the Glamorgan
Food Group following arranging 2019/20 sampling programme. The Senior
TSO will now represent the authority on the group.

Sampling initiatives are intelligence led, and last year focussed on:

e Acrylamide survey Commission Regulation (EU) 2017/2158 took

effect from April 2018. Acrylamide is a chemical substance formed
when starchy foods, such as potatoes and bread, are cooked at high

Page 158



temperatures (above 120°C). It has been linked to cancers in small
animals. No significant breaches were detected locally.

Colours and description at takeaways. Intelligence indicates that
non permitted colours and substitution and mis-description of food
at catering establishments is still a problem. A number of breaches
have been detected locally and these are currently being
investigated.

Food Supplements. Significant numbers of infringements have been
detected in this area, from labelling to composition including the
presence of banned substances. The nature of the manufacture and
distribution of these products in gyms, health clubs and the internet
has meant that they can be difficult to detect. Potentially thereis a
significant health risk associated with these products. There have
been some breaches related to labelling that has been referred on.
Where previously undetected businesses have been identified, they
will be subject to sampling.

There was also a free cross border allergen training event, jointly
held by Swansea and Neath Port Talbot in the Guildhall in Swansea.
Take up by NPT Food Business Operators was poor, this has been put
down in part to a failure to publicise extensively and as well as the
time and location of the venue. It is agreed that these events are
useful and these issues will be addressed at the next event.

The authority participated in a national survey of local meat product
suppliers. 4 samples were taken, no significant breaches were
detected.

Finally, the authority also participated in the OPSON this year. OPSON
is an annual intelligence led, European wide food survey, which this
year focussed on organic claims at local producers. No infringements
were detected.

Page 159



e The department also participated in joint inspections with Food
hygiene to promote greater understanding of each discipline and to
encourage sharing of information, these were successful and will be a
more regular event in the future.

Sampling and any subsequent investigations are monitored by the Trading
Standards Team Leader and Senior Trading Standards Officer via spot

checks, annual appraisals and quarterly staff review meetings.

3.3 Feed Standards

The new regional co-ordinated framework agreement has led to more
support being available for taking samples. As part of the regional sampling
programme and in line with the national priorities for sampling, the service
took 3 samples. The samples were taken to identify levels of carcinogenic
mycotoxins in farm feed, and animal proteins of former foodstuffs
redirected to animal feed. There were no sample failures.

4.0 Service requests / reactive work:

4.1 Food Hygiene:-

Service requests- all types = 802

Of which:-
FNA (Food new business- advice for speculative start-up) = 29.
FNB (Food new business- advice & advisory interventions prior to
trading) = 118.
FNC (Food new business- trading) = 37.

Also, the Food & Health Protection service received the following:-
Infectious Diseases- notifications of cases/incidents = 280.

Page 160



Whilst target response times have been established for all service requests,
a further analysis will be undertaken to ensure that they remain fit for
purpose, and that prioritisation of resources (in accordance with lean
systems principles) will ensure the best utilisation of resources, whilst
managing expectations of service requestors.

4.2 Food & Feed Standards

The department received 7 requests for food advice last year that were not
as the result of an intervention. These varied from business start-ups to
specific issues.

There were no requests for feed advice.

Through the Citizens Advice Consumer Service (CACS) and other means, the
department received 54 food complaints during 2018/19. Most of the
complaints related to the sale of out of date food (best before and use by),
however there were an increasing number relating to allergen declaration.
The businesses were advised and follow action taken as appropriate.

No feed complaints were received.

The department received 153 food alerts. The majority of these were
allergy alerts, regarding food that failed to declare the presence of an
allergen or did not display the presence prominently enough. As with Food
hygiene these are mainly dealt with by support staff. Where necessary they
will be escalated by the Trading Standards Team Leader. No feed alerts
were received.

Requests for advice and complaints are fed into the authority’s intervention

plan which in turn leads to the identification of priorities and work areas for
the forthcoming year.

Page 161



Response times and investigations / advice are monitored by the Trading
Standards Team Leader and Senior Trading Standards Officer via spot
checks, annual appraisals and quarterly staff review meetings.

5.0 Promotional work:

5.1 Food Hygiene promotional work:-

The service was able to use various social media platforms to pass on
messages relating to food safety topics- particularly the re-tweeting of
information from the Food Standards Agency and the promoting of food
hygiene premises which gained a 5 rating.

Page 162



5.2 Food Standards Promotional work:-

The section has assisted other departments in promoting business support
and advice sessions by contacting local FBOs (Food Business Operators) to
raise awareness of planned events.

In conjunction with Swansea Trading Standards and the Food Standards
Agency, the department ran allergen training events aimed at caterers at
the beginning of the year.

The service has access to the EH&TS social media accounts and is active in
promoting consumer, business advice and Trading Standards activity and
enforcement.

The service also had a high-profile prosecution of Marley Foods Cwmgors
Limited in conjunction with food hygiene, and press releases were issued as

a result. :

Marley Foods Cwmgors Press Release

5.3 Feed Standards Promotional Work

New feed businesses are regularly identified and contacted to ensure that
they are properly registered.

6.0 Primary Authority:

6.1 Food Hygiene, Food Standards and Feed Standards-

The Primary Authority scheme is UK wide and each LA must have regard to
any established partnerships between businesses and regulators. Whilst
currently there are no food business partnerships which NPT are
responsible for, there are many which NPT must have regard to during the
inspection of premises within the borough.

Page 163


https://www.npt.gov.uk/1410?pr_id=6151

Where such partnerships exist, and cover businesses operating with
NPTCBC, the service liaises with the relevant LA’s to give general feedback
following inspections which are subject to an agreed (UK wide) inspection
plan, and specific feedback where breaches are detected.

NPT Trading Standards have embarked on their first Primary Authority
relationship. This is with a non-food business. The service is now looking to
expand its portfolio to English based companies seeking Welsh partners for
devolved matters and local businesses that will benefit from the
arrangement.

7.0 Safety Incidents:

7.1 Food hygiene:-

No food safety incident reports (e.g. withdrawals) necessitated initiation by
EH of NPTCBC.
All notifications of withdrawals requiring specific action are prioritised.

7.2 Food Standards

No food safety incident reports (e.g. withdrawals) necessitated initiation by
TS of NPTCBC.

All notifications of withdrawals requiring specific action are prioritised.

7.3 Feed Standards

No Feed safety incidents were recorded.

Page 164



8.0 Staff Development / Training / Continuing professional development:

8.1 Food hygiene:-

All staff have achieved their expected CPD (which has been set at a
minimum of 10 hours per calendar year, although this is due to change to
20 hours p.a. next year); additionally:

1 officer (REN) continued a secondment in the General EH team until Dec
2018, to deal with workload pressures. A second officer post has been
seconded into the General EH team for 18 months to coincide with a
project on Empty Homes.

The team has continued to implement the findings of the Food Service
system review, including the closer working relationship with Trading
Standards in respect of combining certain Food Standards inspections and
the Agile working pilot. Five members of staff within the General
Environmental Health team obtained the certificate of Registration of the
Environmental Health Registration Board (EHRB). EHRB is a requirement
under the Food Law code of Practice for Officers to be able to inspect Food
businesses for food hygiene purposes. This gives the service greater
flexibility to allocate staff resources for food hygiene if required.

8.2 Food Standards

All food qualified officers met their required 10 hours CPD in 2018/19.
Training was achieved by a combination of courses run by the Food
Standards Agency, Welsh Heads of Trading Standards, online courses run by
the FSA and workshops run within Neath Port Talbot. The CPD requirement
has recently been revised to 20 hours, which includes active enforcement.

Page 165



8.3 Feed Standards

Only one member of the team met their required 10 hours CPD in 2018/19.
This was due to a lack of opportunities for training. This has been identified
by the Trading Standard Team Leader and Senior Trading Standards Officer

who have already begun a programme of in house seminars to address the

issue. One seminar was held in April, and another is due in August. The FSA
has provided more training courses since the 1t of April, consequently CPD

requirements should be met for 2019/20.

Two officers carry out the feed inspections on farms which is the bulk of the
enforcement programme, these officers are required to be competent, but
don’t necessarily need a specific qualification. There are a smaller number
of feed inspections at factories and stores that need to be carried out the
TSOs who are specifically qualified.

9.0 Monitoring:

9.1 Food hygiene monitoring:-

LAEMS (Local Authority Electronic Monitoring System) data is provided
annually to the Food Standards Agency - which gives detailed information
on the key performance statistics for each Council across the UK, for
submission to EU. The detail covers areas such as: intervention totals and
by risk category; enforcement actions; number of premises by type and risk
categorisation; samples taken; staffing levels; certain service requests etc.
On a quarterly basis key performance indicators are reported to Scrutiny
Committee and the associated Cabinet Board, and are publically available.
Line managers keep track of inspection targets, and the reactive workloads
on a monthly basis, or more frequently when required.

Page 166



9.2 Food & Feed Standards monitoring:-

LAEMS data is provided annually to the Food Standards Agency - which
gives detailed information on the key performance statistics for each
Council across the UK, for submission to EU. The detail covers areas such
as: intervention totals and by risk category; enforcement actions; number
of premises by type and risk categorisation; samples taken; staffing levels;
complaints etc.

Each officer’s intervention programme is set at the beginning of the year.
This is reviewed and updated during the relevant officer’s quarterly review.
Section progress is checked on a quarterly basis, key performance
indicators are reported to Scrutiny Committee and the associated Cabinet
board, and are publically available.

The TS Team Leader and Senior Trading Standards Officer monitors officer
inspection targets and reactive workloads formally during the quarterly
review. If issues with performance are identified, this frequency is
increased. Food / Feed Aide Memoires and post inspection reports are
reviewed by the Trading Standards Team Leader and Senior Trading
Standards Officer.

Feed standards inspections progress is fed back to WHOTS and the FSA via
the regional lead officer, based in the City & County Of Swansea. The
Trading Standards Team Leader and regional lead identify and address
issues with performance against the inspection programme

Page 167



10.0 Review of Policies/Procedures

10.1 Food Hygiene / Food Standards / Feed Standards:

All major food policies and procedures are kept under review, with in-year
updates made when necessary. This year the enforcement policy and
infringements reporting procedure have also been amended.

Following a systems review of the services, the food hygiene and trading
standards services have become the pilot for “agile working” within the
authority. This has meant a change from paper based to digitally based
recording, officers not requiring fixed desks and working remotely, which
has introduced new challenges for management and support services. The
two services are trialling different means of recording interventions
electronically it is anticipated that by 2020/21 one of these systems will be
formally adopted. Despite some technical and cultural issues, the pilot has
been seen as a success and will be developed further.

In light of mounting budgetary pressures, a new Policy for charging for
Business Advice was introduced.

11. Conclusions

Food hygiene, and Food & Feed standards enforcement remains a priority
for the service.

Food hygiene inspection resources were prioritised on undertaking all high
risk food premises. The broadly compliant indicator remains consistently
high - this is a National Performance Indicator. National and local food
sampling initiatives were carried out throughout the year, and we will
continue to make use of sampling resources made available.

Page 168



The section will continue to exploit the regional connections that have been
forged in respect of feed delivery.

Regional working and intelligence gathering should continue to be
developed and there are clear priorities for the service in relation to both
food and feed and these need to be addressed, but without ignoring other
issues that are appearing on the horizon, such as EU Exit.

12. Review of report by Head of Service

| have reviewed and approve of this report.

(\i 6 TN "2’21 vZZ

Nicola Pearce
Head of Planning and Public Protection

Page 169



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 8

n Cyngor Castell-nedd Port Talbot
7, Neath Port Talbot Council

NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
Regeneration and Sustainable Development Cabinet Board

6th September 2019

Report of the Head of Legal Services : Craig Griffiths
Matter for Decision

Wards Affected:
Tonna

Report Title Alleged public footpath from Parkfield to the adopted footpath
linking Dulais Fach and Park Street. Community of Tonna.

1.1 Purpose of the Report:

To determine an application which alleges the existence of a public
footpath commencing at its eastern end on Parkfield, Tonna, between the
properties of No. 14 Parkfield and Cysgodfa, (a residential home) to join
another footpath already on the list of streets, shown A-B-C on the
attached plan. If agreed the Council would make a modification order to
add the path to the Definitive map and Statement which is the record of
public paths.

The alleged public footpath is 24 metres in length but the steps which
enabled people to walk down a slope from points B-C became buried
under stone and rubble between the two adjacent walls in March 2018. A
retaining wall approximately 2 metres was also built across the entrance
to the steps at point C, the result of which meant that the path became
unsafe to use.

2.1Executive Summary:

www.npt.gov.uk

Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol Head of Legal Services
Y Ganolfan Ddinesig, Port Talbot SA13 1PJ Civic Centre, Port Talbot, SA13 1PJ
DX 135226 Port Talbot 2 DX 135226 Port Talbot 2

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg a byddwn yn ymdrin éﬁhebiaeth )L?Ieg a Saesneg i'r un safonau ac amserlenni.
We welcome correspondence in Welsh and will deal with Wdls Qi% ish ebrrespondence to the same standards and timescales.



3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

The Board is under an obligation to make a decision upon the impartial
analysis of the evidence before it. The report initially considers the legal
tests that have to be applied before looking at the evidence in support of
the application as well as the objections made by Tai Tarian. Further
information is provided as to why the public say they use the path, before
the reasons are listed as to why it is recommended that a modification
order is made to recognise the path as a public right of way.

Background

The application has been made under the provision of the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981 and a copy of the relevant provisions of the Act are
reproduced in Appendix 1 of this report.

There are 22 people who have submitted user evidence forms in support
of this claim, 9 of whom have been interviewed. The average length of use
is 33 years with 19 having claimed to have walked this path for at least 20
years.

There are specific legal tests that have to be satisfied in order for the
application to be agreed.

The Law

For the purpose of this report it should always be noted that under
Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 (the relevant extract of which is
reproduced at Appendix 2) any minimum period of 20 years of
uninterrupted use, ‘could give rise to the presumption that the owner or
owners of the land has dedicated the path to the public.’

In addition to the statutory provisions referred to above, there may be

common law provisions to take into account, where any period of use,
whether it be less or more than 20 years could be deemed sufficient to

Page 172



3.6

3.7

4.1

1.2

establish there has been a dedication of that path to the public. Whilst
there is no minimum period required to infer common law dedication,
there would nonetheless have to be a reasonable period of use to be able
to conclude that the way has been dedicated to the public. In addition
there needs to be evidence of positive actions by the landowner/s that
shows there was an intention to dedicate and that the public have used
the way which is consistent with an acceptance of that dedication (further
details of the application of the principals of common law are found in
Appendix 3)

The ownership of the path between points A and B is unregistered but the
steps between points C and B are partly owned by Tai Tarian who own
and manage Cysgodfa, and partly by the owners of No. 14 Parkfield, the
adjacent property.

The path was closed by Tai Tarian and the reasons given were that the
path was in poor and dangerous condition, was steeply inclined and had
no lighting. In addition, that there would be a cost to improve and
maintain the path.

The tests to be applied in determining this application are as follows:

(a) Whether there has been a minimum period of 20 years uninterrupted
use prior to the first occasion the public’s alleged right to use the way
was challenged. This is known as the relevant period and is calculated
by counting retrospectively from the date. If there is no clarity on this
date, then the date of the application will be deemed to be the end of
the 20 year period.

(b) Whether as outlined in paragraph 1.5 there is evidence of common law
dedication.

Issues such as the convenience of the path to users or whether it would
provide a useful amenity of use of recreational value to the public are not
grounds for recognising the path as a public one. Conversely, if the
registration of the path were to prove inconvenient or problematic to the
owners, this would not be a relevant consideration. It is a question as to

Page 173



1.3

5.1

5.2

53

whether the public have the right to pass and re-pass on foot via the route
concerned.

The relevant tests are:

Whether a public right of way can be shown to exist:
(a) On the balance of probability, or
(b) That it is reasonable to allege one exists

In the case of (a) it would require weighing up the evidence and deciding
that it is more likely than not, such a public right exists. In the case of (b)
this means that the Council has to conclude there is sufficient evidence to
justify making a modification order rather than have to conclude a public
path exists. It is therefore a less onerous test. The latter test is explained
more fully in Appendix 4.

The Evidence

From the information provided by the 9 people interviewed the first
occasion the alleged path was closed was in March 2018. House numbers
1-3 at Parkfield appear on the 1964 edition of the ordnance survey plans
although no worn or marked paths appear on this edition. By the 1984
edition all the houses that exist today in Parkfield are shown on this later
plan. It includes the residential home of Cysgodfa as well as the claimed
public path including a series of lines denoting steps.

The applicant stated his house (No. 12 Parkfield) was completed in 1980
although the work on Cysgodfa was started in 1975 and all other houses
were completed by 1980. Furthermore, the applicant alleges that the
steps have been open since 1976 and were therefore installed as a short
cut and of benefit to the residents of Parkfield.

Tai Tarian dispute this and contend as they were built for the residents of

Cysgodfa. The steps provide access to the rear lane which is adopted
providing access to local facilities.

Page 174



54

55

5.6

5.7

5.8

5.9

The applicant has produced a copy of the plan produced by Neath
Borough Council, showing the plots for the proposed development at
Parkfield dated November 1974 (ref A283/1) which includes the footpath
A-B-C.

However, this path was never adopted even though the much earlier
footpath between Park Street and Dulais Fach Road, (shown as D-E) to
which it connects, is included in the list of streets.

The applicant also wishes to point out that consent was granted to Neath
Port Talbot Homes (the former owners of Cysgodfa) under reference
15/0040 in January 2015 for the ‘renewal and alteration of existing
supported housing unit with creation of 4 new units and new entrance.’
That in the planning application form there was the question ‘do the
proposals require any diversion / extinguishment and / or creation of
rights of way’ to which the answer “no” was given. However, the path
under consideration is not a registered public path and so at that time Tai
Tarian would have been under no obligation to have sought such an
order.

The creation of this path in 1976, would be interpreted as either initially
to have been for the benefit of the new residents of Parkfield, or solely for
the residents of Cysgodfa. Nonetheless, if the public subsequently make
use of a path and there is sufficient evidence of uninterrupted use, then
this can lead to the presumed dedication of that way.

There are only 6 households from Parkfield that have submitted user
evidence forms. 11 households from other roads and streets have also
claimed to have made long term use of this path. These streets are
highlighted on plan No. 2, with the numbers of those who have provided
evidence in support of the application quoted alongside the names of the
streets.

Tai Tarian dispute the claim from a number of those living in Parkfield
given the applicant can access the adopted path from the rear of the

Page 175



applicant’s property. 5 of the residents of Parkfield can access this lane
from the rear of their properties and it is arguable that for 3 the claimed
public path would not provide a shorter route.

5.10 The relevance of distinguishing between a limited number of residents

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

confined to only one street as opposed to others who live further afield, is
to ensure the claim does not reflect a special user group. It is necessary to
be satisfied that the path is used by the public at large, rather than
confined to a more limited number for whom it is solely a useful short cut.
Appendix 5 contains a more detailed explanation. It can be seen from plan
No. 2 that this path is used by the general public who as the forgoing
account shows make use of it for a variety of reasons.

Reasons for using the path

The 9 people interviewed were able to provide a more detailed account of
why they would wish to use the path particularly those who do not live in
Parkfield.

5 said it had been a useful path to take their dogs for walks, either as part
of a circular walk via the streets or more particularly to access the canal
towpath. None of the persons live in Parkfield, one said her use extends
over a period of 36 years having owned 3 dogs throughout this time.
Another said she had owned dogs for 20 years. The access to the canal
towpath is shown at point C.T.

Another 3, one of whom live in Parkfield, uses the path to access the
towpath and the river for general walking; all claim to have done so in
excess of 20 years.

3 people, who do not live in Parkfield said it has been useful to use the
alleged path to visit friends or relatives, one of whom stated that she has
a sister in Parkfield.

5 people, who also do not live in Parkfield said they used it as a short cut

to go to what is now a Thai restaurant, formerly the Railway Tavern, (RT)
also to go to the British Legion which is opposite this restaurant, or to go

Page 176



6.5

6.6

to the former Dulais Rock public house (DR) on the A465. Another person
who does live in Parkfield, stated that he has used the path regularly to go
to the Tonna Rugby (RC) club and the Whittington Arms (WA) situated on
Park Street. All such destinations are marked on plan No. 2.

2 people recalled a gate from some 20-30 years ago at the entrance to the
alleged path at Parkfield but stated it was never locked. One recalled a
notice requesting users be quiet for the sake of residents of Cysgodfa. The
applicant wished to clarify that the gate was at point C at the lower end of
the steps but agreed there was a notice as described.

2 people wished to point out that as far as they are aware there have
never been any accidents on the path, nor acts of vandalism, and no
evidence of any graffiti and so would challenge the suggestion the path
had to be closed for safety reasons. (Their use spans the periods 1980-
2018 and 1994-2018.)

Other Evidence

7.1

7.2

Tai Tarian who closed the path have not provided any evidence that
challenges the basis of the claim. One of the reasons given for its closure
was that it was no longer safe, or needed, thus an acknowledgement it
had been in use but no suggestion it was only used by the residents of
Cysgodfa.

Tai Tarian deny they have ever taken any measures to encourage the
public to use their path since their ownership of part of the path and the
residential home. Their actions to close the path in 2018 being a further
indication of their position. It is their view that the path would have been
set out for the residents of Cysgodfa, and the provision of a handrail
supports this view.

Secondly, that the fact the steps were never adopted by the Council
supports their view it was never intended for use by the public only for
residents of Cysgodfa.

Financial Impacts

Page 177



8.1 No implications
Integrated Impact Assessment.

9.1 A first stage impact assessment has been undertaken to assist the Council
in discharging its legislative duties (under the Equality Act 2010, The
Welsh language Standards (No.1) Regulations 2015, the Well-Being of
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and the Environment (Wales) Act
2016.

The first stage assessment has indicated that a more in depth assessment
is not required. A summary is included below.

Valley Communities Impacts

10.1 No Implications

Workforce Impacts

11.1 No Implications

Legal Impacts

12.1 Section 53 of the provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
places an obligation on the Council to continually review the entries in the
Definitive Map and Statement. It must take into account any evidence not
previously considered that shows the Map and Statement need to be
modified. As part of that duty the provisions of Section 31 of the Highways
Act 1980 also apply in this report, where the applicant relies on the
presumed dedication of the way due to a minimum period of 20 years
uninterrupted use.

Risk Management Impacts

13.2 There are no risks associated with implementing this Council’s statutory

obligations. There are risks in not doing so, as the applicant could either
refer the Council to the Welsh Ministers for failing to determine this

Page 178



application or complain to the Ombudsman.
Consultation
14.1 This item has been subject to external consultation.
Recommendation

15.1 It is recommended that a modification order be made under the provision
of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to add that length of footpath A-
B-C to the Definitive Map and Statement and if no objections to confirm
the same as an unopposed order.

Reasons for the Proposed Decision

16.1

(a) There is no counter evidence to question the application or to
challenge that residents have been able to walk the path for the
periods claimed.

(b) The reasons for using the path are varied and supported from
sufficient numbers who can be said to represent the public at large.

(c) The map evidence shows the path has been in existence since at least
1984, taken together with the accounts of those in support of the
application, shows the path has been available and in use since at
least this date.

(d) The photographs taken of the path before it was filled with stone and
concrete, show a series of steps and handrail evidently supports the
claim that these steps were intended for use whether;

(i) Exclusively for the residents of Cysgodfa or,

(ii)  Intended for use by the wider public when the houses at
Parkfield were completed.

Due to the supporting evidence it should be agreed that a public path

exists on the balance of probability as referred to in paragraph 3.3 (a)

and a modification order made to add this path to the definitive map

and statement.

The decision is proposed for implementation after the three day call in

Page 179



period.
Appendices

Appendix 1: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981

Appendix 2: Highways Act 1980

Appendix 3: Dedication under Common Law

Appendix 4: The test under 53(b)(i) to the Wildlife and Countryside Act
1981

List of background papers

File M08/72

Officer Contact:

Mr. Michael Shaw — Principal Solicitor — Litigation

Tel: 01639 763260
Email: m.shaw@npt.gov.uk

Page 180


mailto:m.shaw@npt.gov.uk

Appendix 1

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981

Section 53 Duty to keep the Definitive Map and Statement under continuous
review.

(2) Asregards every definitive map and statement, the surveying authority
shall:

(a) As soon as reasonably practical after the commencement date, by order
make such modifications to the map and statement as appear to them to be
requisite in consequence of the occurrence, before that date, of any of the
events specified in sub-section 3; and

(b) As from that date, keep the map and statement under continuous review
and as soon as reasonably practicable after the occurrence on or after that
date, of any of those events, by order make such modifications to the map
and statement as appear to them to be be requisite in consequence of the
occurrence of that event.

(3) The events referred to in sub-section (2) are as follows:-

(a) the expiration, in relation to anyway in the area to which the map relates of
any period such that the enjoyment by the public of the way during that

Page 181



period raises a presumption that the way has been dedicated as a public
path or restricted byway;

(b) the discovery by the Authority of evidence which (when considered with all
other relevant evidence available to them) shows:

(i)

that a right of way which is not shown on the map and statement
subsists or is reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area to
which the map relates, being a right of way such that the land over
which the right subsists is a public path, a restricted byway or, subject
to section 54A a byway open to all traffic;

that a highway shown in the map and statement as a highway of a
particular description ought to be there shown as a highway of a
different description.

That there is no public right of way over land shown in the map and
statement as a highway of any description, or any other particulars
contained in the map and statement require modification.

Page 182



Appendix 2

Highways Act 1980

Section 31. Dedication of way as a highway presumed after public use for
20 years.

Where a public way over land, other than a way of such a character that
use of it by the public could not give a rise at common law to any
presumption of dedication, has actually been enjoyed by the public as of
right and without interruption of a full period of 20 years, the way is
deemed to have been dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient
evidence that there was no intention during this period to dedicate it.

For Section 31 (1) Highways Act 1981 to operate and give rise to a
presumption of dedication the following criteria must be satisfied:

(i) The physical nature of the path must be such as is capable of being
a public right of way

(ii)  The use must be ‘brought into question’ i.e. challenged or disputed
in some way

Page 183



(iii)  Use must have taken place without interruption over the period of
20 years before the date on which the right is brought into question

(iv) Use must be as of right i.e. without force, without stealth or
without permission and in the belief that the route was public

(v)  There must be sufficient evidence that the landowner did not
intend to dedicate a right of type being claimed
Use must be by the public at large

Appendix 3

Dedication under Common Law

No minimum period of use is required, but the claimants must show that
if can be inferred by the landowners conduct, that he or she had
dedicated the route. User of right, is not of itself necessarily sufficient, nor
mere acquiescence by the owner under statute, twenty years, if proved to
have been uninterrupted will be sufficient to show presumed dedication.

Under common law it is still possible that use was due to the landowners
tolerance rather than because that landowner had intended to dedicate.
Consequently, there needs to be evidence that the landowner (or owners)
for whatever period is being considered, not only acquiesced to that use
but either directly or indirectly took measures to facilitate public use.

Obviously, this means the landowners have to be identified and evidence
that they wished to have the route dedicated to the public.

For the right of way to be established, it needs to be shown that it has
been used openly as a right and for so long a time that it must have come
to the knowledge of the owners that the public were using it as of right.
Public user is no more than evidence which has to be considered in the
light of all available evidence.

As a matter of proof at common law, the greater the length of user that

Page 184



can be demonstrated the stronger the inference of dedication will usually
be.

Appendix 4

The test under 53(b)(i) to the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.

The second test under 53(b)(i) is whether it is reasonable to allege a public path
exists. The Court of Appeal decision concerned R v Sec. of State for Wales ex
parte emery of 1997, held this will depend on the circumstances. If the evidence
from witnesses as to user conflicts with the evidence of the landowner/s on
objections, but it would be reasonable to accept the evidence of uninterrupted
use, and it would also be able to reject the evidence against the allegations,
then it would be reasonable to allege such a right. So unless the objector can
provide convincing evidence that it was not possible to conclude the paths had
become dedicated then a modification order should be made and the evidence
tested at a public inquiry.

However, in this example the landowners have not provided any evidence to
challenge the claim.

Page 185



This page is intentionally left blank



77 Cysgodfa
N

T

Plan No..1

Grid Ref SS 775991 crown Copyright and Database Right 2019.
Ordnance Survey 100023392
Scale 1 :500 Y

N 7 N7

Alleged Public Footpath A ===:B====C

NI RN N XN




This page is intentionally left blank



e |
\\ | ) s on Hospit o=
DR s s = A28
( Dulais Fach {J § —
4 Q Rd 4 H—
>/ [p Heol Caredig
= ﬁ eo
o RT CTRE O - 1 S
D
BL Bus
Parkfield 6 S
Z
o
\Wor QQ
(- El (S}
Park St. 4 L E New St 2 >
WA raig y Tonna qp
¢ —
Whittington
St1
[ B\
D 2
St Anne,s
AN Dr 2 Q S . —
= v O /
oW > Plan No.2
% RC @ ’/\
Neath Rd 1 \ ~ [ 7z
& e Scale 1 5000 Crown Copyright and Database Right 2019.
O Distribution of supporters ~ ©Ordnance Survey 100023392
Davies Andrew N
Towpath = = = === === Adopted Path D E -
AN W77 —v ;-




This page is intentionally left blank



"AUNWWoD Japim 8y} 10 Jels ‘siasn aIAIes ale Asy) Jaylaym ‘sonsuasioeseys pajosloid aieys

oym ajdoad uo aq pjnod aisy} Joedw Jeym Jnoge Uiy} NOA o} S|qe|ieA. S| Jey) ejep pue uonewdojul ajeudoidde pue jueasjas Buisn -

‘a|diound juswdojaaap ajqeule)sns

— G uonsanp o} 0b ‘ Ajuo sseo01d BAlRIISIUILPE [BUISIUY, O} SBA JO AYUNLULLIOD JSPIM IO JJB)S ‘SIOSN 92IAISS O} ON JoMsue nok J|
Jusussasse ay} Jo abejs }s.1} Y} YIm anuiiuod AJUNWIWOD JaPIM JO JE)S ‘SI9Sh 8DIAI8S 0} SOA JOMSUE NOoA J

‘aAlenIul 8y} Ag pajosje a4 [|im oym Apuap)

"9AlleIjIUI By} Joj AYjiqisuodsal sey 9)es0}0allp pue Bale 82IAISS YdIym Ajusp|

"aAljeniul ay) jo Arewwns pue uonduossp e apiAoId -

(s1a1e0 )8ISSE JO/pUB BdUBpUSdapUl 8jowoid Jey) saaijod ul

sabueyo :Buleqg-jjom |einynd ul Jsisse 0} saojaies 1oy Buipuny ‘s|dwexa 104) ¢@siom Bumab sbuly) Juanaid aaneniul 8y} ssop
Jusixa Jeym o] ¢ Bulag-||am [e1nyind pue |eJUSLUUOIIAUS ‘[BIDOS ‘OILIOUOID JO Jusiuaaocidul ay) 0) 8)e|al SAIEHIU| aylrseoqg e

-S90IAISS YsU Je sadIAIes asoy) Ind Jo saoines abenbue| ysjap oioads Buiso ‘ease ulepsd

B 0}/wol} Buinow s1axeads ys|a JO Jaquinu sy} osealoul ‘ajdwexe 104) ;A|qBINoA.) S| pajeal) aq 0} A|9y1] sI ebenbue]
9y} 818YM 1O pajdaye aq 0} Ayl ale abenbuel ysjop ay) asn 0) seunpoddo aisym Seoue)sul 0] aje|al SAIBINUI AU} sooqQ e

‘(e1doad ps|qesip 1o} senunpoddo
Juswynioal Buisealou ‘sjdwexs J04) ¢sawoono buirosdwi Jo ‘saijenbaul Buionpal Joj [enpuajod jueoiyubis e aiay} s|

(sjooyos ur Buik|ing aiqoydowoy Jo isioel ‘deb Aed Jepusb ay) ‘Wodsuesy o1gnd 0} ssa00E s,9|doad

P|qesip :pssu aled Jenoiued Yjm S[ENPIAIPUIL JO 80USJOIA [enXas/adel JO SWIIOIA 81 oym s|doad IsISSe 0} SaIAIS Jo} Buipuny
‘aidwexs 104) ¢ pasies ‘aq o} Ajay) aJe Jo ‘Usaq aAey sanss Ajijenbs Juepodwi a1aym eale ue o} a)ejal aAljeliul 8y} seoq e

:Buimojo} ayy 0} psebas aney 1snw noA days 1saiy sy Bune|dwod usypp
‘wiay) uo Joays 8y Jo souedyiubis syy ose Jnq ‘pajoaye siesn aojaIas/a|doad Jo Jaquinu sy} uo Ajuo jou puadep [IIM 8oUBAB|oY

‘(obeys
puodss ay)) sisAjeue yjdep-ui aiow e axeapun 0} pesu ay) suluLB)ap djay 0} JUSWSSSSSE Hoys e jno Aueo o} s| abe)s 1s1) ay |

‘abus|jeyo |ebs| 0} uado aq AjejewWwnin pINOo JUBWSSISSE Joa1i00u| ue (Bupjom
jo sAem any ayy) |diound jJuswdojaAsp s|qeuleIsns auy} Junoosoe Ojul uxe} sey |esodoud 8} MOY JO UOIIBN|EAS UB SE ||om Se
abenbue| ysjop ay1 pue sanjenbe 0} @oueAsjas AJUSp! 0} JUBLUSSSSSE 1oedwi abejs Jsuij e oBispun saAneIUl |8 By} [elussse Si |

abe)§ 3SJi4 - JusWISSassy joedu|

Page 191



[4
asiom Bumab Jo Buwinooo swa|qold JusAaid |[Im BANIEHIUI 8] MOY - UOIJUdA3I
‘SUOIN|OS 9|qeuleISNS paleys pulj 0} SUONESIUEBIO/SEDIAISS JBUI0 YJIM PS3IOM BABY Bm MOy - uopeloqe|jod
aAleniul ay) Buidojaaap Ui paA|oAul uda(d aAeY ajdoad MOY - JUBWAAJOAU|
saAlPalgo Buleqg|iem Jno uodn sjoedwi sAlenRiul 8y} moy - uonesbajul
a|doad jo Buleqg-jjam wuia} Buo| sy} spoddns sAneniul 8y} moy - wia) Huo]

:BuIyJOMm JO SABM G BY} 0} UOIJE[a] Ul BAIBI}UI 8} JO S|IE}ap AI)

‘'G10Z 10V Suonelsuas) ainjn4 jo Buieq
-lI8M\ 8U1 JO 9/ UoII0aS By} Yiim aduepiodde Ul ajdiounid Juswdojaasp s|qeulelsns ay) padoeiquia Sey SAljeliul 84} MOy JapIsuo) g
‘¥ %9 € suonsanb yjoq ui joedw| ybiH, se pasuobajes aq pNoYs Mouyj J,uoQd, UOEIYISSE|D Y|
"€ uonsanY Ul se swes ay) aJe sjoeduwl] Jo suolulyeg
-ysi|bug uey) A|geinoAey} ssa| ou abenbue| ay) Bupeal) ul pue abenbue| ys|pp\ ayl asn
0} saiyunpoddo uo aq pjnoa aJay) 1Pedwi JBYM INOGE MUIY) ‘S|gejIeAR S| JeU) Bjep pue uolewsojul sieudosdde pue jueasial buisn 'y

‘UoISI08p INOA 0} BuIOD Ul ‘pasn NOA 9OUSPIAS Jeym B}edIpul pue ‘suoseal apiAcid 3snw NOA

umouun si 1oedwi |enuajod ay) - mouy juogd

Aem [lews e ul aAjeniul ay) Aq pajoaye aq 0} A|ayl] - MO
Aem swos ul pajoaye aq 0} A|ayI| - WNIpay

aaneniul ayy Aq pajoaye Alybly aq o} Ajay| — ybiH

:(annebau 1o aaisod Jayya) soedwi Jo suonuyaq

sqol Jo ssOj
suoieo|dwi jeloueuly
AUAlISUaS |einyno
82IAI8S JWO0)SND
Alqisseooe

sanss| yodsuely

:apn[oui Japisuod 0} sbuiy) swos

AN
0))
—

Page



Jojoang/edines J0 pesH e Aq Jo paubis aq isnw ) Jebeuew s|qejunodoe ue Aq paje|dwo si Juswissasse abejs Jsi1) 9y} SJ9UM
'SHodey saniwwo) Auiniog /pieog jeuiqedisuiqe) (|e Joj saded punosByoeq B Se pepnjoul aq JSNiu Juswssasse abe)s s} v

‘Ajo1eIpswil paue)s aq 0} pasu |jim Sy} pue pays|dwos aq 0} pesu
M JusLISsassE 8y} Jo sbels puooas sy palinbai si sisAjeue yidap-ul 210W & Jey} S8edIpul JUSWISSISSE sy Jo aBe)s 1Sil) aU} SISUM

‘Pepnjoul 8q osje jsnw sjdidulid JusudojeAap a|qeuleIsNS ay) padkeIqua Sey SAIBIIUI 8Y} MOY dY) JO AJBLUWINS B UOIIPPE U|

"UBAIB 8Q I1SNW UOISIOaP SIY} JB PaALIe aABY NOA Moy JO uoljeue|dxa
Ue pue juswissasse ay} jo abejs 1suij ay} uo paseq (paxoll X0q JUBAS|al 8U) pUE) Pajosles aq Jsnw Juswale)s ajeudoidde jsow ay| ‘9

Page 193



ou sey pue pasojd Ajjuasaid s| yoiym yjed e uado -al
0) 8q p|nom yiedoo} ay} jo uoijedisibal pasodoud sy

Juswubisseay Jopuss)

olsualorIRYD pajoalold siy) uo 1oedwl
ou sey pue pasojo Aquasaud si yoiym yied e uado -al
01 9 p|nom Yrediooy} ayj Jo uoneljsibal pasodoid ay |

Ajigesiq

‘uoneoljdde ay) buipoddns

ale Oym 9SOy} 1O} SS9D0B JO SUBSW JUSIUSAUOD

pue N2 uoys e apiaoid pjnom )i paalsibal sem yjed sy}
J| ‘pasolo Ajjuasaud s yoiym yjed e uado -a1 0} 8q pjnom
yjedjooy ay} Jo uoneusisibal pasodoid ay} Jo 108e ay | 1

aby

doedwi i ybiw | W/H
MoH/(aouapiaa Huipnjoul) uoisioap JnoA 10j suoseay | Joedw|

Mmouyj
j.uoQ

a|qib61|6aN
JOUON | ON | S9A

;11943 Jo asnedaq ajdoad uo joedwi aaneniul 3y} saoqg ‘¢

A|uo ss8920.d BAljeJisIuUIWIPE |BuIBlU|

Aunwwo9 JSpIp

H#eis

SJosh adIADS

OoN

SOA

:109yje aARBRIUI 3y} S30Q T

S92IAI9S djelodio) pue adueui{ :3jelojdallq

S92IAI9G [eBa :ealy 92IAISS

Aem jo ybu o1gnd e se euuo]
‘anuaAy plaiplied je yjed e iajysibal o) uonesijdde ue ajenjead pue ssasse 0] :Alewwns pue uonduasap aAnenu|

abe}g )sii] - Juowissassy joedul]

9AlenIul ayj jo sjtejaq ‘L

Page 194



ayj Buisn 104 Ajijiqe ay) 309k Jou saop [esodosd ay| X ys|oM 8y buneal |
abenbue|
sjybu ssaooe 0} sajejal )i se abenbue] ysjom US| 841 8sn 0y
ay} Buisn Joj Ajiqe ay) 193)4e Jou saop jesodoud ay ) X saljunpoddo ss|doad
coedwy 3 ybiw moH | 1/IN/H | mouy | 2lq1BlBeN
/ (pasn asuspiAa Buipn|oul) uoisioap 1nok 1oy suoseay | Joedwy | 3.uoqg JOUON | ON | SOA

:uo joedw) aAReRIul 3y} seoq ¥

dnsuaoeIRYd pajoslod siyy uo pedwl
Ou sey pue pasolo Ajjussaid si yoiym yied e uado -ai
0} 89 pjnom yiedioo} ayj jo uoneuisibai pasodoud ay |

UoljejuUsLIOo |BNX8S

dlisusloeleyd pajosjoid siyy uo Joedw
Ou sey pue pasofo Ajjusasaid si yoiym yied e uado -ai
0} 89 pjnom yyedioo} ay} Jo uonensibal paesodoid ay |

X9

dnsualoeIeyd pajoalold siy) uo 1oedwl
Ou sey pue pasojo Ajuasaid s yoiym yjed e uado -ai
0} 99 p|nom yjed}oo} ay} jo uonelisibal pasodoid ay |

Jjaijeg/uolbliey

dlsusjoeIRYO pajoalold siy) uo 1pedwl
ou sey pue paso|d Ajuasaud si yoiym yjed e uado -ai

0} 8q pjnom yiedjoo} ay Jo uonensibal pasodoid ay | aoey
dlsusjoeleyd pajoajoud siy) uo joedwl

Ou sey pue paso|o Ajjuasaud si yoiym yied e uado -ai

0} 8q pjnom yjediooy sy} Jo uonesnsibai pasodoud ay | Ajuleie/Aoueubaiy

dnsusldeIRYD pajoslold siy) uo Joedwl
Ou sey pue paso|o Ajjussaud s yoiym yjed e uado -al
0} 8q p|nom yyed)oo} ayj jo uonelsibes pesodoid ay |

diysisuped jin1D/abeluepy

dlisusdeIRYD pajoalold siyl uo 1pedw

Page 195



AJunwwo9 Japim

SY) 8J0jaiay} pue [19uno) a8y} 0} sadIAIes |ebsf Jo uoisinoid ay) Ul pasn
Kj@1eudoidde ale saoinosal Jey) pue payisnl aq ued Aayl uaym Ajuo
pajuswa|dwl pue paonpoJjul A}031109 aJe SiapJo Uoljesljipow Jey)
Buunsus Aq sjdoad jo Buiaqgjiom wis) Buoj sy} spoddns sAneniul sy |

ajdoad

Jo Buiag-|jlom wua) Buoj ay) spoddns
SAljBI}IUI 8} MOY - wad) BuoT]

siie3eq

ON| SoA

:(Bunjiom jo shem g) ajdidounad Juawdo|anap ajqeule}sns ay) adseiquia aAljeniul 3y} saoq -9

'O} ‘uollelngjle
pooy} ‘Ajjenb aie se yons
sjybu ssaooe Bunsixe Bujeisuial ym pauiasuod JUSWUOIIAUS JSpIM L
s1 )1 UBAIB A)IsIaAIpoIq uo 1984e ou sey |esodold ay| X Jo uopoajoud Buiuoddns
o . L '9’l ‘SWB)SAS009
JO 8oual|Isal
ay} ayowousd o}
s1ybu ssaooe Buisixe Buileisul a1 yjm pausasuod " AysJoAIpoIq @ouBeyud
S| 1l UaAIb AusiaAlpolq uo 10aye ou sey [esodoid ay| pue uiejuiew o
cyoedwi 31 ybiw moH | JW/H | mouy | 9|qibijBaN
| (@2uapiaa Buipnjsul) uoisidap JnoA Joj suosedy | Joedw) | j,uoq JOUON | ON | S9A

:AJis1aAIpolq uo joedwi aAneniul ay) seoq 'S

sjybu ssoooe 03 sajejau )1 se abenbue] ys|apn

ysiibu3g uey) A|geinoney
ss9| ou abenbue|

Page 196



a|diouud

Juswdojanap ajqeule)sns ay) sedeiquie pue AysiaAlpold Jo ‘abenBue ysjapn 8y Jo ‘sonsusiorIeyd pajoajoid ay) Jo Aue uo
1oedwi Ajaaiebau Jou seop aAlefniul 8y} se palinbal jou si Juswissesse joedwi abe)s puodss B JUSWISSISSE anoge 8y} uodn paseg

UOISN[OUO0D SIY} 10} SUOSEOY

X palinbal jou si (abejs puooss) Juswssasse joedwl [N}

‘(sjendoidde se yo1) Juswssasse anoqe uo paseq - uonese|sa(q *L

"PaYO0|] SEM
$S900B 80UIS PaLINJ0 Sey Jey) wajqoid sy} 9]1ou0dal [|IM SAIBINUI SIY |

asiom
Bumab o Buninooo swa|qoid Juaaaid
[I'M BAlJeRIUl BU) MOY - UOljUdAdId

JUBAS|SJ PaJIBpISU0D Asy) 80USPIAS
Aue pue smaia Jisy) apinoid o} Ajunpoddo ue uaalb usaq aAey sAlERIUl
SIU} Ul }s8IB)Ul UB BABY OYM 3SO0Y) ||e painsud sey Aloyiny siy |

SUONN|OS B|qeule)sSNS paleys pulj
0} suoljesiuebi0/sooIAIaS Joyl0 YIm
PS)JOM 9ABY M MOY - Uoljeioqge)|jo)

‘uonepuswwodal e 0} Buiod a10jeq ‘pPauISOUOD SiapjoydXe]s 9] ||e
Yum Buuayieb souspire pue uone)nsuod ay) uodn spjing aAleRIUul 8Y |

aAlenul
ay} Buidojanap ul paAjoAul usaq
aAey 9|doad MmOy - JUBWIBAOAU|

way) bunenjeas pue Buissesse

ul pasn Ajejeudoldde ele seoinosai Jey) pue paisnl oq ues Aay)

usym Ajuo psjusws|dwi pue paonpoujul A10S.1I09 9. SISPIO uoleslipow

Jeyl Buunsus Aq saAnoalqo Bulagiiem ¢ ay) uodn sa91n0sal |eloueul)
pue uewny Bunsixs jo Buisnooy ayy mojje Jayuny Im SAnenIul BY |

saAljos(qo
Bulaq|iem Jno uodn syoedwi
BAllenIul U} Moy - uoneabajul

Page 197



6L0ZISNBNY 8T | i) O L seoiAIag ebar Jo peoH synpuo Bresn | Aq yo paubis
610z ¥snbny gz W T | uonebn sononos Jediound meys oIN | Aq pejejdwio)
ajeq ainjeubis uonisod aweN

uoISN[OUO9 Siy} JOJ SUoseay

paiinbai s) (ebe}s puooas) Juswssasse joeduwl ||N}

Page 198



Agenda Item 9

n Cyngor Castell-nedd Port Talbot
7, Neath Port Talbot Council

NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
Regeneration and Sustainable Development Cabinet Board
6" September 2019
Report of the Head of Legal Services : Craig Griffiths
Matter for Decision

Wards Affected:
Bryn and Cwmavon

Report Title Alleged public Bridleway from Dan-Y-Bont (Pontrhydyfen) to Main
Road, (Efail Fach) Communities of Pelenna and Cwmavon.

1.1 Purpose of the Report:
This Council is required to determine this application that has been made
to recognise and thereby register a public Bridleway in its Definitive Map
and Statement.

2.1 Executive Summary:
The Board is under an obligation to make a quasi-judicial decision on the
application and by definition come to an impartial decision. The report
initially considers the legal tests that have to be applied, the user evidence
in support of the claim and the evidence against the application.

3.1 Background

3.1.1 An application was made in 2017 to register a public bridleway along the disused
railway cutting shown between points A and D on the attached plan. Towards

www.npt.gov.uk

Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol Head of Legal Services
Y Ganolfan Ddinesig, Port Talbot SA13 1PJ Civic Centre, Port Talbot, SA13 1PJ
DX 135226 Port Talbot 2 DX 135226 Port Talbot 2

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg a byddwn yn ymdrin éﬁhebiaeth v, Qeg a Saesneg i'r un safonau ac amserlenni.
We welcome correspondence in Welsh and will deal with W slagien ; rrespondence to the same standards and timescales.



3.1.2

3.13

3.14

4.1

41.1

its southern end at point A1, some 75 metres north of the B4286 in
Pontrhydyfen at point A, access is via a kissing gate, field gate and motorcycle
barrier. The path varies in width along its length between 3 and 7 metres. At the
northern end of this path access to point D is obstructed by a pig wire fence and
one strand of barbed wire at point C, although an alternative entry and exit
point has been provided from E-F. There is also a motorcycle barrier and kissing
gate at point F.

The majority of the land containing the route is under the management of
Natural Resources Wales.(NRW) The National Assembly for Wales (NAW) hold a
lease of the land between points A and B which they acquired on the 30t
March 1960. In addition the NAW obtained the freehold between points B and
C on the 15t September 1970 The section between points C and D is under the
ownership of the owners of a nearby property which was purchased by them in
2008.

The claim has been supported by 21 people, 10 of whom stated they have each
ridden horses for at least 20 years. 18 claim to have also walked the route as
well as ride and 9 who state they have only walked the route.

The application is therefore based on there having been a sufficiently long
period of uninterrupted use which would imply the route has been dedicated to
the public. Usually with such applications it is necessary to determine whether a
minimum period of 20 years uninterrupted use has been enjoyed by the public
to satisfy the provisions of Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980. (The relevant
extract is contained in Appendix 1 of this report)

The Legal Tests

The provisions of the Wildlife and countryside Act 1981 places an obligation on
this Council to keep its record of public rights of way up to date. (Appendix 2).
This requires the Council to investigate any evidence that is submitted which
shows the status claimed is reasonable as well as any other rights that may exist
from the evidence that has been submitted. There are two tests to consider in
relation to a possible bridleway in the first instance and additionally a possible
footpath.

Page 200



(a) Is it reasonable to allege such a public right exists or
(b) Whether on the balance of probabilities such a public path exists

The distinction between (a) and (b) above is set out in Appendix 3
5.1 The Relevant Twenty Year Period

5.1.1 Given the application is based on long term use the provisions of section 31 of
the Highways Act 1980 would usually apply. The applicant must be able to show
there had been a minimum period of 20 years which has been continuous and
uninterrupted. That 20 year period is calculated by determining the first
occasion the alleged right of the public’s use of the path was called into
question. That occasion could be identified for example by:-

(a) The placing of an obstruction such as a locked gate or fence across the
way.

(b) A notice clearly stating that the landowner has no intention to dedicate
the path as a public one.

(c) The date of the application unless one of the above two examples can be
shown to have arisen prior to the application date.

5.1.2 Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 does not apply to Crown Land and NRW
object on the basis that this is the case here. Section 57(2) to the provisions of
the Government of Wales Act 2006 states that the Welsh Ministers functions are
exercisable on behalf of Her Majesty. Furthermore, that under Section 293 to
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, the Crown’s interest is defined as
belonging to Her Majesty. Consequently, the freehold and leasehold interest is
held under the Welsh Ministers and so the provisions of Section 31 of the
Highways Act 1980 cannot apply to this particular application from 1960.
Therefore any use that can be claimed under section 31 of the Highways Act

Page 201



5.13

5.14

6.1
6.1.2

6.1.3

7.1

1980 would have to be able to show uninterrupted use from 1940-1960, this
being defined as the relevant period.

With regard to the land that is under a lease, the previous Forestry Commission
was an example of a Crown Body responsible for the management of the Estate.
In 2013 N R W was formed from what was the Forestry Commission for Wales,
the Countryside Council for Wales and the Environment Agency for Wales, so
that even the land under a lease to NRW on behalf of the Welsh Ministers would
be exempt from the provisions of Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980.

In addition the land under the ownership of the Welsh Ministers B-C, was also
dedicated in 2005 as Access Land under the provisions of the Countryside and
Rights of Way Act 2000. This also prohibits the application of Section 31 of the
Highways Act 1980.

The user Evidence

Of the 6 people interviewed none can claim to have ridden this route
throughout the relevant period. In addition two stated that they used a key to
open an earlier gate at the southern end up until approximately 2010. A third
person estimated this earlier locked gate was removed sometime between 1993
and 1998 and the fourth could not provide an estimate as to when this earlier
gate was replaced by the current set of barriers. He stated that it was many
years ago. N R W have not been able to make any comment on this earlier gate
as to when it was installed or removed.

The only other means by which this application can be considered valid is to
consider whether under common law there would be sufficient evidence to
show that the land has been dedicated to the public as a bridleway. Appendix 4
provides a summary of the relevant tests to be considered. The period of use
can be greater or less than 20 years and whilst there is no minimum period
required, there should be a reasonable period of use to be able to conclude that
the way has been dedicated. There should also be evidence that the landowners
concerned have taken specific measures to encourage and facilitate use so it is
not sufficient to simply infer the owners have acquiesced to that use.

Possible dedication of a public bridleway under Common Law

Page 202



7.1.2

7.1.3

7.1.4

7.1.5

The land is managed and under the ownership of two bodies. NRW being one,
who provide structures to enable horse riders, pedestrians and cyclists access to
access the southern end of the route. After the route became obstructed by a
fence at point C, they also provided an alternative exit via point F using the
similar arrangement of structures.

One person claimed that the NRW made provision for riding and walking
according in 1995. According to another person the structures at point A1 were
installed after the gate at Dan y Bont was removed in about 1993.

After 2005 the continued provision of these structures would have been in
compliance with the Access Agreement, and so from this date it cannot be
interpreted as evidence of a dedication under common law.

The owners of the land between the fence at point C and the road at point D,
landscaped the site along with demolishing the former railway bridge. As a
result access was blocked to the public highway from point C/D. According to
the owners of the land immediately north of point C, the fence at this point was
placed there by N R W However these two owners of the land wished to point
out that they replaced the fence numerous times as it was being vandalised . It
is evident therefore the current owners of this parcel of land had no wish to
dedicate the route as a public bridleway.

7.1.6 In addition these two owners have submitted documents showing the conditions

7.1.7

of the sale of the land in 1980 to their predecessors which required a fence be
installed at point C. The previous owner confirmed that her husband (deceased)
maintained this fence from their ownership of the land in 1980 until it was sold
to the current owners. The previous owner also confirmed that the fence was
periodically vandalised but that her husband repaired the fence as and when
necessary. She stressed that they never allowed or gave permission to anyone to
pass over their land. .

NRW evidently wish to ensure an alternative means of access and egress was
made available for the public at the northern end of the path. Once this
alternative was completed it appears this was used by the public, given the
complaints over the loss of access from point C-D ceased.

Page 203



7.1.8

7.1.9

7.1.10

7.1.11

7.1.12

Whilst the structures at either end of the path may imply NRW were willing to
dedicate the route, the land under their management has also been the subject
of a permissive access agreement between themselves and the British Horse
Society, initially reviewed in 2006 and subsequently in 2013 with their
predecessors the Forestry Commission Wales. This agreement has permitted
access into their woodlands for non-commercial horse riders conditional upon
there being no requirement to regulate access or restrictions as a result of title
constraints, forest operations, environmental or any other issues. The
concordat, as it is titled, requires the British Horse Society to publicise their
open access schemes to its members through their newsletter, web sites and
any other means that are available with links to the Forestry web site. It also
provides a code of practice for horse riders using Welsh Government Woodland.

N R W has a web site which informs the public that horse riding is permitted in
some of the woodlands managed by them. Certain woodlands are specified but
do not include this particular route. Neither the British Horse Society Cymru nor
the British Horse Society have anything on their current web notes regarding
this concordat.

Use of a way can be “by right” on account of the public having been given
permission to use the route or alternatively that use could be “as of right” if that
use is deemed to have been dedicated by the owners of the land. Consequently
much depends on whether those users were aware they were riding as a result
of the existence of this concordat, even though there is no specific reference to
this area of woodland in the web sites referred to above.

Two of the six people interviewed said they were aware of this concordat but
five said they were not. However five had permits to ride in other areas of
forestry land one of whom thought her permit also included the route being
claimed. One of these five said he did not consider he needed permission to ride
this path.

As indicated in paragraph 6.1.2, two people stated that up until 2010 there was
a locked gate at point Al for which they were given a key. Another person

however estimated the locked gate was replaced by the current set of barriers
and gates around 1993. Whilst a fourth person agreed there had been a locked

Page 204



7.1.13

8.1

8.2

9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

gate at this point many years ago, they could not provide an estimate of when it
was replaced.

This highlights that access was only possible by permission if keys were needed
to pass through this earlier gate. Secondly the issuing of permits and the
existence of the concordat would throw some doubt as to whether it is possible
to conclude there has been a dedication under common law.

Possible dedication of a public footpath only under Section 31 of the Highways
Act 1980

There are 9 people who have also claimed to have walked this route as
pedestrians for an average of 33 years two from as early as 1976.

As indicated above, due to the acquisition of the land in 1960 and becoming
Crown land, irrespective of the access agreement also made of 2005, would
result in the relevant period terminating in 1960. This means that any statutory
claim under section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 would require continuous use
from 1940-1960. There is no user evidence for this earlier period.

Possible dedication of a public footpath under common law

Finally there is the question of whether a dedication can be inferred under
common law for a public footpath.

Whilst section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 does not apply to Crown Land it is
still possible to consider a dedication under common law.

The issues concerning permits to ride would not preclude a dedication under
common law of a public footpath, but the designation of Access Land would, as
a result of S12 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000. That section
stipulates that no claim under section 31 nor under common law will apply to
designated Access Land.

Therefore any claim under common law for a public footpath would have to
include a period after the locked gate at Dan Y Bont road was removed up until
the designation of Access land in 2005.

Page 205



9.5

9.6

9.7

10.1

11.1

12.1

13.1

14.1

Regarding this “window” of use there are conflicting accounts, two who stated
the gate was there until 2010, another who estimated it was 1993 when it was
removed and another who could not be specific.

Six people who claim to have walked this path were sent letters on two
occasions and a seventh on four occasions in the hope that they would be able
to clarify some of these details as part of the investigative process, but none
responded.

Given the potentially limited period or “window” of use that could reflect such a
dedication and the lack of response it is difficult to conclude that such a
dedication under common law has taken place during this earlier period and
therefore it should be concluded that any recognition of such a public footpath
must be rejected.

Financial Impacts

“No implications”

Integrated Impact Assessment

A First stage impact assessment has been undertaken to assist the Council in
discharging its legislative duties (under the Equality Act 2010, the Welsh Language
Standards (No.1) Regulations 2015, the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales)
Act 2015 and Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

Valley Communities Impact

No Implications

Workforce Impacts

No Implications

Legal Impacts

Page 206



14.1

15.1

16.1

17.1

Any appeal lodged against a refusal to make a modification order would entitle
the applicant to appeal to the Welsh Ministers. A decision to make a modification
order would entitle any member of the public, including landowners to object,
which would result in the order being referred to the Welsh Ministers for
determination.

Risk Management Impacts

There are no risks associated with determining the application. There are
however, risks | the matter is not determined as the applicant could either refer
the application to the Welsh Ministers to seek a decision from them, or make a
complaint to the Ombudsman.

Consultation

This item has been subject to external consultation.
Recommendation
That the application be rejected.
Reasons for the Proposed Decision

1. No claim can be made out for a public bridleway under section 31 of the
Highways Act 1980 given the route has been on Crown land since 1960.
There is no user evidence throughout the relevant period from 1940-1960.

2. No claim can be made out for a public bridleway under common law, due to
the presence of a locked gate at the southern end of the route, the provision
of keys for that gate to certain individuals and that permissive access has
been granted since the removal of this locked gate.

3. Equally to point 1 above, no claim can succeed for a public footpath on the
user evidence presented under section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 due to
that use taking place on Crown land.

4. Lastly, for the reasons given in point 2 above, claims to establish the
existence of a public footpath under common law would also have to show

Page 207



18.1

the owner of the land took specific measures to expressly dedicate the path
to the public. The existence of a locked gate and granting consent to users on
foot does not establish such a presumption.

Implementation of Decision

The decision is proposed for implementation after the three days call in period.

Appendices

Appendix 1:
Appendix 2:
Appendix 3:
Appendix 4:

Highways Act 1980

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981

section 53 (b)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
Dedication under Common Law

List of background papers

File M08/69

Officer Contact:

Mr. Michael Shaw — Principal Solicitor — Litigation

Tel: 01639 763260

Email: m.shaw@npt.gov.uk

Page 208


mailto:m.shaw@npt.gov.uk

APPENDIX 1
HIGHWAYS ACT, 1980

Section 31. Dedication of way as a highway presumed after public use for 20
years.

Where a public way over land, other than a way of such a character that use of it
by the public could not give rise at common law to any presumption of
dedication, has actually been enjoyed by the public as of right and without
interruption of a full period of 20 years, the way is deemed to have been
dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient evidence that there was no
intention during this period to dedicate it.

For Section 31(1) Highways Act, 1981 to operate and give rise to a presumption
of dedication the following criteria must be satisfied:

- the physical nature of the path must be such as is capable of being a
public right of way

- the use must be ‘bought into question’, i.e. challenged or disputed in
some way

- use must have taken place without interruption over the period of twenty
years before the date on which the right is brought into question

- use must be as of right i.e. without force, without stealth or without
permission and in the belief that the route was public

- there must be insufficient evidence that the landowner did not intend to
dedicate a right of type being claimed

- use must be by the public at large

Page 209



APPENDIX 2
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT, 1981

Section 53 Duty to keep the Definitive Map and Statement under continuous

review.

(2) As regards every definitive map and statement, the surveying authority

shall:

(a)

(b)

as soon as reasonably practical after the commencement date, by
order make such modifications to the map and statement as appear
to them to be requisite in consequence of the occurrence, before
that date, of any of the events specified in sub-section 3; and

as from that date, keep the map and statement under continuous
review and as soon as reasonably practicable after the occurrence on
or after that date, of any of those events, by order make such
modifications to the map and statement as appear to them to be
requisite in consequence of the occurrence of that event.

(3) The events referred to in sub section (2) are as follows:-

(b)

the expiration, in relation to anyway in the area to which the map
relates of any period such that the enjoyment by the public of the
way during that period raises a presumption that the way has been
dedicated as a public path or restricted byway;

the discovery by the Authority of evidence which (when considered
with all other relevant evidence available to them) shows:

(i) thata right of way which is not shown on the map and statement
subsists or is reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area
to which the map relates, being a right of way such that the land
over which the right subsists is a public path, a restricted byway
or, subject to section 54A a byway open to all traffic;

Page 210



(ii) that a highway shown in the map and statement as a highway of
a particular description ought to be there shown as a highway of

a different description.

(iii) that there is no public right of way over land shown in the map
and statement as a highway of any description ,or any other
particulars contained in the map and statement require
modification.

Page 211



APPENDIX 3

The second test under (b) is whether it can be concluded the allegation of a
P.R.O.W is reasonable.

The Court of Appeal decision concerning R v Sec of State for Wales ex parte
Emery 1996, held this will depend on the circumstances. So that if the evidence
from witnesses as to user conflicts with the objector’s evidence, but it could be
reasonable to accept evidence of uninterrupted use and also be able to reject
the evidence against the allegation, then it would seem reasonable to allege
such a right. In other words unless the objector can provide evidence that it was
not possible to conclude the way had become dedicated, then an order should
be made and the evidence tested at a public inquiry.

In example, in addition to the existence of the Access Agreement and Crown
Land from 2005, the evidence from even those who interviewed indicated the
route was obstructed by a locked gate for much of the time before 2005.
Therefore it cannot be reasonable to allege a public bridleway or public footpath
exists.

Page 212



APPENDIX 4
DEDICATION UNDER COMMON LAW

No minimum period of use is required, but the claimants must show that if can be
inferred by the landowners conduct, that he or she had dedicated the route. User
of right, is not of itself necessarily sufficient, nor mere acquiescence by the owner
Under statute, twenty years, if proved to have been uninterrupted will be
sufficient to show presumed dedication.

Under common law it is still possible that use was due to the landowners
tolerance rather than because that landowner had intended to dedicate.
Consequently there needs to be evidence that the landowner (or owners) for
whatever period is being considered, not only acquiesced to that use but either
directly or indirectly took measures to facilitate public use.

Obviously this means the landowners have to be identified and evidence that they
wished to have the route dedicated to the public.

For the right of way to be established, it needs to be shown that it has been used
openly as of right and for so long a time that it must have come to the knowledge
of the owners that the public were so using it as of right. Public user is no more
than evidence which has to be considered in the light of all available evidence.

As a matter of proof at common law, the greater the length of user that can be
demonstrated the stronger the inference of dedication will usually be.

Page 213



This page is intentionally left blank



Mynydd Haw

f

.6m

IS &

Pen-y-s

Level
=4
)
@ dlevel®

@(g;%gi)

8
\'J
Q )
© 3 © Efgil-fach
O
3 a
7

3m

] fall-fach

0

<
Qo

Forest

/ A | N N\ 2 AN\ \

Crown Copyright and Database Right 2019.
Ordnance Survey 100023392

N

Scale 1 4500 ]
Alleged Public A ======= D

Bridleway o

A

\
/

<8

NN




This page is intentionally left blank



O

1¢ °@bEd

@

sed) L ~

vels

& A
Q
( .Eused) 0 x
<,
Le.:;/el \
in o
A
TiRyn Y Pan
"/
/)L/.
%
2 2
) :
\ o
Michaelston Forest g
Q
&

ig y Tewgoed

ia

AN\NE4 N\

\ Crown Copyright and Database Right 2019.

Ordnance Survey 100023392

B

Scale 1 4500
Alleged Public A ======= D
Bridleway
@Hu
Michaelston Forest (siteof)
)
A
Craig Pen-rhys
.
Thg Qplan —
L ) o D %
&
Pontrhydyfen
O leka Cha oy
61.0m
m
é Dl7 r //
an i

uc

Junior 8chool




This page is intentionally left blank



"Aunwwo Japim 8y} 10 Yels ‘SIasn 8oiAISs ale Ay} Jaylaym ‘sonsusioeleyd parosjoid aseys
oym sjdoad uo aq p|Nod a8y} JoedW! JBYM JNOJE YUIY) NOA O} S|qE(IBAR S JBy) Blep pue uonewlojul sjeudoidde pue jueasjal Buisn ¢

9id1ound Juawdo|aAap s|qeuleisns
— G uonsanp o} o6 * Ajuo ss800.d SAIEJISIUILIPE [BUISIU|, O) SBA JO AHUNWLIOD JOPIM JO LBIS ‘SI8SN 82IAJSS 0} ON JOMSUE NOA J|
Juswissasse ay} Jo abe)s Jsily BY) YJIM 8nuUOD AJUNWIWOD ISPIM 10 Je)S ‘SI9SN 8DIAISS 0] SOA JOMSUE NOA J|

"aAleniul ay) Aq pajoaye aq ||im oym Ayuep| ‘g

"aAllenIul ay) Joy AJjiqisuodsal sey s]e10)oalIp pue Bale 89IAISS YdIYM Aluap|
"SAljeNIul 8y} Jo Alewwns pue uoiduossp e apIAcld L

(sJeJe )SISSE 10/pUE BoUBpUDdapuUI s)owoid Jey) saoljod u

sebueyo :Buisg-||am |eanyno ul Jsisse 0} savIAIBS 10} Buipuny ‘sjdwexs 104) ;asiom Bumab sbuiyy Juaaaid aAljelluUI BY) SB0p
JuaIx® Jeym o] ¢Buiag-{jom [einynd pUe [eJUSWILIOIIAUS ‘[BID0S ‘OILUOUODD JO JuswaAcidwl 8Y) 0] S)ejal SAIJBIIUI AU} saoQ o

-S9JIAISS YsU Je s8oIAIes asoy) Ind Jo saoinies abenbue| ysiapn ouoads Buisoo ‘ease uieuad

€ oJ/woly Buirow siaxeads Ys|o\ JO Jaquinu sy} asealoul ‘ajdwiexs J104) ¢A|qeinoAe) sso| pajeal) aq 0} A1ay1| s1 abenbuej
3Y) a1d8ym 1o patoayje aq 0} A9yl a1 abenbuel ysjapn 8yl asn o) saunpoddo a1sym SSOUBJSUI O} S)e|a) SAIBINUI BY) SB0(]  *

‘(s|doad pajqgesip Jo} saijunuoddo
Juswyinioal Buisealou ‘sjdwexa 104) ¢sawoolno Buiroidw 1o ‘selyijenbsur Buionpal Joj |enuajod jueoyiubis e auayys| e

(sjooyos ui Buik|ing s1qoydowoy Jo isioes ‘deb Aed sapusb sy) ‘podsuel; oiignd 0} sseooe s,9|doad

Ps|qesip -pssu aJed Jenolued Yyum S[ENPIAIPUI JO 32USJOIA [enxas/adel Jo SwiiolA aie oym ajdoad ISISSE 0} S90S Joj Buipuny
‘a|dwexs 104) ¢ pasies ‘@q o} AjayI| aJe 1o ‘uaaq aAey sanssi Ajjenbs Juepodwi a1aym eale ue o} a)e[al dAleIUl BY) SO0Q

:Buimol|o} sy} o) psebai saey isnw noA dajs isuiy syl Bunedwos usyp
‘wiay) uo Joaya sy} Jo souedliubis sy} osie nq ‘psjosye siesn aainss/a|doad Jo Jsquinu 8y} uo Ajuo Jou puadap [IM S0UBA3|9Y

"(abe)s
pu02as ayy) sisAjeue yydap-ui siow e aeUSpUN O} PSSU BY) SUILLIS)OP djay o} Juswissasse uoys e jno Aued o} s| abejs sy ay |

‘abus|ieyo [ebs| 0] uado aq Aj@jeWniN PINOD JUBWISSISSE 1081100U] ue (Bupjom
Jo shkem aay ay) ajdiouud Juswdojarep o|qeUIBISNS By} JUNOJJE Ojul uaxe} sey |esodoid 8y} Moy JO UOlBN|BAS UB SE ||9M SB
abenbue| ysiap\ au) pue saiyenbs 0} eoueAs|al AJuspl 0} JusLISSaSSE 1oedwi abejs jsuiy e oblspun saAienul [|e Jey) [enuassa si 1

abe}g 1SiiJ - JuswISSassy joedu]

Page 219



c
asJom Bumeb Jo Bulngoo swajgosd Jusaasd |[Im SAeNIUl 8Y) MOY - UOIJUdAdId
‘SUONN|OS a|qeulelSNS paleys pui 0} suoljes|uebio/sadlAIas Jaylo YIIM pa3Jom BABY oM Moy - uoijeloqe|jod
aAneniul sy} Buidojaaap Ul paAjoAUl Udaq aAeY 8|doad MOy - JUBWIBAJOAU|
saAloalqo Bulaq|iam Jno uodn sjoedw aAlenul 8y} moy - uonyesbajul
s|doad jo Buiag-jlom wud) Buo| sy} spoddns aAljeniul 9y} moy - wud) Buo-|

:BunOMm JO SAem G ay) 0] UolIe|jal Ul SAIJeRIUl BU) JO S|IB}ap SAID

"'GL0Z 10V suolnelauas) ainind jo Buieq
-II°M 8U1 JO 9/ uonoas a8yl yum aosueplodde ul ajdiouud juswdojoAap s|qeuleisns ay) paoeiquis sey aAljeljiul 8y} Moy Iapisuo) g
‘¥ @ € suolisanb yjoq ul Joedw| ybiH, se pasuobsjes aq pjnoys Mmouy juoq, uoieolyissejo ay |
'€ uonsany) Ul se swes 8y} ale sjoedwl Jo suouyag
"ys1|bug ueyy Alqeinoaey} ssaj ou abenbue)| ay) Buijeasy ul pue abenbue| ysjopn 8yl asn
o} seniunuoddo uo aq pinoo a1ay) Joedwl eym INOge yuly} ‘a|de|ieAe s jey) ejep pue uoljeuuojul sjeudosdde pue jueas|al Buisn

‘uolsioap JnoA 0} Bulwod ul ‘pasn NOA aduUspIAS Jeym a)edipul pue ‘suoseal apiaoid Jsnuwt NoA

umouyun si 1oedw jeluajod ay) - mouy }uog

Aem |jews e ul sAlReIuL 8Y) Aq pajosye aq 0} Aj9yl| - MO
Aem awos ul pajoaye aq 0} A|9y|| - wnipa

aAneniul ay) Aq pajoaye Alydly aq o} Aj@x1 — ybiH

:(annjebau 10 aalisod Jayye) sjoedu Jo suoniuyeq

sqol Jo ssO]
suoneoldwi jeloueuly
AlAlISUSS jBinyno
92IAJOS JBWIO)SND
Alpqissaooe

sanss| yodsuelsy

:epnjoul Japisuod 0} sbuiy} swog

0

N

Page 2



JojoauIg/8dIMBS JO pesH e Aq JJo paubis aq jsnw }i Jebeuew ajqejunodsoe ue Aq pajojdwod si Juswssasse abe)s Jsil) oy} SIUAN
'Spoday espiwwo) Aunniog /pieog jsuiqeaulqe) [|e Joy joded punoibyoeq e se pepnjoul 8q JSNW JusWSsasse abe)s 1S}

"Ajo1eIpSWIWI paue)s 8q 0} paau [|im SIY} pue paje|dwos aq o) pasu
M Juswssasse ayj Jo abejs puodss ay) paunbai si sisAjeue yidop-ul aiow e Jey) sejesipul JUBWSSasSE ay) Jo aBe)s ISil) Y} BIBYM

‘Papnjoul aq osje jsnw ejdiould Juswdojaasp s|qeulelSNS 8y) PaJBIGUIS SEY SAJBIIUI 8y} MOY 8U) JO AIBWIWNS B UORIPPE U]

"UaAIb 8 Jsnw UOISIOBP SIY) Je paALLIE 8ABY NOA Moy Jo uoneue|dxe
U pue Juswissesse ay) Jo abe}s jsiif 8y} uo paseq (paxol} Xog JUBAS|al 8] pue) pajos|as 9( }snw Juswaje)s sjeudoidde jJsow ayj g

Page 221



pue ssao%e aAlssiwIad wol) sjjauaq Apealje uolisanb
ul pue| ay} se yjed e Ja)sibai o0} uonesldde ayj 108(al
0] 8q pjnom |esodoud sy} Jo Joayd ay] "olsusloeIeyd

pajoajoud siy) uodn joedwi ou sey jesodoud ay| X Algesig
‘9oud)sIxe ul Apealje ssaooe dAIssiwiad
3y} uodn 108}Jo ou aAeY pinom yied e jo uonelisibal ay)
pue ssa20e dAISSIWISd Wol) syyeuaq Apealje uofsenb
ul puej ay} se yied e Jaysibas 0} uoneoldde ay) josfal
0] @q pjnom |esodoud ay} JO 10948 By "dlsus)oeleyd
pajoalold siy) uodn 1oedwi ou sey jesodold ay | X aby
doedun nybiw | W/H | mou)] | 3jqiblbaN
MOH/(32uapiAa Bujpn|oul) uoisioap JnoA 1o} suosedy | Joedw| | juoQq JOUON | ON | S®eA
1119y} Jo asnedaq ajdoad uo joedwi aAjenul ayj saoq ‘¢
X Ajuo ssad0.d aAljeJISIUIWIPE |BUIBlU|
X Aunwwod JapIp
X Jels
X $J9Sh 92IAI8S
ON SaA

;108 SARERIUI By} S90Q T

s9o1AI9g 9jeiodio) pue asueul{ :9jelo}daliq

sadIAIag |[eBa] :ealy 99IAl0g

Aem jo ybu 21igqnd e se yoej jiej3 pue uajApAytjuod uaamiaq buipno Aemjied
JauLioj ayj uo Aema|puq e 13)sibal o} uoesijdde ue ajenjeAs pue ssasse 0] :Alewwns pue uondudsap aAljeniu|

abe}g 1S4 - Juolussossy joedu|

dAneniul ayy jo sjieysq ‘L

Page 222



pajoajoud siyj uodn joedwi ou sey |esodoud sy |

Xag

‘@oudj)sixe ul Apealje ssa2oe aAlssiwiad

8y} uodn j08)e ou aAey pinom yjed e jo uonessibai ay)
pue sssooe aAissiwIad wouy sjyausq Apealje uoisanb
ul pue| ay} se yied e isjsibai 0} uoijeoldde ayj 1oslal

0] 8q pjnom jesodoid auy} JO Joa)e ay] "olsualoeIeyD
pajosjoud siy) uodn joedwi ou sey jesodoud ay |

Joljeg/uoibijey

‘@0oua)siIxa ul Apeauje ssa2oe aAlssiwiad

8y} uodn 10910 ou aAey pinom yied e jo uonessibai ay)
pue ssa20e aAIssIwIad wouy syjouaq Apealje uolsanb
ul pue| ayj se yjed e ia)sibai 0] uoneoijdde ay) 109la.

0} 8q pjnom [esodoud ay} Jo 108Yd ay] -onisLsloeIRYD
pajoajoud siy) uodn joedwi ou sey |esodoud ay |

aoey

‘@ouaj)sixe U} Apealje ssaooe aAIssiwiad

3y} uodn 108e ou aAey pinom yied e jo uonessibal sy
pue ssa20e aAlssiwiad wouy syjeuaq Apeale uolsanb
ul puej ayj se Yied e ssjsibal 0} uoneoidde ay) joalal

0} @9 pjnom [esodo.d ay) Jo 108Ys 9y -onisuoloBIBYD
pajoajold siy) uodn 1oedwi ou sey [esodoud ay |

Awsye/Aoueubaiyg

‘@ousj)sixa uj Apealje ssadoe aAissiwad

3y} uodn 1088 ou aAey pinom yied e Jo uonessibas ay)
pue ssadoe aAIssiwiad woly syeusq Apeadje uonsanb
ur pue| ay} se yjed e uajsibal o) uonesijdde sy jo8lai

0} 89 pinom [esodoud ay} Jo Joays ay] -onsudoeIRYD
pajosjoud siy) uodn 1oedwi ou sey [esodoud ay |

diysisuped |1a1D/abeluep

‘9oud)sIXa ul Apealje ssadoe aAlssiwiad

3y} uodn 108} ou aAey pinom yied e jo uonedisibai sy}
pue ssa20e aAissiwlad wouy syyeuaq Apealje uoisanb
ul pue| ay) se yjed e Js)sibal 0} uopeosidde ayj 108las

0} 8q p|jnom [esodoud 8y} Jo 1088 8y "dnsuB)ORIBYD
pajosjoud siy) uodn joedwi ou sey jesodoud ay |

Juswubisseay Japuac)

‘90Us]sIXa Ul Apealje ss800e BAISSIwWISd
9y} uodn Josyje ou aAey pinom Yjed e jo uonessibal sy}

Page 223



eyoedwi 31 yBiw moH | /N/H | mouy | 9|qiBiBaN
| (9ouapiaa Buipn|our) uoisidap INok 10j suosedy | Joedw | juog JSUON | ON | S®A
:RyisiaAlpoiq uo joedwi aAnenul ay) saoq 'S
ysiibu3 uey) A|qeinoae;
s)ybu ssadoe 0} saje|al )1 se abenbue] ys|ap $s8| ou abenbue)
a3 Buisn 1o} Ajljiqe ay} 3oaye jou saop jesodoud ayj X ys|om ayy buneal |
abenbue)
sjybu ssadoe 0} saje|al )i se abenbue ysjap Us|aM @y} ash 0}
a3 Buisn 10} Ajjiqe ayj }oaye jJou saop [esodoud ayL X sanunuoddo s ajdoay
Zyoedwin 31 3yBiw MoH | VW/H | mouy | SIqiBlIBaN
| (posn asuapiaa Buipnjoul) uoisidoap JNoA 10) suosedy | Joeduwy | j.uo(Q [OUON | ON | S9A

:uo Joeduwi aAenRIul 8y} seoq v

‘@oud)sIxd ul Apealje ssadoe aAlssiwiad

8y} uodn 10918 ou aAeYy pjnom yied e jo uonelsisibal ay)
pue ss920e aAIssiuiad woly sjijouaq Apealje uolsanb
ul pue| ay) se yied e iajsibai 0} uoneoldde ayj 109lal

0] 8q pjnom |esodoid ay} JO 10848 sy -onsusjoeleyd
pajoajold siy) uodn oedwi ou sey |esodoud ay |

UOIIBJUSLIO [BNX3S

‘9oud)sIxd ul Apealje ssadoe aAIssiwIad

ay} uodn 10818 ou aAeY pjnom Yjed e jo uonessibal ay)
pue ss820e aAIssiuad wouj syjouaq Apealje uonsanb
ul pue| ay) se yjed e Jo)sibal 0} uoesidde ay) 109(al

0] 8q pjnom jesodoid ay} JO 10846 8y "olsuLs}oeIRYD

Page 224



"uofjepuswiwiosal e 0} Buiwod a10§8q ‘PauUISOUOD SI9P|OYSHE]S BU] ||B

aAlenul
ay) Buidojaaap ul paAjoAul usaq

ynm Buusyeb souspire pue uoneynsuod sy} uodn spjiNg sAleRIUl BY | X aAey ojdoad Moy - JUSWBA|OAU|
way) bunenjeas pue Buissasse
ul pasn Ajsjeudoldde ale saainosal jeyy pue paynsnl aq ued Asy)
usym Ajuo pajusius|dwi pue paonposjul A}081100 S SISPJO UONEDIIPOW soAljoa(qo
1ey) Buunsus Aq sennoalqo Bulagjiem ¢ sy} uodn saoinosal [eioueuly Bulag|iem ano uodn syoedwl
pue uewny Bunsixa Jo 6uISN20) 8y} MO|[B JayUNy [|IM SARIIUI Y | X aAllenIul 8y} Moy - uopeabajuj
Ajunwiwod Japim
83U} alojalay) pue [1unoD 8y} 0} saoIAIes |ebs| jo uoisinoid ay) ul pasn
Aleyendoldde ale seounosal Jey) pue paynsnl aq ueds Asy) uaym Ajuo ajdoad
pajuswa|dwi pue paonposlul AJ081109 81e SISPJO UOoIIEdIIPOW Jey) Jo Buiag-|lom wusy Buo| ay) spoddns
Buunsue Aqg e|doad jo Buiagjiem wis) Buo| ay) spoddns sAleRUl ayl X BAljeliul 8y} moy - wad) buoT
s|ie3aq ON | SoA

:(Bunjiom jo shem g) sidiouid Juawidojanap sjqeuleisns ayy aseiqud aAljeniul ay) ssoq 9

sjybu ssaooe Buissasse YIm pauiasuod
S|} usAIb AyisiaAIpoiq uo 198ye ou sey |esodoid ay |

"0]J0 ‘UoiBIAg||e

pooy} ‘Ajjenb Jie se yons
‘JUBWUOIIAUS JBPIM B}
X Jo uonovjoud Buipoddns
9’| 'SWa)SAS009
JO @oual|Isal
ay) ajowoud 0]

sJybu ssaa0e Buissasse yjm pausasuos
S|} uanIb Aysianipoiq uo 198ye ou sey |esodoid ay |

Aysianipoiq eoueyus
pue ujejulew o

Page 225



aidiound juswdojensp a|qeulRsSns oy} seoelqua pue AJIsIaAlpolq Jo ‘abenbue ysjap ayj Jo * sonsueloeleyd pajosioid Aue
1oedwi AjoAleBou Jou S90p SAlBIIUI BY) S palinbal jou si Juswissasse Joedw) abe)s puodas e JusWssasse aAoge sy} uodn pasegq

UoISN|2UO0D SIY} JO} SUOSEDY

X palinbai jou si (abejs puooss) Juswssasse joedwl [N} v

:(ajendoudde se )213) Juawissasse aAoqe Uo paseq - uoljeseldaq "L

"POY00|q SEM
SS920E 90UIS PaLINd00 sey Jey) wa|qoid sy} 9[1ouodal ||IM dAReUl SIYL

9SIOM
Bumab Jo BuLinooo swajqoid Jusaaid
[IIM BAlJEIJIUL BY) MOY - UORUIA3IH

JUBAS|aJ palapISuU0d A8y} 90USPIAD
Aue pue smalA Jiay) apinoid 0y Anunpoddo ue usAIb usaq aAey aAnenUl
SIU} Ul ]S8JajuUl UB SABY OYM 3SO0U} ||B painsua sey Alioyiny siyl

SUOIJN|OS 3jqeulelsns paJeys pul)
0] suoljesiueb10/sadIAIBS Jay)0 YIm
Pa)JOM SABY @M MOY - Uojjeloqe||o)

Page 226



6102 ¥snbny gz TS ) D e seg|MIeg |eba jo peay synpuo Biesg | Aq yo paubig
o 0Ny uonebni
6L02Z ¥snbny gz Jw ﬂ /ﬁ ] - soyd1108 [edidulig meys jeeysily | Aq pajejdwon
ajeq ainjeubig uonisod awepN

UOISN|OUOD SIU} JO} SUOSEaY

palinbai s) (abe)s puooas) Juswssasse Joedwl [N} v

Page 227



Page 228



Agenda Item 12

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 229



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 235



This page is intentionally left blank



By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 237



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	4 Forward Work Programme 2019/2020
	5 Key Performance Indicators 2019/2020 - Quarter 1 (1st April 2019 - 30th June 2019)
	RSD PI Appendix 1 Quarter 1
	RSD PI Appendix 2 Quarter 1 Compliments and Complaints

	6 Countryside and Rights of Way (CROW) Act 2000 – Consideration of: the Consultation Draft Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP); and the publication / consultation procedures to be implemented
	ROWIP.pdf
	Pages from RSDCB (06-Sept-19) NP ROWIP.pdf
	1111817.pdf
	Note to Reader
	Foreword
	1 Introduction
	1.1 Structure and Content

	2 Policy Context
	3 Access to the Countryside
	3.1 Description of Neath Port Talbot
	3.2 Means of Access to the Countryside

	4 Assessment of Access Provision in Neath Port Talbot
	4.1 Public Rights of Way (PROW)
	4.2 Cycle Routes and Adopted Highway
	4.3 Canal Network
	4.4 Long Distance Trails
	4.5 Waterfall Walks
	4.6 Public Access under CROW Act 2000 and Common Land
	4.7 Coastal Access
	4.8 Permissive Access
	4.9 Open Space
	4.10 Neath Port Talbot Public Consultation (2017)
	4.11 Overview

	5 Assessment of Use in Neath Port Talbot
	5.1 National Survey for Wales (2016-2017)
	5.2 Neath Port Talbot Public Consultation (2017)

	6 Evaluation
	6.1 Benefits of Public Rights of Way
	6.2 Key Issues in Neath Port Talbot

	7 Vision and Objectives
	8 Policies
	9 Implementation and Monitoring
	9.1 Annual Delivery Plans
	9.2 Delivery Mechanism and Funding
	9.3 Monitoring and Evaluation

	Appendix A: Legal Processes
	Appendix B: ROWIP (2008-2018) - Evaluation of Delivery
	Appendix C: Priority Criteria for Claimed PROW and Other Orders

	Pages from RSDCB (06-Sept-19) NP ROWIP-2.pdf


	7 Environmental Health and Trading Standards: Food and Feed Service Delivery Plan 2019-2020 and the Food and Feed Law Enforcement Review 2018-2019
	8 Alleged  Public Footpath from Parkfield to the adopted footpath linking  Dulais Fach to Park Street, Community of Tonna
	Plan No 1 for Board
	Plan No 2 for the Board
	Impact assessment

	9 Alleged Pubic Bridleway  from  Dan- Y - Bont ( Pontrhydyfen) to Main Road ( Efail Fach ) Communities of Pelenna and Cwmavon
	Plan for report showing northern section
	Plan for report showing southern section 2019
	Impact assessment

	12 Proposed Disposal of Land
	Plan of Land Adj. to Heol Tabor, Cwmavon
	IIA for Disposal of Land Adj. to Heol Tabor, Cwmavon, PT




